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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM and generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this annual
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (“Directors”) of China
Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this annual report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
E R

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (‘“Directors”) of China
Demeter Financial Investments Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), it gives me great pleasure to
present to you the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$156,940,000 (2022: HK$141,903,000) from
continuing operations. Loss attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$45,308,000 (2022: HK$18,844,000).
The net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was mainly attributable to the fair value
loss on financial assets through profit or loss of approximately
HK$13,232,000, and the increase in loss in (i) the food and beverage
business of approximately HK$8,466,000; (ii) the money lending
business of approximately HK$3,432,000; (iii) the financial services
business of approximately HK$4,080,000; and (iv) the children
education services business of approximately HK$1,894,000. The loss
was offset by the reversal of the overprovision of reinstatement cost
for the expired leases of approximately HK$2,323,000, and the gain of
disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$1,173,000.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

During the year, the Group used its surplus liquidity to fund its money
lending business through its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Loan interest income under this business segment amounted to
approximately HK$1,111,000 during the year (2022: HK$2,713,000).
During the year, interests of the loan receivables were charged at rates
ranging from 10% to 18% per annum.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

During the year, revenue of financial service business amounted to
approximately HK$9,149,000 (2022: HK$15,214,000).

The Group has investments in securities of listed and non-listed
companies, debt securities and funds in order to diversify its
investment portfolios and increase returns to shareholders. During
the year, the Group recorded a loss in fair value of financial assets
through profit or loss of approximately HK$13,232,000. The Board
will continue to closely monitor the performance of securities and
investments to mitigate possible financial risks.

The turnover of the food and beverage business for the year amounted
to approximately HK$139,815,000 (2022: HK$117,564,000). The
Group planned to focus its resources in Hong Kong.

The turnover of the alcoholic beverage distribution and miscellaneous
business for the year amounted to approximately HK$2,092,000 (2022:
HK$1,596,000). The Group will monitor the performance of the
business to assess the future development.

The turnover of the children education business for the year amounted
to approximately HK$4,598,000 (2022: HK$4,500,000). In 2023, the
Group arranged for another school premises in Chai Wan to provide
high-quality early childhood education services. The Group is looking
for new opportunities and seeking for future development.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The past year has been marked by significant challenges for Hong
Kong’s economy. The lingering effects of post-COVID-19 policies,
coupled with external headwinds from a decelerating Chinese growth
and high interest rates, have hindered our progress, causing the
economy to fall short of its pre-pandemic GDP levels. These cracks
reflect the structural economic and geopolitical challenges.

While we witnessed a rebound in consumption in 2023, structural
pressures continue to dampen optimism. It is not just the slow
return of visitors that concerns us, but also the evolving preferences
of consumers. Chinese tourists, who constitute 80 percent of total
visitors, now seek more unique experiences beyond shopping.

In order to entice customers back to our restaurants, we have
implemented a range of initiatives aimed at enhancing customer
satisfaction, improving food quality, and optimising operational
efficiency. Additionally, we have upgraded our customer relationship
member system, followed by the introduction of new and exciting
products, attractive offers, and more. Our goal is to enhance the user
experience and increase visit frequency, ultimately building stronger
customer loyalty and fostering greater engagement with our products
and services.

The financial and real estate markets continue to present challenges.
In 2023, Hong Kong experienced a significant decline in initial public
offerings and property transactions, reaching their lowest levels since
2003 and 1991, respectively. The regulatory storm affecting the real
estate and internet platform sectors in China has raised policy risks,
causing concern among investors in Hong Kong’s financial market.
As a result, we remain cautious regarding the quality of collaterals
and our margin finance clients to control our exposure in our margin
financing and money lending businesses. We will carefully monitor
the economic landscape and adjust our strategies as necessary to
ensure growth and profitability.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Lastly, we would like to express our heartfelt appreciation to all
our investors, suppliers, customers, and business partners for their
unwavering support and trust in 2023. We recognize that our success
is a testament to the strong relationships we have forged with each
relevant party, and we remain committed to delivering value to all
stakeholders. We would also like to extend our sincere gratitude to
our fellow directors, the management team, and the staff for their
unwavering dedication to the Group’s success. Together, we will
continue to navigate challenges and capitalise on opportunities to
achieve sustained growth and profitability.

Ng Man Chun Paul
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o B W) B o
FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“Company”
and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) recorded a net
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$45,308,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year”)
(31 December 2022: HK$18,844,000). This was mainly
attributable to the fair value loss on financial assets through
profit or loss of approximately HK$13,232,000, and the increase
in loss in (i) the food and beverage business of approximately
HK$8,466,000; (ii) the money lending business of approximately
HK$3,432,000; (iii) the financial services business of approximately
HK$4,080,000; and (iv) the children education services business of
approximately HK$1,894,000. The loss was offset by the reversal
of the overprovision of reinstatement cost for the expired leases of
approximately HK$2,323,000, and the gain of disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$1,173,000.

Revenue from continuing operations for the Year increased by
approximately 10.6% to approximately HK$156,940,000 (31
December 2022: HK$141,903,000), while gross profit for the
Year was approximately HK$104,366,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$95,803,000). Revenue from continuing operations for the Year
comprised of loan interest income amounting to approximately
HK$1,111,000 (31 December 2022: HK$2,713,000), provision of
financial services amounting to approximately HK$9,149,000 (31
December 2022: HK$15,214,000), dividend income from listed
equity investments amounting to approximately HK$175,000
(31 December 2022: HK$316,000), food and beverage business
amounting to approximately HK$139,815,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$117,564,000), alcoholic beverage distribution and miscellaneous
business amounting to approximately HK$2,092,000 (31 December
2022: HK$1,596,000), and provision of children education services
amounting to approximately HK$4,598,000 (31 December 2022:
HK$4,500,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

General and administrative expenses from continuing operations for
the Year increased to approximately HK$132,582,000 (31 December
2022: HK$121,686,000). Such increase was mainly due to the increase
in depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$10,964,000 in the food and beverage business.

FOOD AND BEVERAGE BUSINESS

During the Year, food and beverage business is one of the
Group’s principal business through operating of restaurants
serving Japanese cuisine, Thai food and western food in Hong
Kong. The revenue from food and beverage business amounted to
approximately HK$139,815,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$117,564,000) in 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a total of 11 restaurants in
Hong Kong (2022: 11 restaurants). The Group is committed to offering
customers high-quality ingredients from the origin of the country at
an affordable price under its food and beverage business. The Group
has developed different brands in its brand portfolio to capture a broad
spectrum of customers. The Group mainly focus on the residential
area and most of the Group’s restaurants in Hong Kong are located in
major shopping malls in various residential regions in Hong Kong.

Impairment loss of approximately HK$2,370,000 on property, plant
and equipment was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: HK$Nil). During the year ended 31 December 2023,
approximately HK$2,028,000 were impairment of right-of-use assets
(included in the property, plant and equipment), which are the leases
of the restaurants in the Group’s food and beverage segment.

During the Year, we observed a rebound in visitor arrivals following
the pandemic, although the numbers remained significantly below pre-
Covid levels. Furthermore, it was evident that visitors were spending
less compared to the pre-pandemic period. Additionally, the food and
beverage industry in Hong Kong continued to grapple with challenges
arising from intense competition and substantial operating costs,
including rising rental expenses, food costs, and labor costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

As a result after considering the above, the management concluded
that there was indication for impairment on the Group’s assets. The
management conducted impairment assessments on recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in
relation to the food and beverage business as at 31 December 2023,
and engaged an independent valuation expert to perform impairment
assessments on the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of food and
beverage business segment and estimate the recoverable amount of the
asset for the Year.

Profit/Cash flow forecasts were made by the management for all
CGUs to consider whether there are any indication for impairment
on the individual assets of the Group. Indications for impairment
would include internal source of information and external source of
information: (a) whether the group of CGUs is be loss-making as
a whole for the financial year that the economic performance of an
asset is, or will be, worse than expected, while losses caused by pre-
operating expenses of new shops will be disregarded for this purpose;
(b) significant changes with an adverse effect on the entity have taken
place during the period, or will take place in the near future, in the
economic or legal environment in which the entity operates or in
the market to which an asset is dedicated or in the extent to which,
or manner in which, an asset is used or is expected to be used; (c)
evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset;
and (d) whether there are any extenuating circumstances which would
require the management to perform an impairment assessment.

The independent valuation expert performed impairment assessment
of the carrying amounts of each CGU as at 31 December 2023 by
estimating their value in use through the management’s forecasts.
The calculation of value in use of the relevant assets subjected
to impairment testing are by reference to the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to derive from the assets.

Based on result of the assessments, impairment loss was recognised as
on the restaurants which generated nil cash flow/net cash inflow but
recoverable amount is less than the CGU’s carrying value.

The operating environment for the food and beverage industry in Hong
Kong is expected to remain challenging in the coming year. With
elevated interest rates driving up mortgage payments and a strong
Hong Kong dollar depressing relative cost of outbound travel, local
consumer spending continues to face headwinds. This has translated
into weaker domestic consumption as residents prioritise overseas
trips and cross-border shopping over local discretionary expenditures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Adding to macroeconomic pressures, the industry itself operates in a
fiercely competitive landscape with high operating costs. Expenses
such as rental, food, and labour have been trending upwards. To
navigate these conditions, we will explore prudent expansion
opportunities through new brands and strategically located sites.
We also will continue assessing market conditions closely to ensure
strategic flexibility in capturing growth areas.

SECURITIES INVESTMENT BUSINESS

The Group’s diversified securities investment portfolios cover both
listed and non-listed companies and debt securities, in order to
diversify its investment portfolios and increase returns to shareholders.
The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by the
Group were all shares of listed companies in Hong Kong. The fair
value change of the debt securities were recognised in debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

During the Year, the Group recorded loss from the changes in fair
value of financial assets through profit or loss of approximately
HK$13,232,000 (31 December 2022: gain of approximately
HK$3,341,000), and changes in fair value of equity instruments
through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$716,000
(31 December 2022: HK$Nil).

The Directors consider that an investment in the equity securities and
the debt securities with a carrying value of 5% or more of the net asset
value of the Group as at balance sheet date as significant investments
(“Significant Investments™). As at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, the Group did not hold any Significant Investments.

The Group will continue to review the portfolio in order to decide
whether to invest, enjoy the capital gains or stable cash inflow from
dividends and coupon payments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B e B g T ()
MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

The Group commenced its money lending business since December
2013 through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, each of which has
obtained a money lenders licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Since then, the Group
has put efforts and resources to develop this business and provides
diversified money lending services to match the needs of people with
different backgrounds.

The licensing of money lenders and regulation of money-lending
transactions are governed by the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), in which a person or company
carrying on business as a money lender in Hong Kong must obtain
a money lender licence. The market of money lending business by
licensed money lenders in Hong Kong is keen and competitive.
Based on the list of existing money lenders licensees as maintained
by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong, there were more than
2,270 licensed money lenders (including applications for renewal in
progress) in Hong Kong as at 31 December 2023.

The subsidiaries of the Group which carried on the money lending
business compete with other licensed money lenders, authorised
institutions such as banks, restricted licensed banks and deposit-
taking companies in providing money lending services. However,
licensed money lenders, such as the Group’s subsidiaries, may offer
an advantage in providing loans with simpler approval procedures and
greater flexibility.

The Group’s money lending business offers both secured and
unsecured loans to customers comprising individuals and corporations.
The scope of money lending services provided by the money lending
business generally includes personal loans, business loans and
mortgage loans. Within a loan category, the interest rates, the duration
of the loan and repayment terms of the loan vary. The money lending
business generates revenue and profit by way of providing loans to
earn interest income. The source of funding for this business segment
is from the internal resources of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group mainly provided
term loans to individuals and companies where interests are payable
by tailor-made schedule at fixed interest rate. The Group’s money
lending business do not usually grant loans to connected persons of the
Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group has complied with requirements, to the extent applicable,
set out in Chapter 14 and (where applicable) 14A of the Listing Rules
when it granted the loans to each of the customers under the Group’s
money lending business segment, whose loans was still outstanding as
at 31 December 2023.

The Company did not have any agreement, arrangement,
understanding or undertaking (whether formal or informal and whether
express or implied) with a connected person with respect to the grant
of loans under Group’s money lending business segment, whose loans
was still outstanding as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the loans and
interest receivable in this segment was approximately HK$5.8 million,
personal loans and corporate loans represented approximately 24%
and 76% of the value of the Group’s total active and outstanding loan
portfolio respectively, each of the customers is an independent third
party. The majority of loans are short-term loans repayable within a
year. As at 31 December 2023, approximately 100% of the outstanding
loan balance were repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of the active and
outstanding loans in the loan portfolio of the Group’s money lending
business ranged from approximately 10% to 18% per annum. Most
of the loans granted by the money lending business of the Group
are unsecured loans. To justify the higher credit risk, the Group
typically charges a higher interest rate. Unsecured loans represented
approximately 60% in total number of loans, which have been fully
impaired with interest rate ranged from approximately 15% to 18% per
annum as at 31 December 2023. Most of such unsecured loans were
advanced to well-heeled and reputable individuals and are short-term
in nature and therefore, the Group has not requested for additional
personal guarantees in respect of such loans.

Given that the majority of the loans granted by the Group’s money
lending business are short-term loans provided to our customers who,
as mentioned above, were well-heeled and reputable individuals and
well-established companies who/which look for funding for short-term
personal/business needs, such borrowers are not prepared to arrange
for the collateral security. On the other hand, the creation and release
of collaterals for short-term loans will also create administrative
burden to the Group and may at the same time lower the profit margin
of the Group’s money lending business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In order to enhance the recoverability of the loans, the Group may also
requests personal/corporate guarantees as security in specific cases.
In determining whether a personal/corporate guarantee is required,
the Group will consider, on a case by case basis, the reason for the
borrowing, the credit history of the borrower with the Group, the
borrower’s financial background and the Group’s credit exposure for
the loan. As at 31 December 2023, loan which is backed by mortgage
in respect of a property represented approximately 20% in total
number of loans, and approximately 24% in value of our Group’s total
active and outstanding loan portfolio with effective interest rate at
10% per annum. As at 31 December 2023, loan which is secured by a
personal/corporate guarantee represented approximately 20% in total
numbers of loan, and approximately 76% in value of our Group’s total
active and outstanding loans portfolio with effective interest rate at
12% per annum.

The Group’s money lending business does not generally target the
general public. In order to differentiate itself from other licensed
money lenders in the market, the Group would lend personal loans to
well-heeled and reputable customers, and their occupations vary from
executives, businessmen to professionals. In regards to business loans,
the Group targets well-established companies with business operations
in Hong Kong and/or the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, all of the customers in the
Group’s money lending business are either Hong Kong or PRC
residents or companies with business operations in Hong Kong and/
or the PRC. The Group has 1 to 5 years of relationship with the
customers and these customers were approached by the Group through
different channels which include, without limitation, referrals from
existing customers and also from the directors and/or employees of the
Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the largest customer of the Group’s
money lending business with principal amount of the loans and
interest receivables was approximately HK$4.4 million, accounted
for 76% of the loans and interest receivables of the Group, and the
five largest customers with in aggregate amount of the loans and
interest receivables was approximately HK$5.8 million, accounted
for 100% of the loans and interest receivables of the Group’s money
lending business as at 31 December 2023. The five largest customers
comprised of 4 individuals and a corporation, all of which were third
parties independent with the Company and its connected persons.
During the year, the credit period of the loans granted to the major
customers was 1 year, which was negotiated on an arm’s length basis
with reference to the commercial practice and the Group’s credit
policy. The management of the Company will closely monitor the
loan portfolio, in particular the loans to major customers, periodically
and will continue to adopt risk control and management strategies
while broadening the customer base. As far as the Directors are aware,
neither the Directors, their close associates nor any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest customers of the money lending business during the year.

Impairment loss on loans and interest receivables

The Group’s impairment losses mainly relate to 12-month expected
credit loss (“12m ECL”) allowance for loans and interest receivables.
Generally speaking, the 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions. The Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognise lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded an impairment
loss on loans and interest receivables of approximately HK$4 million
as compared to approximately HK$2 million for the corresponding
period in 2022. The increase in impairment loss on loans and interest
receivables is principally due to an increase in loans receivables which
have past due during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

The impairment loss of approximately HK$4 million for the year
derived mainly from unsecured loans, involving three individuals,
with principal amount of HK$1.8 million, HK$3 million and HK$3
million respectively. The tenure of the abovesaid unsecured loans is
12 months and the effective interest rate is 14%, 18%, and 15% per
annum respectively. Such accumulated impairment loss amounted to
approximately HK$6 million which represented approximately 52.1%
of gross loans and interest receivables of the money lending business
as at 31 December 2023. The Group will continue to adhere to the
established internal control measures of the money lending business
to monitor the timely repayment, control credit risks and enhance
recoverability of the customers.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular,
the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Subsequent events

For the loans granted to the customers, further information are set out

as follows:

ey

Loan amount of HK$1.8 million — subsequent to 31 December
2023, such loan has not been renewed and has matured and not
been repaid in full as at the date of this report. As at the date
of this report, the Group has received repayment of principal
of approximately HK$1,134,000, and payment of interest and
default interest of approximately HK$666,000. The Group has
initiated its debt recovery procedures to recover the late payment/
default in payment of the customer and (a) demand letters have
been sent by the Group; (b) the Group has engaged a law firm
on the matter and demand letters have been sent by the law firm;
and (c) the Group has initiated legal action against the borrower
in which the statement of claim and writ of summons were filed.
During the year, the terms of settlement was agreed between
the Group and the borrower. All further proceedings would be
stayed, upon the terms of settlement agreed between the Group
and the borrower and a consent order was issued by the District
Court in this aspect. The loan was fully impaired in prior year
and the Group recorded a reversal of impairment loss on loans
and interest receivables of approximately HK$0.3 million for
such loan in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)
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Loan amount of HK$3 million — subsequent to 31 December
2023, such loan has not been renewed and has matured and not
been repaid in full as at the date of this report. As at the date of
this report, the Group has received repayment of principal of
approximately HK$386,000, and payment of interest and default
interest of approximately HK$734,000. The Group has initiated
its debt recovery procedures to recover the late payment/default
in payment of the customer and (a) demand letters have been
sent by the Group; (b) the Group has engaged a law firm on the
matter and demand letters have been sent by the law firm; and
(c) taking into account the then-recent circumstances in relation
to the customer’s financial situation as noted by the Group, the
Group has initiated legal action against the customer in which
a final judgment from the District Court was received and the
borrower to pay the outstanding principal and interest and the
legal cost. In early March 2023, the Group has consent to the
borrower to repay the outstanding principal and interest within
6 months by negotiation. The borrower failed to pay any of
the installments in accordance with the agreed schedule. The
Group further recorded an impairment loss on loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$1.6 million for such loan in
2023. The loan was fully impaired. The Group will consider
further legal action against the customer depending on the actual
circumstances.

Loan amount of HK$3 million — subsequent to 31 December
2023, such loan has not been renewed and has matured and not
been repaid in full as at the date of this report. As at the date of
this report, the Group has received repayment of principal of
approximately HK$452,000, and payment of interest and default
interest of approximately HK$953,000. The Group has initiated
its debt recovery procedures to recover the late payment/default
in payment of the customer and (a) demand letters have been
sent by the Group; and (b) the Group has engaged a law firm on
the matter and demand letter has been sent by the law firm. The
Group will consider further legal action against the customer
depending on the actual circumstances. The Group further
recorded an impairment loss on loans and interest receivables of
approximately HK$2.6 million for such loan in 2023. The loan
was fully impaired.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 365 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise. Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

For further details of the accounting policies regarding the impairment
of financial assets (including loans and interest receivables) and the
financial risk management policies in respect of loans and interest
receivables, please refer to note 3 and note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Internal Control and Loan Approval Process

The Group has established standardised and central management credit
policy for the loan approval procedures.

The Board has set up a credit committee (“Credit Committee”)
and adopted a credit policy for the credit approval procedures. The
Credit Committee has full authority to deal with all credit matters.
The members of the Credit Committee are appointed by the Board
and the quorum of the Credit Committee is at least two committee
members. The primary duties of the Credit Committee are, among
other things, to approve and oversee the credit policy of the Group’s
money lending business and to monitor our loan portfolio. The credit
policy of the Group’s money lending business is subject to the review
and amendments by the Credit Committee and the Board from time to
time in line with changes in the market environment. Given the fast-
changing environment, the Board and the Credit Committee endeavour
to review the credit policy at least once a year.

As at 31 December 2023, the members of the Credit Committee
comprise of three members, one of which an executive Director,
the chief executive officer of the Company and a director of the
subsidiaries engaged in the Group’s money lending business segment;
one of which the senior finance manager of the Company who has
over ten years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management; and one of which the compliance officer of a subsidiary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

The Group would apply various factors to assess the potential
customers, which may differ from case to case as the circumstances
arise given the different backgrounds of the potential customers and
the nature of the proposed loans.

When loan applications are received by the Group, the Credit
Committee members will be responsible for verifying and processing
loan application documents. Such process mainly involves credit
assessment procedures to assess the repayment ability of the customer.
The Group has set out strict credit assessment procedures to verify
the creditworthiness of the customers. Since each loan is different and
unique, the Group does not have any specific quantitative conditions
or criteria imposed for approving each loan. Approvals on application
for loans are decided on a case-by-case basis. Credit Committee
members are the main contact point with customers.

The following is a summary of the general guidelines of assessing the
loan applications by the Credit Committee:

(1) Identity proof — such as identity card and passport (for
individuals) and business registration certificate, certificate of
incorporation and the constitutional documents (for corporate
entities) must be verified;

(2) Address proof — such as utility bills, bank/credit card statements
or formal correspondence issued by a government or statutory
body is required to be produced;

(3) Repayment ability assessment — to assess and justify the
repayment ability of the customer, criteria such as availability of
guarantor, the background of the customer, and where applicable,
the past payment record and any other relevant information are
to be considered. The Credit Committee may request further
information from the customer including but not limited to the
followings: tax demand note, tax return, bank book record,
bank statement, payroll slip, MPF statement, employer’s letter,

employment contract, rental income receipt, tenancy agreement,

financial statements, and auditor’s report etc.; and

(4) Legal search — a legal search will be conducted on the customers
(and as the case may be, the guarantors) to ascertain if the
potential borrowers have any prior legal cases in the past, which
may cast doubt on credit worthiness and repayment ability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

For individual customers

In general, in evaluating loan applications from potential individual
customers more emphasis would be placed in considering (1) income
proof of the potential customer; (2) asset proof of the potential
customer; and (3) whether the potential customer was able/willing
to provide personal guarantee/security. The income and asset proofs
are to assess the recoverability of proposed loans, and there is no
minimum amount per se as it would depend on the amount and term
of the proposed loan. Depending on the circumstance, a credit report
will be obtained from the potential customers to assess recoverability
and also the terms of the proposed loans (in particular, the interest
rate to be fixed). If the potential customer was able/willing to
provide a personal guarantee, the identity and background of the
proposed guarantor would also be required to be considered. The
Credit Committee will consider, among other things, the above three
factors and that the Credit Committee would have to be satisfied
with at least one of the three factors as mentioned above before any
potential loan applications were to be considered. The Group has not
set any restrictions on a particular age group or particular occupation,
but prime consideration will be given to those who are business
executives, businessmen or professionals.

For corporate customers

In general, in evaluating loan applications from potential corporate
customers more emphasis would be placed in considering (1) revenue
stream and track record period of the potential customer; (2) asset
proof of the potential customer; and (3) whether the potential customer
was able/willing to provide personal guarantee/collateral security. The
income and asset proofs are to assess the recoverability of proposed
loans, and there is no minimum amount per se as it would depend on
the amount and term of the proposed loan. If the potential customer
was able/willing to provide a personal guarantee, the identity and
background (including credit report) of the proposed guarantor would
also be required to be considered. The Credit Committee will consider,
among other things, the above three factors and that the Credit
Committee would have to be satisfied with at least one of the three
factors as mentioned above before any potential loan applications were
to be considered. The Group has not set any restrictions on a particular
industry or place of principal business operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

As with the credit assessment of borrowers, guarantors who provide
personal/corporate guarantee in favour of a loan are also required
to meet the same basic eligibility and approval criteria, and will be
required to go through the same verification and approval procedures.

The Credit Committee members will also be responsible for
determining the interest rates charged to the customers, having taken
into consideration factors such as the credit risks of the customers,
their recoverability and the prevalent market interest rates. Typically,
higher interest rates will be charged for unsecured loans to justify the
higher credit risk.

After credit assessment and review of the loan applications by the
Credit Committee, loan documents will be prepared and the loans will
be recommended to the directors of the wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company which operates the money lending business for final
approval.

If the applicable percentage ratios as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules in respect of the making of the loan under the loan application
would constitute a discloseable transaction of the Company pursuant
to Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the loan application will be
forwarded to the Board and a meeting of the Board will be held to
consider and approve the loan application. It is the Group’s policy not
to make any advance to a borrower if such a proposed loan transaction
will constitute a major transaction or above under the GEM Listing
Rules.

Apart from the loan approval procedures, the Group has also
established internal control measures to control its credit risk and
manage its credit operations, which includes regular analysing and
reviewing of the Group’s loan portfolio and compliance matters and
carrying out monitoring of loans after drawdown in a regular manner
by updating the status of the borrowers. In addition, the Group usually
required customers to provide signed and post-dated bank cheques
with payments in accordance with tailor made repayment schedules.
The Group has also implemented debt recovery procedures to provide
an orderly and established system for monitoring and recovering any
late payment or default in payment of the customers. Such internal
control measures are adopted to facilitate the secure operation of the
Group’s money lending business and compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

With the visibility on the economic outlook remained unclear, the
Group has taken a cautious approach to strengthen the overall credit
risk management and control mechanism in its money lending
business. The Group refined the loan approval procedures and was
prudent on the assessment of the existing and potential clients. The
Group will monitor the market situation closely and adjust the interest
rate and loan-to-value ratio timely, in order to optimise the balance
between risk and capital. During the Year, the Group used its liquidity
to fund the money lending business, loan interest income from this
business segment amounted to approximately HK$1,111,000 during
the Year (31 December 2022: HK$2,713,000).

FINANCIAL SERVICES BUSINESS

The financial services business of the Group is carried on by China
Demeter Securities Limited (“CDSL”), which became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company in June 2017. CDSL is a securities
brokerage firm incorporated in Hong Kong in 2010 and a licensed
corporation to carry on Type 1 (Dealing in Securities), Type 4
(Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”).

The financial services business of the Group principally refers to
the acting as an intermediary between buyers and sellers of listed
securities in Hong Kong. The sources of income of CDSL include
(i) commission from brokerage services; (ii) interest income from
margin financing customers; (iii) management fee and performance
fee from providing asset management services to customers; and
(iv) underwriting or placing commission income from acting as an
underwriter or placing agent of the listed issuers or brokers. Through
CDSL, which is an exchange participant and a direct clearing
participant of HKSCC, the Group offers securities dealing and
brokerage services to its customers for investing securities listed on the
Stock Exchange, including stocks, derivatives and debt instruments.

Brokerage commission is derived from providing a trading system for
customers to trade securities via the trading platform established by
the Stock Exchange.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

Asset management services are targeted at investors who wish to gain
in assets but have insufficient time to manage their investments and
insufficient capital to engage the services provided by investment
banks. By leveraging on the experiences of the asset management
team, it could help to achieve the investment objective of the
customers. The Group could also generate revenue from the asset
management business by receiving monthly management fee and
performance-based incentive income.

The margin financing business mainly targets active trading customers
with substantial amount of assets (principally comprised of listed
securities) who intend to utilise the value of such assets without losing
the title thereto to increase its investment portfolio.

CDSL also provides placing and underwriting services by acting
as underwriter, sub-underwriter, placing agent or sub-placing agent
in fundraising activities conducted by issuers in both initial public
offerings and secondary fundraising. In return, CDSL is able to
receive commission from the listed companies and the customers with
accounts in CDSL.

CDSL has a wide range of client base, including Hong Kong, PRC
and overseas retail and corporate clients. The monetary resources
are mainly from share capital and the revenue generated from CDSL
itself, but as well as from the parent company.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group mainly provided
margin financing to individuals and companies where interests are
payable by tailor-made schedule at fixed interest rate. For the year
ended 31 December 2023 the Group have granted margin loans to the
connected persons of the Company. Please refer to the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report — Connected Transactions” and note
41 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the trade receivable
in relation to the margin financing was approximately HK$51 million,
the personal clients represented approximately 67% and business
client represented approximately 33% of the value of the Group’s total
active and outstanding margin financing portfolio.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, trade receivable from margin clients are
secured by clients’ securities pledged as collateral with market value
of approximately HK$220.8 million (2022: HK$467.2 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of the active and
outstanding loans to the margin client of the Group’s financial services
business ranged from approximately 10.9% to 13.9% per annum.
The margin loans are repayable on demand and bear variable interest
at commercial rates. Margin clients are required to pledge securities
collateral to the Group in order to obtain the margin facilities for
securities trading.

As at 31 December 2023, the largest customers of the Group’s margin
financing business with amount of the loan to margin clients was
approximately $11.2 million, accounted for 22% of the loan to margin
clients of the Group, and the five largest customers with in aggregate
principal amount of the loans to margin clients was approximately
$37.6 million, accounted for 74% of loan to margin clients of the
Group. The five largest customers were related to the Group’s margin
financing business and comprised of 2 corporations and 3 individuals,
all of which were third parties independent with the Company and
its connected persons. The management of the Company will closely
monitor the margin financing portfolio, in particular the loans to major
margin clients, periodically and will continue to adopt risk control and
management strategies while broadening the customer base. As far as
the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates
nor any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any interest in the five largest customers of the margin financing
business during the year.

Impairment loss on loans to margin clients

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model on trade receivables which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively
using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings should tailor to
reporting entity’s specific facts and circumstances.

ECL assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions. The Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognise
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition. For the year ended 31
December 2023, impairment loss of approximately HK$1.3 million
was recognised on loans to margin clients (2022: HK$Nil).

The impairment loss of approximately HK$1.3 million for the year
mainly derived from an individual, with margin shortfall of HK$3.6
million since January 2022. The effective interest rate ranged from
13% to 18.9% per annum. Such impairment loss amounted to
approximately HK$1.3 million which represented approximately
2.4% of gross receivables from margin clients of the financial services
business as at 31 December 2023. The Group will continue to adhere
to the established internal control measures of the financial services
business to monitor the timely repayment, control credit risks and
enhance recoverability of the customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular,
the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 365 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise. Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Bt B g e ()

TE FAG B )25 e LA A AR B LB ot 75 A
RUESE NI > A48 B Hc it A0 < Fl
LA 0 9 A S gy B 90 2 ke R H A
< Pl T L % AR 2R A0 JRUB AR LU o FEAR
% el IR > AR B 5 S B % W] 5 B 2
BRCGEERERL > BRI 1 AC B I IR
S S 6 B AR B 7 B AT AT B I
PEEORE o JLHGE > FPA (R SRR R
W 00 B 2 S B R

o ST RSN () S R RS B A
450010 s P 0 e T

o fREERR A9 Sh I TG 4R PR A B
2 lnfE &8 2 K IEHE I - 6%
NIEBE A I E

o TENRPESUER BT HER R
Y RE J7 R MR T B Y 3685 ~ P 5 A

o fEIS N FCAE AN R ok T Y A
e K

o HEEfEB NEAT HAL BAERRE
RGN BRI P N B - R A
1l B 35 B B PR TR O R A
# o

S b A A SR e AR EERE S
) Boa 0 365 H BF - 5 S AR A
WA e sR LABR EL K WR 3 n > Bk IF A4 3
A A P S ] SRR B AT i ] HE R
e A EaoRE > AT TR
B AR E B B UK A A5 8RB
A4 B RER AR LB RS 8k A )
o e 8 LA SIS 4R A g 184 -

A 4 o] ) B 4 ) DA sl A £ R e ot
R W 384 i A A Y A A o Y
HEATAERT - DU fR 5% 15 1E RE 400 18 3CH
Sy e ) £ 4 e g ) S S

I~
H
il

B ol B AT LA
z—pgy 29



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

For further details of the accounting policies regarding the impairment
of financial assets (including trade receivables from margin client)
and the financial risk management policies in respect of trade
receivables from margin client, please refer to note 3 and note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Subsequent events

For the impairment loss on loan to margin client, further information
are set out as follows:

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the margin loan has not been repaid
in full as at the date of this report. The Group has initiated its debt
recovery procedures to recover the default in payment of the client
and (a) demand letters have been sent by the Group; (b) the Group has
engaged a law firm on the matter and demand letters have been sent
by the law firm. The Group recorded an impairment loss on loans to
margin clients of approximately HK$1.3 million in 2023.

During the Year, the Group used its liquidity to fund the financial
service business, interest income from this business segment amounted
to approximately HK$6,514,000 during the Year (31 December 2022:
HK$8,957,000).

Management has assessed the market values of the pledged securities
of each individual client who has margin shortfall at the end of each
reporting period. Based on the assessment, the loss given default is
low in view of the estimated realised amount of ultimate disposal of
the collateral and the management considers the ECL for receivables
from one margin clients is significant and therefore impairment
allowance of approximately HK$1.3 million was recognised.

Internal Control
(i) Credit risk assessment of customers

The Group is highly concerned with the credit risk associated
with customers when conducting margin financing activities.
Before granting credit limit to customers, any relevant
documents showing their financial capacity such as tax return,
salary advice, bank statement, bankruptcy report, civil litigation
search, other assets proof as approved by the responsible officer
(“RO”) of CDSL are required to be taken into consideration.
Besides, CDSL also considers the clients’ historical status of
margin calls, bounced cheques and their stock positions.
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(i)

(iii)

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Bt B g e ()

Stress test report is issued and provided to the ROs for reviewing
and monitoring every month or in the case of adverse market.
The stress test is to evaluate the level of the excess liquid capital
against the effect of the stressors and suggest ROs to take the
required follow-up actions such as decreasing margin ratio of
the relevant collaterals and reducing the outstanding margin
loan limit of the relevant margin customers. In addition, a loan
limit report (includes margin loan limit and marginable value for
relevant margin customers), margin list (includes margin ratios
for particular stocks), products and also client’s margin loan
concentration risk report are updated regularly and provided to
the directors of CDSL for ongoing monitoring the level of credit
risks associated with margin clients and considering any possible
follow-up actions to be taken.

Mechanism in determining loan terms

The margin loan terms shall be determined and may be
adjusted from time to time based on the amount of margin loan
requested by the customers, their profile, track record such as
civil litigation search and bankruptcy report, quantity and most
importantly the marginable values of collateral provided, the
variety of the collaterals provided. Furthermore, when a margin
client is the sole director of a company, an agreement in relation
to the personal continuing guarantee unlimited shall be duly
completed and signed in order to apply for margin loan.

Approval process

Customers must submit an application form and relevant
documents as financial proof for margin loan limit approval.
Apart from reviewing the fundamental client information stated
in the application form and the financial proof, the directors
and ROs of CDSL shall consider the customer’s bankruptcy
reports as well as civil litigation searches and also the values of
collaterals provided by that customers. If the directors and ROs
believe that the clients have assets with adequate marginable
value or have good track records, the application for margin loan
limit shall be approved.

(ii)

(iii)

A SRETSGAMBEIT - HE
JEE T e i I fe i R N B
Ao B M B o BRI 2 Bt R
3R 5 2B A U B e A R 114 K
- e R N B RBULE R
BEATEY > o AR B KA ot ) R
it 4 3 K AR AR B AR i % P Y
R 7 PR 8 < O B KEEE o AL
SE S0 SR B R I (B4 AR B
PR S 2 %0 5 A0 IR A8 2 R It
PR & A ME) - PRaEETE B (B4
ERCERRE R MUK
&5 PR 4 B AR v Ja B
Sl 45 {4 T [ J o 2 S S R A
2 SR G B % 5 A B A9 15 P B 7k
-5 3 5 PR BT el T AE AR A AT
&) o

A & H 5 1 sk 1y B8

PR & B FOR AR IR & 5 2RI
REEEXEH  FFNMEANE
Bl RS RAYE R R R A
BBk~ PR AR HRA S R B D
Kol R v (R e E (- Frigfit
P G i 0 R 20 7 S B T EAS Py
PR o b HREEFEF B M
AT ME— B o REIEH T A
A7 I8 18\ S RS AR A AR B e -
] DR B K o

w i i

% 5 JE B 2 H R AR SO B SO 2
S5 B LA HEHE AR 78 2 R BREE o
W 7 7 B B AR B B B o P At
MEARZFEE > BRESFN#E
FRARNBINES BEF BE
W~ REFDERUALZE 7
PR HET S A - e AR
NE RS J 5 5 B 50 B R
E Y EE A RAF RS ok - A%
AR R 2 8 CRREE Y FR i

B < AR A B )
TR

31



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

(iv) Monitoring loan repayment and recovery

)

The ROs monitor the outstanding borrowing of each client
during the trading time. A margin call will be made to clients
when the outstanding loan is bigger than the total marginable
value of the client’s collaterals. In the margin call, the licensed
persons of the Company and ROs are required to specify
the deadline to restore the margin level or the conditions to
implement forced liquidation. Margin call letter with such details
shall be issued every day until the margin level is restored.

The licensed persons and ROs are required to make daily margin
call and suggest follow-up actions upon the client’s response
in the daily margin call report every day for the next 30 days
(“Grace Period”) until the margin level is restored.

Taking actions on outstanding margin loans

If the margin level cannot be restored within the Grace Period,
the forced liquidation shall be triggered accordingly. On the first
day after the Grace Period, application of forced liquidation shall
be submitted immediately and approved by any two of ROs.
However, Grace Period can be extended with specified period by
any two of ROs with a valid reason.

Apart from that, when the outstanding margin loan is bigger
than 80% of the total market value of the collaterals as reviewed
by client’s margin loan concentration risk report, the forced
liquidation shall also be triggered.

For the procedure of forced liquidation, CDSL shall start selling
at the best price of the collateral with the largest market value
in client’s portfolio on the market before market close until the
margin level is restored once the approvals for forced liquidation
is sought.

Despite the city’s post-pandemic economic recovery progressing at

a slower pace than initially anticipated, and the persisting economic

pressures driven by high interest rates and geopolitical factors, the

authorities are proactively implementing a range of measures to

enhance the business’ financial competitiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

A significant shift is currently underway in global markets as investors
withdraw substantial sums of money from China’s struggling
economy. While a considerable portion of these funds is redirecting
towards other Asian countries, China and Hong Kong face specific
challenges. These circumstances present obstacles to the interest
income derived from margin financing services and the commission
revenue generated from brokerage services. Nevertheless, CDSL has
experienced both success and failure within Hong Kong’s finance
industry and has weathered various global financial storms. CDSL has
consistently demonstrated resilience in the face of market impacts,
staying attuned to the evolving landscape and making relentless
efforts to improve itself. To ensure customer retention, we provide
comprehensive, all-encompassing services to investors both online
and offline, prioritizing the delivery of professional service quality.
As a result, CDSL has maintained a steadfast position despite adverse
market conditions, thanks to the long-term support and trust bestowed
upon us by our valued customers.

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE DISTRIBUTION AND
MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS

Alcoholic beverage distribution and miscellaneous business is
principally engaged in distribution of alcoholic beverage in Hong
Kong and trading of miscellaneous goods.

Aiming to diversify the business profile and with a potential to
complement the food and beverage business of the Group, the Group
entered into the alcoholic beverage distribution business through its
acquisition of Belicious (HK) Limited (“Belicious™) as a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group in April 2018. The Group currently
sells individual and corporate clients with fine wine, collection
whiskey and other miscellaneous products through the Group’s
network and on close connection with customers.

During the Year, revenue from the distribution of alcoholic beverage
and miscellaneous business amounted to approximately HK$2,092,000
(31 December 2022: HK$1,596,000).

Cost discipline will continue to be a management focus area. While
ensuring service quality expectations are met, the Group is committed
to maintaining a lean cost structure and operational efficiencies.
Regular reviews of all expense items will allow identification of
optimisation opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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At 31 December 2023, the Group carried out an impairment
assessment to the goodwill attributable to the alcoholic beverage
distribution business and impairment loss of goodwill of
approximately HK$107,000 (2022: HK$5,168,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In conducting impairment assessments, the independent valuation
expert was engaged to evaluate the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The calculation of value in use of the relevant assets subjected
to impairment testing are by reference to the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to derive from the assets.
Based on result of the assessments, impairment loss on goodwill
was recognised on this segment which generated net cash inflow but
recoverable amount is less than the cash generating unit’s carrying
value, part of the goodwill allocated to this segment has been impaired
as at 31 December 2023.

PROVISION OF CHILDREN EDUCATION SERVICES

The Group’s provision of children education services business is
carried on through Nobel Education Organisation Limited, which
became a 51% owned subsidiary of the Group in October 2018 and
Wealthy Leader Limited, which became a 84.07% owned subsidiary
of the Group in April 2023. Nobel Education Organisation Limited
provides children education services through the operation of
Hong Kong Nobel Preschool, a kindergarten registered under the
Education Ordinance (Chapter 279 of the laws of Hong Kong),
offering kindergarten and pre-school education. During the Year,
revenue from the provision of children education services amounted to
approximately HK$4,598,000 (31 December 2022: HK$4,500,000).

The Hong Kong private education industry is currently facing
significant challenges due to a 0.9% decline in the city’s population
in 2022, marking the third consecutive year of decline, according to
provisional statistics from the Census and Statistics Department. As a
result, it is our opinion that apart from retaining existing students, the
need to improve the quality of our education is also a key focus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Affected by the decline in population growth and immigration
trends, kindergarten revenue has not reached the expected target. The
enrollment for 2023 is approximately 70% of pre-pandemic levels.
The Group will allocate more resources to teacher training and student
materials. In 2023, the Group started developing in-house teaching
materials, which is expected to be completed in 2024. This will
highlight the advantages of our school in terms of teaching staff and
materials, making Hong Kong Nobel Preschool more competitive in
the Hong Kong market.

In the previous year, the Group began preparations for another
premise in Chai Wan. We have obtained temporary licenses for half-
day and full-day classes and have officially started enrollment. We
expect to obtain the formal license within this year. Hong Kong Nobel
Preschool has operated successfully in Homantin for many years, with
excellent teaching staff. Many graduates have been accepted into ideal
primary schools, making it highly regarded by parents. With the brand
effect, we anticipate achieving good results at the Chai Wan premise.
The Group will continue to search for suitable premise in other areas
to expand our footprint and provide high-quality early childhood
education services in different regions.

PROSPECTS

Geopolitical tensions and rising interest rates continue weighing on
Hong Kong’s economy. Escalating US-China trade and tech disputes
may prolong inflationary pressures. Capital investment and tourism in
2023 remained lackluster, with visitor arrivals only reaching 65% of
2018 levels nine months after reopening.

Hong Kong’s asset markets also struggled, with residential prices
declining 5% for the year after a brief early rally. Meanwhile, the
Hang Seng Index fell over 15% in 2023, decoupling from the 25%
rise in the S&P 500. Hence, we will prudently manage risks in our
financing businesses, carefully evaluating collateral quality and
client exposures. Ongoing macro volatility requires agility to achieve
balanced performance.
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More Hong Kongers now visit Shenzhen on weekends for affordable
shopping and entertainment. This shift reflects closer regional
economic integration as wages and prices diverge between the cities,
allowing Hong Kong residents to enjoy similar services just across
the border at a fraction of the price. Changing demographics also pose
challenges, with a top global low fertility rate exacerbating an aging
population. Therefore, we remain focused on expanding our presence
in Hong Kong while exercising caution regarding rental rates and
selecting locations in close proximity to residential areas. Resilience
and responsiveness to evolving consumer preferences and structural
shifts will remain imperative.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
Acquisition of right-of-use assets

(i) On 30 March 2023, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the tenancy agreement with Over
& Above Limited, the landlord, in respect of the lease of the
premises for a term of three years commencing on 1 August 2023
and ending on 31 July 2026 (both days inclusive) for operation
of the Group’s schools offering kindergarten and pre-school
education. The total aggregate value of consideration payment
for the lease is amounted to approximately HK$6.7 million
in aggregate (exclusive of government rates, air conditioning
charges, management fees and maintenance expenses for the lift)
during the term.

The value of the right-of-use assets recognised by the Company
under the lease is amounted to approximately HK$5.8 million,
calculated with reference to the present value of the aggregated
lease payments to be made under the lease in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. For details of the lease, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 30 March 2023.

(i) On 4 April 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the offer letter with Henderson Leasing
Agency Limited (as agent for the landlord, Union Fortune
Development Limited) in respect of the lease of the premises for
a term of three years commencing on 1 July 2023 and ending on
30 June 2026 (both days inclusive) for operation of one of the
Group’s restaurants. The total aggregate value of consideration
payment for the lease is amounted to approximately HK$11.9
million in aggregate (exclusive of services charges, rates and
promotion levy) during the term.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The value of the right-of-use assets recognised by the Company
under the lease is amounted to approximately HK$10.9 million,
calculated with reference to the present value of the aggregated
lease payments to be made under the lease in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. For details of the lease, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 4 April 2023.

On 12 April 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the offer letter with Henderson Leasing
Agency Limited (as agent for the landlords, Dekker Investment
Limited, Dillinger Investment Limited, Easeluck Development
Limited and Jekyll Investment Limited) in respect of the lease
of the premises for a term of three years commencing on 20
May 2023 and ending on 19 May 2026 (both days inclusive) for
operation of one of the Group’s restaurants. The total aggregate
value of consideration payment for the lease is amounted to
approximately HK$14.2 million in aggregate (exclusive of
services charges, government rates and promotion levy) during
the term.

The value of the right-of-use assets recognised by the Company
under the lease is amounted to approximately HK$13.0 million,
calculated with reference to the present value of the aggregated
lease payments to be made under the lease in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. For details of the lease, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 12 April 2023.

On 24 November 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, received notification from Henderson Leasing
Agency Limited (as agent for the landlords, Shung King
Development Company Limited and Join Fortune Development
Limited) that it had accepted and entered into the offer letter
in respect of the lease of the premises for a term of two years
commencing on 3 October 2023 and ending on 2 October
2025 (both days inclusive) for operation of one of the Group’s
restaurants. The total aggregate value of consideration payment
for the lease is amounted to HK$6.3 million in aggregate
(exclusive of services charges, government rates and promotion
levy) during the term.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The value of the right-of-use assets recognised by the Company
under the lease is amounted to approximately HK$5.9 million,
calculated with reference to the present value of the aggregated
lease payments to be made under the lease in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. For details of the lease, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 24 November 2023.

Saved as disclosed above, the Company does not have any significant
acquisition and disposal during the Year.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$27,586,000 (2022: HK$42,325,000) and net current
assets of approximately HK$49,007,000 (2022: HK$102,307,000).
Current ratio (defined as total current assets divided by total current
liabilities) was 1.64 times (2022: 1.97 times).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group have other borrowing of
approximately HK$10,052,000 (2022: HK$20,054,000). The
other borrowing is secured by corporate guarantee executed by the
Company. It has interest at prevailing market rates and repayable in
accordance with the relevant loan agreements.

We fund our operations principally from cash generated from our
operations, other debt instruments and equity financing from investors.
Our cash requirements relate primarily to production and operating
activities, business and asset acquisitions, repayment of liabilities
as they become due, capital expenditures and any unexpected cash
requirements. During the Year, our loss before interest, taxes and
depreciation amounted to approximately HK$13,229,000.

The Group’s gearing ratio, which is calculated on the basis of the
Group’s total liabilities to the total assets, as at 31 December 2023 was
58% (2022: 48%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had equity attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$82,552,000 (2022:
HK$128,546,000).

ISSUE OF SHARES UNDER THE GENERAL MANDATE

On 9 September 2022, the Company and Ruibang Securities Limited
(“Placing Agent”) entered into a placing agreement pursuant to
which the Placing Agent agreed to place, on a best endeavor basis, in
aggregate, up to 125,483,612 placing shares of the Company at the
placing price of HK$0.1 per share to not less than six placees who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners are independent third parties under
general mandate (“Placing”). As disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 27 September 2022, the completion of the Placing
took place on 27 September 2022 in accordance with the terms
of the placing agreement. The Company received net proceeds of
approximately HK$12.2 million, which will be used for replenishing
general working capital of the Group, and as fund for the revamp of
restaurants, settlement of rental expenses and outstanding payables to
suppliers and development of business projects in food and beverage
business of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had utilised the net proceeds from
the Placing as intended.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, most of the Group’s business
transactions, assets and liabilities were principally denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), United States dollars (“US$”) and
HKS$ is the Group’s presentation currency. The Group is exposed
to potential foreign exchange risk as a result of fluctuation of US$
against HK$. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of its foreign currency assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider using hedging instruments in respect of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BLJE Wt B Bt (%)

When appropriate and at times of interest rate or exchange rate
uncertainties or volatility, hedging instruments including swaps and
forwards will be used by the Group in the management of exposure
affecting interest rates and foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has issued a
corporate guarantee in respect of other borrowing made by an
independent third party to a subsidiary. The fair value of the guarantee
has not been provided for in the Company’s financial statements as
the directors of the Company consider the amount involved to be
insignificant.

CHARGES OF GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group did not
have any charges of group assets.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 250
employees in Hong Kong (excluding directors of the Company) (2022:
244 employees in Hong Kong). The Group’s remuneration policy
is to provide competitive level of remuneration to employees and
directors based on their performance, qualification, experience and the
prevailing industry practice.

Apart from regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance.

We aim to provide employees with resources and an environment that
encourages them to develop careers with us. We provide management
personnel and employees with on-the-job education, training and other
opportunities to improve their skills and knowledge.

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15
June 2023, the Board may grant options to eligible persons, including
employees and directors, to subscribe for shares of the Company.
During the Year, the Company did not grant any share options.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ENVIRONMENT

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The
Group has established environment policies and procedures aimed
at compliance with local environmental and other laws. For the food
and beverage production process, part of the food waste and all of the
waste oil were recycled and collected by the environmental parties.
During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
of laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, or generation of hazardous and non- hazardous waste. The
management performs regular reviews to identify environmental risks
and to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to manage these
risks.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The fair value of listed equity securities are determined based on the
quoted market closing price available on the Main Board and GEM of
the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the realised gains and unrealised losses on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) from changes in fair value on
financial assets at FVTPL held as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$44,000 and HK$1,090,000 respectively.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB A d LB R
ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the eighth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report of China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“China
Demeter”) (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), outlining the Group’s efforts to drive sustainable
development forward during the financial year from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND BOUNDARY

This report has been prepared in compliance with ESG Reporting
Guidelines set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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(the “Stock Exchange”) and the reporting principles are applied as 5 Ji HIl 8 I 74 F 3C -
below:
Materiality: Stakeholder engagement is undertaken annually to identify the material sustainability
topics which are addressed in this report.
R Ry 2 B A S AT o DAREE AR P B B W) R AR R R R o
Quantitative: Data in this report are checked and analysed to account for year-on-year changes
and are presented in a way that allows for comparison with previous performance.
Please refer to the Performance Data Summary of this report for standards used for
calculation of environmental performance indicators.
=1k : A R AR AR A KT o B IERIIZ AR SR L - I ARE A BLSE T A RUEST
HE T X 2B o BN BIRERCE IR R EARE » 55 2 B A HCS 1 S0 R
o
Balance: We prepare the report in a transparent manner in which both positive and negative
impacts are disclosed.
- FAM LAZE B 75 2w S s o [] B 4 0 I T R T RS
Consistency: To maintain comparability of information, unless otherwise stated, the data and
statistical methods in this report are presented in a consistent manner, which allows
for meaningful comparison over time.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The boundary of this report follows that of the annual report, covering
the money lending business, financial services business, securities
investment business, food and beverage business, alcoholic beverage
distribution and miscellaneous business and provision of children
education services in Hong Kong.

FEEDBACK

We value your thoughts and feedback regarding how we can improve
our reports and sustainability performance in the future. Please send us
your feedback at info@chinademeter.com.

BOARD STATEMENT

Food and beverage business is the Group’s core business, with the rest
being predominantly office-based in Hong Kong. Sound management
of ESG issues is crucial for the Group to continuously grow and
prosper in the future. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) bears
the overall responsibility of overseeing the Group’s sustainability
performance and regularly evaluating sustainability strategies, targets
and performance. The Board has reviewed and approved the report
for the integrity of the disclosures. To the best of its knowledge, this
report addresses all relevant material issues and fairly presents ESG
management approach and performance of the Group.

The ESG Working Group, consisting of senior management who
report to the Board on ESG issues, regularly holds meetings to suitably
evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues and
their corresponding risks and opportunities. By implementing proper
ESG management and integrating sustainable practices into daily
operations, we endeavour to improve our sustainability performance
and create long-term values to meet stakeholders’ expectations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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In the past few years, the Group has closely tracked the preventive
mandates issued by local governments and adjusted its internal
guidelines accordingly to prioritise the health of its staff members
and the broader community. Attributed to the Group’s dedication,
the Group has gone through the hard times of the pandemic. Yet, the
Group treated the pandemic as a valuable lesson as it highlighted the
equal importance of public health and economic development.

In 2023, the world has gradually resumed from the impacts of the
COVID-19 pandemic, entering the new normal. Anticipating the
normalisation of the COVID-19 virus, the Group aims to shift its
primary focus toward business development progressively. Despite
this, the Group is committed to closely monitoring the situation and
promptly adopting corresponding preventive measures to protect
its employees. Besides, the Group strives to enhance the hygienic
condition of the workplace and develop emergency plans to handle
future similar incidents in a better way.

In the drive to take sustainable development forward, we put in
efforts to strengthen our environmental management and ensure our
operations are in compliance with relevant laws and regulations. This
year, we have established environmental targets in various aspects for
ongoing review and improvement. Moreover, green office initiatives
have been adopted to minimise environmental impacts and create low-
carbon operations. To combat climate change, we have put in place
a climate change policy and strive to address issues associated with
climate change by taking adaptation and mitigation measures.

In financial operations, we attach great importance to protecting
private information and maintaining high ethical standards across
all our operations. A stringent quality control system has been
implemented to select qualified suppliers. We make every effort to
enhance operational excellence, shouldering responsibility to provide
quality products and services to our customers. Together with all our
stakeholders, China Demeter is dedicated to creating a sustainable
business and delivering great value to the society.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT ¥y #H 2 Ml

Stakeholder engagement is an essential process for enhancing 13 # 2 BLUZH& &5 W B B 1 M 50 &
transparency and understanding stakeholders’ needs and identifying i R DA Bk | v R B~ AL SRR R
potential ESG risks and opportunities. We engage with our internal and B S B R B3R o AR T R
external stakeholders including customers, employees, the community, B 1¥ 5 Tl 408 2 A BRLIA) B AT A
the government and investors through various communication (RAEFEF - ES - AL  BUF &R

channels, shown in the table below. HVEATILE) o

Stakeholders Concerned Topics Engagement Channels

& IoH {1 i R IE

Investors Economic performance . Annual reports, quarterly reports
Operational compliance and interim reports
Timely disclosure of relevant . Press releases
information . General meeting of shareholders
BREH REps LB o AR BRI PGS
BESH o BRI
T 05 9 5 A B R o BHUHSERE
Employees Talent management . Weekly staff meetings
Training and development . Complaints system
Compensation, rights and interests ~ * Employee activities
Occupational health and safety . Employee safety trainings
. Provide employees with safety
equipment
. Training and career development
& 5 ANA B B . HHEATER
B L % e o HBERHE
ot I A ) S i - HITFEH
TSR i R B 22 o EBZEET

o BiE BRI
o BERIRAJESERE

The Government

Anti-corruption

Business ethics

Operational compliance
Prevention of child labour and
forces labour

Workplace health and safety
Energy resources conservation
&5

[EESERr

BEASH

ik B, B T 5 1 55 T
ARG P f e I % 2
REIR K% R PR

. Compliance with applicable laws
and regulations

. Compliance reporting

. Use of clean energy
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Stakeholders Concerned Topics

Engagement Channels

F# [LRER- 3

Customers . Information security and privacy

. Customer satisfaction

. Health and safety of products

. Quality of products and services
HR o BEEEREEF

. KFWEE

o EREFEEL 2

o EMMIREER

W RE
. Company website
. Feedback from frontline employees

o ARRFEIH
. HIBRIEBRBER

Community . Community involvement
. Environmental compliance
FaR I IR

. BREAHN

. Support charity organisations

. XRFEEH®E

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

ESG issues that have significant impacts on the Group and
stakeholders are identified through materiality assessment. The
process of materiality assessment consists of four steps, including
identification, prioritisation, validation and review.

Identification
Based on the HKEX ESG Reporting Guide, we assessed a broad list

of ESG topics. In 2023, a total of 20 potential material topics were
identified and included in the assessment, covering different aspects.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Prioritisation

The Board of the Group was administered a questionnaire to determine
the importance of different ESG-related issues to the Group. All
material ESG topics were ranked into three levels, which are shown
below.

BRE e RERE ()

AEHEEGEZHERAE > DEEAR
[l BRIE - *L & S IR A B ] R AR 4R )
WE M - T ERNRE - g kE
RHED LT =8 -
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Emissions management Talent management Energy and resources management
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Greenhouse gas emissions Occupational health and safety Supply chain management
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Environmental compliance Training and development Health and safety of products
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Climate change Compensation, right and interests Quality of products and services
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Economic performance Prevention of child labour and forces labour ~ Customer satisfaction
7Y e e TR i 45 T EF WS
Community involvement Information security and privacy
I 2 B 5 B N BE L

Business ethics

[EE SN
Anti-corruption

E5

Operational compliance
BHEEH
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Validation and Review

The result of the materiality assessment has been validated and
approved by the Board of the Group. We regularly review the list of
material topics and identify gaps for improvement.

OUR PEOPLE

China Demeter strives to create an inclusive work environment that
nurtures a desirable work culture among its employees. We are an
equal opportunity employer, providing employees with the support and
encouragement they need to grow and prosper within our organisation.
We recognise and reward efforts to increase employees’ engagement
and productivity.

Employment

Employees Composition

As at 31 December 2023, we employed 166 full-time and 90 part-time
employees in Hong Kong. The male to female ratio in full-time staff

was 71:95, with the number of females being slightly higher than that
of males.

58 ki B 7 )

B RN A A5 R A I e
Al S AT o FAM I RE )2 Bl B K R
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SEHkE R > R BRI I SR
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e A B TR A A 55 ) A A - DL
& B TRM M B Al ) -

i 156
1 B #
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Employee Profile by Gender

Bz B T 0

N Male ™ Female
B g

Employee Profile by Age
%R 2 B T

H <3l m31-50 © >50
SBURLLT 31-508% >506% 0L E
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The majority of our employees are aged between 31 and 50, K8 B AR 31 25058 - 16
accounting for 54% of the entire workforce. All of the employees are 28 B T NB(954% - i A & B (L i &
located in Hong Kong. In terms of employee function, managerial ¥  7E1E BERAE 7 > & 2K B 54
staff and general employees account for 23% and 77% of the total, BT Al B TAEMN23%K%T77% © it

respectively. The Group’s employee turnover rate and new hire rate TR MR ALERE B KR K
were 64% and 52% in FY2023. The charts below show the distribution  #f A2 Al £ 64% 152% o &5 H
of turnover rate and new hire rate by gender and age. Fe I~ VR B AR S E 4 2 R 2R R
N &
Turnover & New Hire Rates by Gender Turnover & New Hire Rates by Age
Y| P Y TN S AR B 2 R B PO A Bk R
103%
63% 64% —

79%

62%  60%

MALE FEMALE <31 31-50 >50
i g < 31T 31-50 % >50 KL L
B Turnover Rate @ New Hire Rate B Turnover Rate @ New Hire Rate
PR AR PR AR
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Employees’ Rights and Welfare

We believe that employees are the most valuable assets of the
Company. We ensure individuals from different groups integrate and
feel equally involved, safe, and supported in all areas of the workplace.
We are committed to supporting all our employees to thrive and
develop their long-term careers at China Demeter. Therefore, we
offer competitive remuneration and benefits packages in addition to
statutory welfare, including allowances, insurance, and discounts to
suit different needs of individual employees.

Benefit
1 A1

Benefit type

i A

1 B 19 REFY K 75 7

WMEFBIRERAAFRRERNERE -
A R A AL A E B s > A
b A FE A BR BT BT A T 2B T S
BIRF - A LB o MBI
BT B TAEB R R A
M - R FRAMBR T 4Rk E AR A
Ah > IR LT 0 0 3 I AR R £
B ELEEEERG - ORBR BTN > DLW B
THAFEF K °

Criteria of entitlement

Sk 1 ¥ S

Allowances Overtime meal allowance For all office staffs, if they work beyond
the designated time

s TNBE R B R T AR R E R A R A = B T

Allowances Ordinary meal allowance For staffs involved in frontline food and
beverage operations

G 3 J B R FOR SRS R AR B T

Insurance Medical insurance For staffs who have completed
probationary period

730 HIRIRER SEME IR B T

Insurance Occupational Injury insurance, Mandatory For all staffs in accordance with legal

Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme requirements
73 TAG B~ B R AR A w3 RIFIEEER > frA AT

Paid leaves Annual leaves, maternity leaves, marriage

leaves, paternity leaves

For all staffs in accordance with legal
requirements

A Hi e fBE ko ER - ISR FFER RIFIEHEOR > IrA AT

Staff discounts Shopping discounts at the Group’s For staffs who have completed
restaurants probationary period

BTy T4 1 2 R P B ) B 4 SEME IR B T

Regular benefit packages
A1 P 1 28

All employees receive a handbook that clearly and comprehensively
stipulates policies regarding recruitment, promotion, compensation,
working hours, rest periods, dismissal, benefits, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and welfare measures in accordance
with relevant laws and regulations.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Diversity and Equal Opportunities

We recruit and select employees on the basis of merit, such as their
skills, experience or ability to perform the job, regardless of age, race,
gender, religion, family status or disability. We provide employees
with equal opportunities to be considered for training and development
based on their strengths and needs, and promote employees fairly
based on their contribution and performance.

Dismissal and Annual Leave

Employees with deficient performance are given a verbal warning
and a written warning to improve before notice of termination of
employment. Termination of work takes place after the notice period
stipulated in the contract. Alternately the employee is paid salary for
the notice period before dismissal. The duration of annual leave is
based on an employee’s experience level, which ranges from 7 to 23
days.

Employee Activities

The Group arranged various activities to bring employees closer to
the Company throughout the year, including festival gatherings and
birthday parties. During the Mid-Autumn Festival of 2023, moon cake
gift boxes were given to employees. The Company organised dinners
during the festive seasons, which enabled the Company’s management
team and employees to celebrate different festivals together and to
immerse themselves in a happy atmosphere. Birthday parties were
held to enhance the relationships among employees and promote an
engaging corporate culture. In addition, we provide our employees
with all kinds of snacks and drinks to enjoy during their rest time.

BRE e RERE ()
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Birthday party

A H BB

Free snacks and drinks

B2 AR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

We value the rights of our workers. The Group is cautious about
avoiding any prohibited labour practices, such as use of child or forced
labour. We assure compliance with applicable laws in our commercial
operations by setting up an employee identity verification system to
eliminate the risk of child abuse or forced labour. During the
recruitment process, the Human Resources Department thoroughly
examines the candidates’ identification cards and other pertinent
information to ensure that they are in accordance with employment
regulations. In case of any instance of child employment, the contract
will be terminated immediately and a rigorous investigation is
launched.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations' that had a significant impact on
the Group relating to employment and labour standards. Nor did we
identify any incidents relating to the use of child or forced labour.

Health and Safety

Providing a safe work environment has been our top priority to ensure
smooth business operations. The Group is committed to keeping the
workplace safe from any kind of hazards and work-related accidents
by complying with relevant labour and employment laws and
guidelines. We encourage employees to raise any recommendations,
suggestions and concerns on occupational health and safety or any
issues they are experiencing. In the meantime, we communicate with
contractors and suppliers to impose appropriate health and safety
measures for their employees. We have established health policies to
improve workplace safety. For instance, smoking is not allowed in the
workplace and alcohol or drug abuse is strictly prohibited.

We identify and eliminate potential risks by stipulating various safety
guidelines for our frontline staff involved in our food and restaurant
business. These guidelines stipulate measures for frontline staff to
follow and ensure safe operation of various equipment and apparatus
in kitchens and prevent potential dangers and hazards. The following
table summarizes some of the safety procedures.

! Please refer to the section headed “Laws and Regulations” for employment and
labour standards-related laws and regulations.
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BB | RO s ()

Use of equipment

e i 13

Meat slicing machine .

CIIEE

Safety measures
LA H it

Ensure electric power is cut off when cleaning the machine

Remove any obstacles near the machine before operation

Adjust thickness of slicing carefully and ensure the cutting stand is
fixed in position before cutting

Keep any objects, human body parts or clothes away from the cutting
area

Only authorised personnel who have received official training are
allowed to operate machines

il R 17 TR 8 Ry D1 B 7 U

(IR S S bl 2]

AFAM AR TR i SR BE > SI e DR D7) ) S 1) 7 A 8 0 7 AR T
o1

PRAFYIHE - B AR R e U [ S

HUA K6 1E X ol i 3 HE L B D5 T 4R AR A

Knife

AR

Always wear a kitchen gown and cut resistant gloves when using a
knife

Pay undivided attention when using a knife, stay focused and never
play with it

Use knives for cutting food only, not other purposes including
opening canned bottles or cutting ropes

Cut on firm and stable chopping boards and tables to prevent
accidents

(o6 ) B 5 e 27 2 8 I AR R S Bl 8 &

A 7 B E T - R Y1208 T A

JIE R AT Y > A5 R Ho A 8 (G145 4T B SR
TIHEAER)

E A2 [ ) Bl A S S Th0_E DD AR 1k B A e b
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Safety Training

With an aim to handle all kinds of potential emergency circumstances
in a proper and safe manner, the Group has established comprehensive
guidelines for frontline employees, covering both natural disasters
and crimes, besides fire, earthquake, robbery, and power shortage. For
example, when a fire occurs, employees should keep calm and inform
the administration department immediately. Under safe and feasible
conditions, employees should also cut off all power, remove any
flammable or explosive objects, initiate evacuation and try to put off
the flame with fire extinguishers.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations® that had a significant impact on the
Group relating to occupational health and safety. During the year,
there were no work-related fatalities. We had 4 lost days due to work
injury in FY2023. Please refer to the section headed “Performance
Data Summary” for number and rate of work-related fatalities that
occurred in each of the past three years including the reporting year
and lost days due to work injury.

Please refer to the section headed “Laws and Regulations” for Health and Safety-
related laws and regulations.
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Training and Development

China Demeter provides training and development opportunities to its
employees to ensure they fully understand how their roles fit into the
Company’s goals. The Group has actively invested in human capital
required to sustain business growth, providing exceptional possibilities
to all workers. External training programs are sourced to help workers
master the expertise as well as skills needed for their positions. Our
talented employees are motivated to expand with the Group thanks to
a well-established promotion mechanism and career development path.
Please refer to the section headed “Performance Data Summary” for
the percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
and the average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

9.0%
177.5

Percentage of trained staff to all staff
Total training hours of staff
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Training and Development

Communication and Feedback

Resources and Courses

Heol K 5% J

22 B I A

eV T T

Mandatory participation in certain
courses which have significant
impacts or cover major regulatory
updates for relevant employees
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Encourage employees to proactively
raise their training recommendations
or training courses that they consider
necessary

B B T TR 48 ] 1 5 2 e 2 A
FE A 38 15 17 A0 1 35 iR

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited

Provide resources of training and
courses to employees, including
directors, senior management, and
frontline staffs to enable them to fulfil
their job duties
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Environmental Management

Principally engaged in food and beverage business, the Group is
aware of the environmental impacts of generation of waste and
resource consumption by its operating activities. To minimise the
environmental impacts, we strive to continuously improve resource
usage efficiency, waste reduction and carbon emissions reduction in
our daily operations.

The Group’s other businesses have limited environmental impacts
due to the office-based nature. Nevertheless, we adopt green office
initiatives to achieve green and low-carbon operations. Energy
efficiency measures are adopted, and we strive to achieve paperless
operations.

To ensure continuous improvement in our environmental performance,
we have established environmental targets on Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG”) emissions, energy efficiency, waste and water use. To
ensure the effectiveness of these targets, they are reviewed annually
and updated when necessary. The Group’s environmental targets are
listed in the table below:

BRE e RERE ()
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Aspects Targets Base year Progress in 2023
HH HER RMEAEGy R AR
GHG Emissions Reduce 1% by 2026 2021 Increased by 10.6%
it == SR PR A TER TN 1% TERT A WIN0.6%
Electricity 10% usage of LED lights by 2026 2% usage of LED lights
EfE TR TINF ZHILEDREE KR E 2% W LED# ¥ B %
#10%
Waste Reduce 1% by 2026 2021 Increased by 111.2%
[ TR TREZHE A 1% SRR EI1.2%
Water Reduce 1% by 2026 2021 Decreased by 4.6%
K TR TNEZRTBD 1% TERCAAE BP4.6%

During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations® that had a significant impact on the
Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Please refer to the section headed “Laws and Regulations” for emissions-related
laws and regulations.
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Resources Consumption
Energy Consumption

Electricity and towngas are the major sources of energy we use.
In 2023, the Group’s energy consumption was 1,883,173 kWh of
electricity and 967,152 MJ of Towngas, all consumed mainly by
restaurants in Hong Kong. The energy use consumed was constant
when compared with last year.

Energy Consumption (GJ)

fEIREFE R (HMAEH)

B Electricity  ® Towngas
EH JEE AR
C!

The total energy consumption amounted to 7,746.58 GJ, mainly
attributed to the food and beverage business. The total consumption
intensity was approximately 0.05 GJ per thousand Hong Kong Dollars
revenue.
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B IR TR AR 0 E B RR YR o R
TR, AEBNRFEIHER S
1,883,173 F FLIRF & 77 [ 967,152 K £ HL U4
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Energy Consumption and Intensity
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Water HH kK

The total water consumption of the Group in 2023 was 27,196 tons, AEFE P —F = F W HKEE 5
all of which was consumed by existing restaurants, i.e. food and  27,196Mf » 2 b A EEEEFE > Bl &
beverage business. The intensity was 0.173 tons per thousand Hong e AJORLSERS © B B4 2y B T ool as
Kong Dollars revenue. During the year, the Company did not have any 0.173MF o 4F A > A28 w] A SR B A 7K IR
issues in sourcing water that was fit for the purpose. 5T S AT Ao ]

Water Consumption and Intensity

7K #E R
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mmmm Consumption B Intensity
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Packaging Materials ey 5y

A total of 4,034.5 kg (2022: 5,769.5kg) of packaging materials were — FAM 7E 7 P 465 B 1) 2L 15 48 48 L {0 2
used in our operations in Hong Kong restaurants. M R4,034.5F 50 (—F 4 ¢ 5,769.5T
50) e
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Emissions Hei
Waste JEFEY

The Group’s operations do not generate any hazardous waste. During AREE Y EHN WEEMAMAEEEE
the year, the Group generated a total of approximately 33.39 tons of ¥ o 4F A » A 45 8] L 2 A= 433 .39 M 4 &
non-hazardous waste, including 10.05 tons of general waste, 7.69 tons BEEEY) - B3510.05MF — MR EEEY) - 7.69
of food waste and 15.65 tons of waste oil. Of these, approximately W B R A 15.65ME BRI o H o £92.7%
2.7% (0.42 tons) of waste oil were collected by registered waste (0.42M) % ) F 457 F9L 8% 3 6 1 Vil 1m0 i 7
cooking oil collectors. The total non-hazardous waste intensity was [ i o M5 5% W) AR E 4 £40.00021
approximately 0.00021 tons per thousand Hong Kong Dollars revenue. WE R T eI R o A B PR O R
Please refer to the section headed “Performance Data Summary” for & 4% B BEACEIE - 752 B [ 3% BLBUPE
the types of emissions and the corresponding emissions data. B o

Non-hazardous Waste Produced (tonnes)

A E B ()

10.05
15.65

47%

7.69

B General Waste # Food Waste Waste Oil
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SR FEHE I T #10.02TF e A AL )
(ISOxJ) }23.89 T e A AL ¥ (INOx]) °

The consumption of towngas resulted in emissions of approximately
0.02 kg sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and 3.89 kg nitrogen oxides (“NOx”).

Air Emission (kg)
R (F3)

so 4T3
4
35
30
25
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15
1.0
i 0.02 0 0.02 0
2022 2023
- oy Sy
B NOx m SOx PM
REY mAElk R
Environment and Natural Resources Conservation BB K ARG IR E

A AR 4 R ot S OB SERS 2 TR TR
R - GRS ~ BRI - K XA
B o BAMIA H W AT BB
= > RBBREAL > W AR BE R
— R I RESE I -

The Group’s food and beverage business consumes a wide range of
natural resources, including electricity, fuel, water and packaging
materials. We implement green office practices and promote an
environment-friendly culture in our daily operations, and adopt
multiple energy saving measures at our restaurants.

Energy Water Paper
REUR i S AR
. Monitor consumption of . Install motion sensing induction Print on double sides

cooking oil in restaurants faucets T T ER
BRI B AR & % e I E UK HEBH *  Recycle ink cartridges and

. Turn off lights when not in . Turn off water faucets when consumed papers
office not in use (] i = S T ) il
ANTEH S E W BB AE I - B PAK BB Paperless meetings
Use electrical appliances with AL ek

Grade 1 energy label

i Fl — AR BB VR AR 3K TR A
Install air purifiers and maintain
room temperature at 25.5°C
ZARZERF S o AR
FPAERE R 2552

Install LED lights in offices
and restaurants

N T R B A L EDYE

Circulate meeting materials
through iPad to achieve
paperless working

i iPad 77 3% (525 B Wk b1 R
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B ol B AT LA
“zx——pgg 01



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B~ KRR T ()

Climate Change

The Group is aware of the impacts its operations have on the natural
environment and climate. In view of the increasing attention to
climate change, the Group has established a Climate Change Policy

Y 4

7 2% o] ] LSR5 ) B AR BR B S SRR B
B o BT A SR A A A v B T R
Eﬁﬁfjm  ALEEE il E ﬁm‘ﬁtﬂl%

for guiding the Group in combating climate change. Adaption and A3 35 74 48 8] JiE 35 S {6 “ﬂ: % BUR 5
mitigation measures are listed in the policy, which are applied to all B T 5 78 JE J yi 88 4 i Hﬁ IR
business activities. Measures listed in the policy are presented in the BTG H) o 3% BUR I A i 5 R T
graph below: :
Mitigation Adaptation
g i

62

Establishing carbon reduction targets and
implementing carbon reduction measures

R B A S0 i 9k £ e

Adopting energy efficiency practices, such as the
use of LED lights

PATEIREEHS > 04N I LED#&

Exploring opportunities for the use of renewable
energy

B4 W] P AR RE VR RO B A

Educating its employees to minimise carbon

emissions
HE B T PEK

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Identifying and assessing climate-related risks and
opportunities

i 1) % A A SR A A ) e g S A4

Incorporating climate-related risks into the Group’s
risk management system

1% SR A I L e Ay A A 2 B 1 e A B AR A
Minimising climate-related impacts and exploring
opportunities

ek R SR A ] 572 B0 10 5% 40



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

The Group’s operations generate GHG emissions indirectly also, from
purchased electricity and the use of gas bought from Towngas for
restaurants in Hong Kong.

In 2023, total GHG emissions amounted to 1,249.85 tons of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e”), of which, direct emissions (Scope I)
and indirect emissions (Scope II) were 51.36 tCO,e and 1,198.49
tCO e respectively. The Scope I emissions were stable compared
with last year. Emission intensity was computed as 0.0080 tCO,e per
thousand Hong Kong Dollars revenue. To reduce Scope 2 emissions
from purchased electricity consumption which accounts for 99% of the
total GHG emissions, we continue to adopt energy saving and energy
efficiency measures. For more details, please refer to the section
headed “Environment and Natural Resources Conservation”.

BRE e RERE ()
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Scope 1 (Unit: tCO,e)

Scope 2 (Unit: tCO,e)

Intensity (per thousand Hong Kong
Dollars revenue

MR E )
DM AR )
W (B W T oo licad)

2023 2022

G- Y B S
51.36 62.52
1,198.49 1,154.08
0.0080 0.0086

We are committed to reducing our GHG emissions by 1% before
2026 with a 2021 baseline. To minimise GHG emissions from energy
use, we are committed to achieving a 10% usage of LED lights, and
implementing various energy saving measures. Guidelines for actions
to be taken during emergency situations under extreme weather
conditions are clearly listed in the Staff Handbook.

The Group has been identifying, evaluating and addressing its
exposures to environmental risks on a continuous basis. By breaking
down the impacts of the Group’s businesses, we believe that GHG
emissions from the purchased electricity remain to be its top priority
environmental concerns.

ARG AL T ZNEZ AT B E R
B PR S L R AR B A D
1% 7% A BE U 11 6 7 THT A i = S B D
R > AN K A LEDRS & B 42 e 2
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ST S EIE 5 R EE R BT
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G B R AW AT AN D R S BR 5 R
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w8 2% I TR ) T E A T SRR B TS
T2 HL A 18 5075 8 A BRI ) A
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

Suppliers and contractors are evaluated and selected based on their
ability to demonstrate sustainable practices, such as product quality
and adherence to environmental and safety standards. Suppliers who
are ISO 9001, ISO 14001, and OHSAS 18001 certified get priority.
During the year, the Group had 124 suppliers, all of which were in
Hong Kong.

Supplier investigation and assessment are overseen by the Procurement
Department and Supplier Investigating Team. Those who fail to meet
our stringent requirements are rejected and removed from our list of
suppliers, as indicated below.

BHEEY
13t W g 4 P

AP AR 4 11k B R R B B Y T R A R R
AE 1 (L 46  E B DL SOBSTFIR IS A & 2
o E )15 L) AT REAG PR o M St
2 A HRISO 9001 ~ ISO 14001 &ZOHSAS
18001 FEFE R BLIER o F N > ALEEA A
1242 LFER > 2O FUS -

Ak B PR A A S A E R S % At T P R
/N BB o AT G TR B A% ZER A it
RS PR 4 5 4 IO A 18 R 1 4 B b B
WS ©

Background check Investigation Evaluation
GE Y E i A G
All suppliers will be initially They are then chosen further . An annual evaluation is carried

screened based on their
background information.

MR 7 G2 3 A
JRE T A T i 28 o

if they meet several criteria, out to evaluate the performance

including material and product of the providers.

TRARAEAT — URRTAG LA RE A5 43
JRE 7R 1Y R B o

quality, as well as equipment
reliability.

fikd i 2 AR R 7 i L B DA K
ST SEPESE A TARE S .
HAR MG B HARE— P PRI -

Those who do not meet our high
conditions are disqualified and
removed from our supplier list.
ANKE B AN R R U
A SO A 3 7 42 A e
purchases if necessary. R e

FAM AT RE & BORERABLER & LA

il A M ) (i

) o

We may request samples to
confirm the quality of our

We strive to identify and evaluate risks of the supply chain. To
mitigate the environmental and social risk of the supply chain,
suppliers willing to participate in environmental protection activities
and community activities are considered first. We search the news
media to verify their ESG-related activities.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Intellectual Property Rights

During the year, the Group complied with all laws and regulations
regarding intellectual property (“IP”) rights including but not limited
to the Trade Marks Ordinance, Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, Patents Ordinance, Chapter 514 of the Laws of Hong Kong
and Copyright Ordinance, Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
It reminds employees to respect IP rights of third parties. Proper
authorization shall be obtained before using any IP.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises and values the high level of confidence its
customers have in its brand. As a result, we prioritise client satisfaction
and strive for perfection in all aspects of our business. We provide
high-quality products and services to ensure that our clients have the
most satisfying experience when they visit one of our restaurants.
During the year, we received 5 complaints, which is 12 less than last
year’s record, with 2 and 3 complaints relating to restaurant products
and services, respectively. The Group has not encountered product
recalls due to health and safety reasons.

Food and Beverage Operation

We aspire to maintain the highest standard in dining services as a food
and beverage-focused company. In our restaurants, a set of detailed
operating procedures and a defined labour division are closely adhered
to. A manager is responsible for overseeing the overall operations of
restaurant branches and discharging duties such as conducting regular
or non-regular branch inspections, examining financial statements, and
awarding and penalising employees based on performance, using a
top-down approach to restaurant management.

We expect every employee, from frontline service providers to
restaurant managers, to take responsibility for maintaining a smooth
and responsible operation through teamwork. We are taking extra
precautions to ensure that environmental hygiene and food safety are
maintained, ensuring that our customers have a clean, pleasant, and
comfortable dining experience.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Opening of restaurant

B R PR 0

Check the quality and use-by dates of food
WA TYER RRE B

Prepare all ingredients and packaging materials
MG BT A B S AR

Conduct thorough cleaning to ensure hygiene

WUEIE & > fefRegLE

Restaurant operation

B BEE

Report any defects in raw ingredients and the reasons to management
i) 5 2L o5 R R ) AT A i B R B A

Separate raw and cooked food properly

HE I HAEREY

Maintain high alertness and a safety record of the restaurants

R e T (R A R SR

Restaurant closure

RGBS

Perform stock-taking and examine the expiry dates and stock of raw ingredients to safeguard service quality
AEAT MR B S A A JEURDRL A A RO A A > LARE R R 55 &

Save unused materials properly to avoid contamination

ZERAFRA T BORTRL > G755

Disinfect every part of the restaurant

S BB ) A A VR AT TH 7

Check that all equipment function properly for the next day of business

WA BT A S e IR WA > DU H AR B S

Stock Management 7 P

The quality of raw materials and other food items used is critical in {87 F B J5UA4 L A0 HC A £ 5 0 BT & 3608 40
exquisite cuisine. Therefore, it’s critical to handle stock properly. The MEBZHEE o B> 25 EHEFEA
methods for receiving and inspecting stock are outlined in our stock 2 B E % o FRAM Y B A7 A BEBUR 51 2
management policy, in order to ensure the quality of raw materials and ~ WSCFIAg A5 B A7 1Y 7 5 > DAEE £R B b4 )Y
other ingredients. Only products that satisfy our criteria are accepted, RN A By o AR S AT G FRAM AR UE
and those that do not are rejected. Reasons for rejection are required to EE G FERAFEE - LB TFE
be explained to inform supervisors as soon as possible. T LASLRA - N RSP A bR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

To avoid disruption of routine operations, a thorough inspection and
examination of purchased raw materials are required. Employees are
expected to double-check the number and type of products purchased
against the purchase records. They should also be aware of each item’s
packing requirements and storage terms. Regular stock-taking, on the
other hand, is carried out to ensure sufficient supply of materials.

Pleasant Customer Experience

Our dedication to accomplishing the objectives of “101% customer
satisfaction” implies constant improvement of the customer
experience. Throughout the eating experience, we are committed to
meeting their needs wherever possible. We educate our employees
that customer service is more than just putting a smile on their faces;
it’s about striving for excellence in every part of the experience, from
maintaining a pleasant environment to serving meals on time and
accurately so that customers feel well taken care of. Self-assessments,
including non-regular checks, are undertaken at restaurants and in the
Operations Department to truly understand our performance.

We make every effort to meet our customers’ needs. We take their
concerns and opinions seriously in the event of a disagreement. To
settle and resolve complaints, a customer-centric strategy is used, as
shown below.
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1. Listen 2.  Apologise 3. Rectification 4.  Gratefulness
I 38 R #1E &

. Try to understand . Do not judge right or Take corrective . Appreciate customers’
customers from their wrong actions immediately opinions
perspective 1) iy 3 S7 R ER BCHCE A e % P A
Bl & F A E
THRER

. Do not interrupt
when customers
are expressing their
concerns
HEFRZEACH
BERE - AITERR
F

B < AR A B )
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Following customers feedback, we encourage frontline workers of
restaurants to offer additional information about the matter. This
allows us to determine if there is any miscommunication between
customers and employees. If a particular case is reported, we conduct
an inquiry and publish a Customer Service Report to clarify the
situation. Following that, we correct the situation depending on the
findings of the investigation.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance of
relevant laws and regulations* that had a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

Information and Data Privacy

The Group is committed to safeguarding privacy of its own and
stakeholders’ information and data. To that purpose, we have
established standards to govern employee behaviour in this area. It
is forbidden to divulge the Group’s proprietary information without
permission, including trade secrets, market strategy, and customer and
employee personal information.

Employees must return all materials and equipment holding
proprietary information of the Group upon cessation of employment,
and they must not continue to deploy those sensitive materials,
including technical and commercial secrets, after leaving their roles.

N Please refer to the section headed “Laws and Regulations” for Product
Responsibility-related laws and regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Anti-corruption

To maintain a fair, ethical and efficient working environment, the
Group has abided by the business ethics, upheld the principles of
honesty and dedication, fair competition, integrity management
and complied with the local laws and regulations relating to anti-
corruption and bribery. Our Employee Handbook contains a detailed
code of conduct that forbids any sort of corruption. We give anti-
corruption and anti-money laundering training to concerned employees
throughout the year.

BRE e RERE ()
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Solicit or accept
advantages

I Z A

Violate non-disclosure
agreement

Y A

Improper handling of
insider information

AR N R R

Accept an award or gift with
economic value without prior
permission from the Group
RIEALEF Ll > %
A 758 {8 (1) 5 ) 5 )

Fail to declare a case where

family members hold a stock or
engage in business relationship
that is competitive to the Group

Disclose without permission
the Group’s confidential
information including trade
secrets, market strategy as well
as customer and employees
personal details

R AR T 45 B A A ) AR
B WIS - T
SV &S ak = MW UE PN
B

Sell or buy listed securities of
the Group or persuade others to
do so if the employee possesses
insider information or sensitive
information of the Group that is
not yet disclosed to public

B TAE S 42 AR 45 [ v R 3 4
R ) P R R R
AREOLT - S SR A
VB F9 T e B At A

KA R RN R A R
Bl B SR I A T BRAR

AT

Y SE 5 B 1 DL
Prohibited Corruptive Behaviours
BN AT 2%
Training

The Group also conducts programs for imparting integrity education
on a regular basis. During the year, the Group provided anti-corruption
and anti-bribery integrity trainings for staff. We encouraged our
directors and employees to attend the online forums organised by Hong
Kong Company Registry about Anti-Money Laundering Training.
The trainings covered the information of anti-money laundering
regulations, anti-terrorist financing techniques, and the reporting of
suspicious transactions. And we believe a clean working environment
can be created by continuously building and strengthening an internal
integrity culture.
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Whistleblowing

Employees are responsible for informing the Human Resources
Department or their managers of any suspicious or known
misbehaviour on part of any colleague. Email, textual communication,
and face-to-face meetings are all viable options. The Group responds
to reported cases in a timely and fair manner.

Investigation

Those who violate the code of conduct may face disciplinary action,
which may include an oral warning, a written warning, or termination
of employment, depending on the severity of the offense. Cases
involving criminal offenses are sent to law enforcement agencies,
including the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC),
for cases that violate the Bribery Prevention Ordinance.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations® relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering
that had a major impact on the Group during the year. There was no
concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the
Group or its employees within the year.

2 Please refer to the section headed “Laws and Regulations” for Anti-corruption-

related laws and regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

COMMUNITY
Community Investment

We take our social responsibilities toward the community where
we operate seriously. The Group is committed to promoting and
participating in community involvement and other social contribution
activities. As such, we proactively engage in various sponsorship and
fundraising initiatives to contribute to those in need. This year, the
total donation to charitable organisations amounted to HK$257,350,
of which HK$39,350 went to Yan Oi Tong Limited, HK$12,000 went
to HK Youth Cultural & Arts Competitions Committee, HK$6,000
went to Hong Kong Children Foundation and HK$200,000 went to
The HKSAR Customs Yes Programme. Through tangible donations of
funds and goods, we have infused warmth and strength into charitable
endeavours, leaving a lasting impact on society. This unwavering
dedication showcases our sense of corporate responsibility, courage in
taking actions, compassion and unwavering commitment to making a
significant difference. In the future, we will continue to evaluate and
fine-tune our efforts to promote positive ideals in society.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Considering all ESG aspects, the Group and its subsidiaries have
established and implemented relevant internal policies and have
designated specific departments to ensure that business operations
adhere to all applicable laws and regulations. The list of applicable

laws and regulations is as follows:
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Aspect Laws and Regulations Section
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Laws and Regulations Section
B R A G
Employment Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong Our People
i i s CHE A e 1) MBI A&
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance in Hong
Kong
s (i Bl E )
Sex Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong
v CIE AR A 9]
Disability Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong
7 U B AL 1)
Health and Safety Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and Our People
filt JE B 22 & subsidiary regulations in Hong Kong EM A B
7 s Rk S 22 2 B Mt R ) % o I i 191
Labour Standards Employment of Children Regulations in Hong Kong Our People
5 TAp ] s g 5 L)) M A&

Product Responsibility
7E i B AE

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong

75 IR BB (FARS) W)

Operating Practices

BERY

Anti-corruption

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong

Operating Practices

I §-¢G] v B 1 B R R 1) BEE
2023 2022 2021
Social Performance Fin o) —E2 = TR T TE T4
Total Headcount PN 256 250 302
By Employment Type TR A R Y 1 70
Full-time 3 166 185 169
Part-time FHeEH 90 65 133
By Geographical Distribution iz [ 15853 A
(full-time) (22 H%)
Hong Kong U 166 250 152
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2023 2022 2021
Social Performance 1 F B = —E TR A
Singapore Hm s = - 17
By Age T AF i
<31 3IRLLT 34 44 44
31-50 31K 2505 90 97 94
>50 50k KA £ 42 44 31
By Gender Foe
Male H 1k 71 85 79
Female Ltk 95 100 90
By Education Level B FKF
Bachelor’s degree or above BE DL F B 40 41 44
Below bachelor’s degree B2 UTEE 126 144 125
By Employee Category PR AR AL &) 4y
Management G 39 36 47
General staff —E T 127 149 122
Employees’ Turnover Rate 1@ B Wi k% 64% 112% 76%
By Geographical Distribution 2 [ 35800 A
Hong Kong s 64% 114% 76%
Singapore Ik S 100% 82%
Eoge S AE
<31 3L 103% 111% 107%
31-50 31K 2 505K 50% 93% 61%
>50 50 LA 62% 157% 81%
By Gender Fe Rl
Male FtE 63% 145% 91%
Female Ltk 64% 85% 63%
Employees’ New Hire Rate @ B ARk 52% 121% 121%
By Geographical Distribution Fiz 158 358 43 i
Hong Kong ik 52% 121% 128%
Singapore ik - - 59%
By Age TR A i
<31 31T 79% 123% 164%
31-50 315% 5055k 39% 95% 100%
epsrOl 73
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2023 2022 2021
Social Performance B e - S ' A
>50 505 LA £ 60% 177% 123%
By Gender T
Male F ik 46 % 152% 127%
Female Ergis 57 % 95% 116%
Performance of Health and Safety {8 5 ¥l % 4 R Bl
Work-related accidents TAGHH 2 5 1
Work-related injuries T 2 5 1
Lost days due to work-related P CAG SR H ¥
incidents 4 241 1
Work-related fatalities AR AN 3 0 0 0
Percentage of Trained Employee 323l B & 4 tb(%)
(%)
By Gender Tl
Male FtE 12.7% 5.9% 2.5%
Female otk 6.3% 4.0% 3.3%
By Employee Category 22 A1 R HT 5 1 70
Management E g 10.3% 8.3% 4.3%
General Staff —fET 8.7% 4.0% 2.5%
Average Training Hours (Hours) - 2 15 0 R B (/N )
By Gender i R
Male H 1k 1.80 1.37 0.15
Female Ltk 0.52 0.70 0.23
By Employee Category 22 A1 R HT B 1 70
Management gl 1.96 1.17 0.24
General Staff —fAET 0.80 0.97 0.17
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2023 2022 2021
Social Performance e RB —E2= S TR T A
Number of Suppliers e B H 124 120 142
Hong Kong s 124 120 109
Other Regions At b [ - - 33
Community Investment kI 4%
Donation (HKD) TE 154 (756 257,350 80,700 330,740
Total Energy Consumption (GJ)  GEURTH £ 48 & (35 £ H.) 7,746.58 7,687.95 9,963.58
Energy intensity (GJ/°000 HK$ REVR (S H i
revenue) AT (&) 0.05 0.05 0.06
Electricity (kWh) T (TR 1,883,173 1,808,515 2,219,777.21
Gasoline TR = = =
Towngas (MJ) MR OREEH) 967,152 1,177,296 1,954,712
LPG (M) WAL A MR R EH) - - 17,672.5
Tap water (tonnes) H 3e 7K (W) 27,196.00 25,059.00 28,512.48
Water intensity (tonnes/’000 HK$ K% JE (M B9 W W T T
revenue) 5 %) 0.173 0.177 0.161
Emissions HEiic
Air Pollutant SRAG G
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) (kg) fit &AL ¥ (SOx) (T 72) 0.02 0.02 0.03
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) (kg) RAALYI(NOX) (T 7)) 3.89 473 6.46
Particulate Matters (PM) (kg) R (PM) (F-72) = - -
Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2= R P
GHG Emissions (tCO,e) 1% S B PR (M 4
etk & &) 1,249.85 1,216.60 1,129.72
e Ceam 15
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2023 2022 2021
Social Performance B e - S ' A
GHG intensity (tCO,e/"000 HK$ 1 2 SR 2
revenue) (e — A L hrE =
T T ool R 0.0080 0.0086 0.006
Scope I (tCO,e) [ — (M — LR E ) 51.36 62.52 16.24
Scope II (tCO,e) i B — (i — SR AL
) 1,198.49 1,154.08 1,113.48
Waste BE Y]
Hazardous waste (tonnes) HE R Y (M) - - -
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) 40 8% 5 ) (M) 33.39 20.29 15.81
Non-hazardous waste intensity EE R R
(tonnes/’000 HK$ revenue) (Mg, ¥ W T e i 4 0.00021 0.00014 0.00009
Packaging Material MR
Plastic materials (HKD) (Note (i)) @%Hﬂéﬁ¥%&m 137,000.00  221,426.90  372,089.90
Paper box (HKD) (Note (i)) (5 W) (B 3EG)) N/A N/A 105,158.00
Plastic materials (kg) BRLA L (T 5) 4,034.5 5,769.50  N/A#E
Paper (boxes) “ER (3H) 25 35 30
Note: Mtk -
This document follows the best practices prevalent in corporate reporting in compliance A SO IR A WS 22 5 T FE 5| > SR ARSI

with guidelines of HKEX. Computation of the GHG footprint is based on the Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) for Scope 1 and 2.

Calculation standards and methodologies for carbon emissions:

. “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purpose) in
Hong Kong” published by the Environmental Protection Department (EPD) of
Hong Kong Government

The sources of published emission factors for reporting of carbon emissions are:

. Sustainability reports of China Light and Power (CLP), Hong Kong Electric
Company and Hong Kong and China Gas Company

(1) Due to limitation in data collection, the data for paper box and plastic materials
was in HKD in 2021. The data for paper box in HKD in 2021 was related to the
food and beverage business in Singapore which was disposed in January 2022.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRE e RERE ()

HKEX ESG CONTENT INDEX TR G BN - L8 RE R A
=35l
KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
i S22 S AR TGRS -~ g RERMRIINE Tk
A. Environmental
A, BN
Aspect Al Emissions
JE A1 e

General disclosure

— B R

Information on:
A B B R Sl R B PR > K K R RS
HEREEBEEYNEESN

a) the policies; and

a) UK K&

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

b) AN EEAT A TR R B HE B R R
IR

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Environmental Management,
Laws and Regulations

BRIGAE TR ~ I AR

KPI Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. | Emissions, Performance Data
B SR TEALLL PR R I 45 B PECEE - Summary
PEnty ~ RBIBIE R

KPT A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) | Climate Change
B SR TEAL2 greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where | FfE5E (L

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

L AT 1) % i O D 3 (o [ 2) T 5 SR A P

B (LAMERT 5 B (A ) ) BEE (I DA g R LA

BRI o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, | Waste
B A TEALS where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | BEHY)

production volume, per facility).
v 7 A A B ) (LA MA R ) S (7 1 ) B (
DU B By - ISR o

R 4 B A L
- 17



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B~ KRR T ()

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
B St S he TR 5P BREE - & R REERII8E R ik

A. Environmental

A, BE

KPI Al14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | Waste

BB AIETEALA and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | BEHE)

production volume, per facility).
i E A 4 5 JB S ) AR R (LA MR B R (N )
JE (DA B A BTG o

KPI ALS
B AUIAERALS

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

2 5% A B4 BE s B AR A 2 BB B R BT BRI B 2D
5‘%% o

Environmental Management

R P

Environment and Natural
Resources Conservation

BT K K IR B IR

KPI AL.6
Bl S BUMAE IR ALG

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

it pR A R eE R O DAl
SE R AR B E R K BB B R AT BRI 2
B o

Waste, Environmental

Management
JEAEY) ~ BB B

Aspect A2 Use of Resources
JE i A2 U5 B

General disclosure

— B

Policies on efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

A R B IR (LS REIR ~ K B H A A ) Y B
% o

Resources Consumption

KPI A2.1
B S TR A2 1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in *000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

Fi AN B o3 1) O I SR AR TR (IR SR
) SRR B (DA T8 T B0 IRe 50 ) B B (B DA A
AL - GTRIR) -

Energy Consumption

KPI A2.2
B AR IR A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
ROFEIK B I B (N LA B LAY B TE R R
H) o

Water, Performance Data
Summary

IRE ~ REVHIER

KPI A2.3
B AR A3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

il 5% e B REURE T % B AR B B B H BRI R
B 25 B o

Environmental Management,
Environment and Natural
Resources Conservation

RGEM - ME R RARER

R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRE e RERE ()

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
LE ey TR BRI - dh & AR |58 E L T

A. Environmental

A, BE

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing | Water, Environmental

B BUIRIEA2.4

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s)
set and steps taken to achieve them.

20 AE L SR BBO K R R AEAT B~ R Y
K H AR K 5 BB E AR B BRI A5 B o

Management

KB ~ BRI A

KPI A2.5
bR BULIE IR A5

Total packaging materials used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

SR P B ARG AR R (DL MR ) B (i
FE A A LA AL o

Packaging Materials,
Performance Data Summary

B RBIBIE R

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
JETHA3 BB R R REW

General disclosure

— ek R

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources.
AR B AT N SETBRIE I K IR R 1 RS 2B I
% o

Environmental and Natural
Resources Conservation

BRI H R E IR

KPI A3.1
] SR UM AR 1R A 1

Description of significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions

Environmental and Natural
Resources Conservation

taken to manage them. BB I F AR B IR AR
P EBE BB IR IE R RA BRI E R R LE
PRIUE BLA B 52 BT )
Aspect A4 Climate Change
J& i A4 Rk
General disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant | Climate Change
— el = climate-related issues which have impacted, and Rl
those which may impact, the issuer.
i ) e G 3 © K8 e w] RE & B AT N A AR R B E
R SRAGAH B 2 EL R BUR -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues | Climate Change
PSR TEALL which have impacted, and those which may impact, | &5 (b

the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
fhit 8 B v RE 3 84T A A5 B B OSRA
MBS E > KA B EE I RIUNATE)

i 4 b 43 A R ]
TR AR 79




Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
B St S he TR 5P BREE - & R REERII8E sk

B. Social

B. #®&

Aspect B1 Employment

J& i B1 D

General disclosure

— MR

Information on:

A BH I I S AR~ RIS R B - TAERRE - R
- PERE - Zoolk > R DL R AR K
fEAAY

(a) the policies; and

(a) BUK; K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

(b) RESF AT AA EOR G B 00 A B I R
1 FR) ERE o

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

Employees’ Rights and
Welfare, Diversity and
Equal Opportunities,
Dismissal and Annual Leave
Laws and Regulations

1 B A HEAM L2 A8 A
EFH WSS 3ol
AR FIAEAR ~ LM Bk R

KPIBI.1
BB B

Total workforce by gender, employment type
(for example, full- or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

FEPER ~ R R (B R R AR AR BRI K
ol 3 o3 (1 B AR -

Employees Composition,
Performance Data Summary

i B ALK ~ R B

KPIB1.2
B SR B 1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

FEVER ~ AR U A B b I ) 20 1) AR B SRR o

Employees Composition,
Performance Data Summary

1 B AL ~ R BIBUR 2
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
LE ey TR BRI - dh & AR |58 E sk

B. Social

B. #t®&

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

J& i B2 it e S 4 4

General disclosure

— e R

Information on:
AR 2 TAEBREE K AR BE (R B & ik M fa
E

(a) the policies; and

(@) BUK; K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

(b) RESF R EEAT ANA E RS B0 B I S
1B R -

relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

Health and Safety, Laws and
Regulations

R B2 4 ~ IR BGERL

KPI B2.1
B S AR A B 2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the reporting
year.

K = AR (RLAE O AR BB AR R T ey AR
HE .

Performance Data Summary

KB BRI =

KPI B2.2 Lost day due to work injury. Health and Safety, Performance
BH S AR 1 B2.2 A LR A TAEH & - Data Summary

fl B2 2 - RBIMIET =
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety | Health and Safety
B S R 1EB2.3 measures adopted, and how they are implemented | faEEL% 4>

and monitored.
200 T B A0 1) ok 3 fk R B2 A4 i > DA SO BE S
7RI -

B 2 & e A PR A W)
TR AR 81
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KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
B St S he TR 5P BREE - & R REERII8E sk

B. Social

B. #®&

Aspect B3 Development and Training

J& B3 B I

General disclosure

— MR

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of

Training and Development

Bl B gk

training activities.
A B B2 0T BB AT A I TR Rk % RE Y
H oo R EEINTEH)

KPI B3.1
BR S BUE BRB3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and | Training and Development,

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Performance Data Summary

management). Brl B g e~ RBVBIEHE

TP R B AR B3R () v A B - b AR B
J&) & 73 B 32 I 8 B o L e

KPI B3.2
B BUE 1B3.2

The average training hours completed per employee | Training and Development,

by gender and employee category.
TR B AR B 38 0 04 45 44 0 B 58 U WY S
bl

Performance Data Summary

Bl R R BB

Aspect B4 Labour Standards
J& i B4 55 THER
General disclosure Information on: Prevention of Child and
— B BR A BBy 1E = R 5 25 TR Forced Labour,
Laws and Regulations
(a) the policies; and B 1F 2 T % 5 i 25 1
(@) BUK; & EELIER
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
(b) ST HEEAT AN A R BN BE A
1 E) ERE
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | Prevention of Child and
B S A A A 1E B4 1 practices to avoid child and forced labour. Forced Labour
i 220 A ot 8 AR 4] 1) S it DA Ak S B T R KR I 45 | B Ik EE D RO A5 T
T o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices | Prevention of Child and
B S AR 1 B4 .2 when discovered. Forced Labour

it 7 3% IR 5% T Bk o S 1091 i BRI AP R By 1k 28 T % 58 il 55 T

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
LE ey TR BRI - dh & AR |58 E sk

B. Social

B. #t®&

Aspect BS Supply Chain Management

J& i BS 3% W G 4 B

General disclosure

— e R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain.

B T B BRI R AL AR ) BOR

Supply Chain Management
M P B

KPI B5.1
B B HEBS.

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

e I B oy g LRER RH -

Supply Chain Management,
Performance Data Summary

BURE AT B - R B 2

KPI B5.2
[l SR AU A6 FRB 5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are
being implemented and how they are implemented
and monitored.

it A7 I PR O R4~ AT A BRI AR
A OEER B E > DL R BE B BT R BT
ik o

Supply Chain Management
A e S 4 7

KPI B5.3
[l S8 U A 1 BS 3

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
il 2t 75y o e S BRI K g e P RO AL
AR AR BT S BT -

Supply Chain Management
R g A

KPI B5.4
B S S TR A BS .4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

i 2t 7 R I 7 I 2 o 22 P BROR 2 ot S IS e
B > LR AR B AT 2 BT i

Supply Chain Management
At e A 3

B ol B AT LA
Yol R
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KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
B St S he TR 5P BREE - & R REERII8E sk

B. Social

B. #®&

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

J& i B6 B i B AL

General disclosure

— MR

Information on:
A R P B AR AR A fe R L A
Y GNESCAYSE P aRrN

i

JE R

(a) the policies; and

(@) BUK K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

(b) ESFREAT NA EH R BN BIE B
BB &R o

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

Product Responsibility
FE i AT

KPI B6.1
BR #E BE T B6. 1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped to recalls
for safety and health reasons.

B B L 2K i AR R 2 2 B R B o i
[\l A9 43 L o

Product Responsibility
7 i BAE

KPI B6.2
S R A B6.2

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

W B ) 7 i % A 5 R B 5 T 19 B0 DL % A ]
H o

Product Responsibility
7 i BAE

KPI B6.3
S AR 1 B6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

i 2t B e i R I R ik 2 WA T 1 L £

Our trademarks are registered
under the Trade Marks
Ordinance (Chapter 559) and
the Trade Marks Rules
(Chapter 559A) for territorial
protection

FRAM Fr P A gl b B AR
AR5 T AR 191 (B 5595 S
PR B (R S S9A T )1 it

KPI B6.4
B S S A TE A B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

Mk R AR B B IR o

Product Responsibility
JE b BAE

8 4 China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

LE ey TR BRI - dh & AR |58 E L T

B. Social

B. #t®&

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and | Product Responsibility

B AR EB6.5

privacy policies and how they are implemented and
monitored.

Tl T 2 2 BRI S FARR BOR - LA A B AT
LS5 -

7 i FAT

Aspect B7

Anti-corruption

JE BT

R B 5

General disclosure

— P

Information on:

A BB LS ~ BIR ~ RETE VR R -

(a) the policies; and

(@) BUK K

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

(b) RESF R EEAT A A E R B0 B I S
IR

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

Anti-corruption, Laws and
Regulations

BTG~ B RIER

KPI B7.1
BRSBTS BT

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

TS TR 3 B AT N BCH R B 42 I 3 45 19 2095 A
AA AT B R R A R o

Anti-corruption
&5

KPI B7.2
B S TR BT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

fit 2t By SR 18 i S SRR T > LA R BT M A
Tk o

Anti-corruption
[E5

KPI B7.3
B SR AR 1B 7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

il 1) # 2 X B TR PR BT Bl

Anti-corruption
&5

B ol B AT LA
Yol 1



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

B~ KRR T ()

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
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B. Social

B. #®&

Aspect B8 Community Investment

J& i B8 A I

General disclosure

— MR

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

DAL [ 2 BUAR T M AT N Pl E A o R S 0 T
PRICZETRS I B & % B8 AL 15 4 1Y BOR

Community Investment

RIS <y

KPI BS.1
BRSO B8

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

HEERMERMAT - BEFEE - HLEK
fapl ~ ik - MH) -

Community Investment

NITE S <y

KPI BS.2
B S A TR A2 B2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

T ST 0 5 B9 R (A < B8 R ) o

Community Investment

RIS <y

8 6 China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 15 November 2016 and redesignated to
a non-executive Director from 4 October 2021 to 4 January 2023,
and was redesignated from a non-executive Director to an executive
Director with effect from 5 January 2023. He has been appointed as
the Chairman of the Board, with effect from 14 June 2019. Mr. Ng
Man Chun Paul was also the chief executive of the Company from
15 November 2016 to 1 December 2020. Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul
obtained a Bachelor of Science from Columbia University, New York,
the United States of America in May 1993. Prior to joining the Group,
he has worked in various international investment banks and securities
firms and is experienced in the area of finance and investments.
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul is (i) a cousin of Mr. Ng Ting Ho, an
executive Director; and (ii) a cousin of Mr. Ng Ting Kit, a controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Ng Ting Ho (“Mr. Ng”), aged 39, was appointed as an executive
Director on 5 February 2016, re-designated as a non-executive
Director on 16 June 2017 and was redesignated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director with effect from 3 July 2018. He
has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 1 December 2020. He is experienced in banking
and finance, and previously worked in various banks and financial
institutions. He is also a director of the subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Ng obtained his Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Financial
Economics Degree from the University of New South Wales in
2008. Thereafter, Mr. Ng further completed his Master of Science in
Financial Mathematics Degree from the Cass Business School of the
City University in London in 2014. Mr. Ng is (i) a cousin of Mr. Ng
Man Chun Paul, an executive Director; and (ii) the younger brother of
Mr. Ng Ting Kit, a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Ng
is a non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8081) which is a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

ERELAREAFHEANBE I

PiES

RXEIAE > BAESK > A F—RF
T—HATHHERTAAITESE >
T —F+HAMNHEE -F =H—HN
HHFME S EITESR I F =
E—H T HEHFERITEEFE LS
WH o F—JUENH AR
ZIERHEFRGER - RXBREENR-F
—ANFT—HA+HBE - F -FTF+
H— BINEEARLN FATE AR - S’
HAER—NLI=FHAEBEFEER
[2] 4Tt % BT i Lo 2R OK 22 P ELER A B A o A
IS R - B8 R 2 KB A R
1T B i 5 AT I > 3l 7S 4 il K 5 E SE
WA Y E KB o BRI B G)BUAT
ERAEWE LA ZHEL  RGEHAAFZ
PR o S B S e 2 A I o

RIS (TRAEA]) > BLF3958 »
TR -NECHEHERIEENITE
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B ol B AT LA
Seopgw 87



Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

ERELRHEHEAE G (H)

Mr. Chan Chi Fung (“Mr. Chan”), aged 43, was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 1 September 2021. He is also
a director of the subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Chan holds an
Associate Degree in Business Administration in Financial Services
from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has approximately
18 years of experience in the financial market. He worked in China
Jianxin Financial Services Limited (formerly known as Win Fung
Securities Limited) from December 2013 to October 2016 and his last
position was a director and was responsible for managing the day to-
day trading operation. Mr. Chan worked in China Demeter Securities
Limited (formerly known as Trinity Finance Investment Limited)
from October 2010 to November 2013 and his last position was a
responsible officer. Mr. Chan is a director and a responsible officer of
China Demeter Securities Limited, which is licensed by the Securities
and Future Commission for engaging in Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 4 (Advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management)
regulated activities. Mr. Chan is responsible for managing the day-to-
day operation of China Demeter Securities Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Hin Hang (“Mr. Chan”), aged 37, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 13 November
2017. He is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and the
audit committee, and a member of the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has over 9 years of accounting experience. He
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from September 2010 to June
2015 and is a member of CPA Australia. He obtained a Bachelor
Degree in Business (Banking and Finance) from the Queensland
University of Technology in 2009. Mr. Chan was an independent non-
executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8147) from July 2017 to July 2018 which is a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-
executive director of Huisheng International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1340) from 22 March 2019 to 30 June 2022, a company listed
on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. On 9 January 2020, he was
appointed as the company secretary of Sau San Tong Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8200), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien (“Mr. Yum?”), aged 45, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 13 November 2017. He is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company and a member of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee. Mr. Yum has more than 20 years of
management experience in the corporate and financial industry. He
has served as a director in several financial institutions from 2008 to
present. Currently, he serves as a managing director of Ayasa Globo
Financial Services Limited, principally engaged in providing financial
services and as a director of Greenpro Trust Limited, a company
principally engaged in providing a full range of trust services. Mr.
Yum graduated with a Bachelor of Science in Finance degree from the
University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign in 2001.

Mr. Hung Kenneth (“Mr. Hung”), aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 October 2014
and is a member of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee. He holds a degree of Bachelor of Science
awarded by Woodbury University in June 1995. Mr. Hung has
extensive experience in the entertainment industry. From March 2008
to September 2010, Mr. Hung was the China business development
director for Golden Sun Films Distribution Ltd. From October 2010 to
June 2012, Mr. Hung was the chief operation officer for Top Action
Culture Development Co. Ltd. From July 2012 to October 2013.
Mr. Hung was the business development director for Star Alliance
Movies (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Mr. Hung was the chairman of Sino
Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited (“Sino Vision”) from September
2016 to May 2017 and a director of Sino Vision from May 2017 to
November 2017. Mr. Hung was an executive director of Hang Tai Yue
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8081) from February 2014 to
August 2018, was an independent non-executive director of Almana
Limited (formerly known as M-Resources Group Limited) (Stock
Code: 8186) from March 2015 to April 2019, and has been appointed
as an executive director of Smart City Development Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8268) on 29 July 2019, all of which are companies listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Ho Bun (“Mr. Lai”), the chief operations officer (COO) and
a director of Star Kitchen Catering Group (HK) Limited, joined the
Group since October 2019. He has over 30 years of experience in the
food and beverage industry and has worked as a management in a
number of food and beverage company. He has expertise in operation,
management of food and beverage business. He is responsible for
managing day to day operation and management of food and beverage
business segment of the Group.

Mr. Lam Ka Hang, the managing director of China Demeter Securities
Limited, joined the Group since September 2016. He is responsible
for overall business development, operations and management
of China Demeter Securities Limited. He has over 20 years of
experience in securities and futures businesses, and has worked in a
number of securities firms. He has expertise in brokerage operations,
sales management and market operations of securities and futures
businesses. He is the Committee Member of Hong Kong Securities
Professionals Association and Life Honorary President of Hong
Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and Professional Commentators
Limited. He is a responsible officer recognised by the Securities and
Futures Commission (the “SFC”) for engaging in the Type 1 (dealing
in securities), Type 4 (Advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) regulated activities. He was also a responsible officer
recognised by SFC for engaging in the Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) regulated activities from 2006 to 2015.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Lai Ping (“Ms. Chan”), the company secretary of the
Company, joined the Group since August 2014. Ms. Chan holds
a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in
Accounting from Lingnan University in Hong Kong. She is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ms. Chan has over ten years of experience in accounting, auditing
and financial management and previously worked in international
accounting firms before joining the Company. She has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Minerva Group Holding
Limited (formerly known as Power Financial Group Limited) (Stock
Code: 0397) on 30 September 2021 and Theme International Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 990) on 6 July 2022, all of which are companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 17.50A(1) OF THE GEM RIFGEM L1 3 HIl 55 17.50A (1) 5 = $% 25
LISTING RULES

Since the date of the 2023 interim report of the Company and as at the HAN A % Z = q R H DLk
date of this report, there were no substantial changes to the Directors, FEHEAFRLEIY  MEFHERSE
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the B2 BEOR s B AR 45 GEM I T 8 J 2R
GEM Listing Rules. 17.50A(1) 62 B e 7E s B 7% -
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Corporate Governance Report
(o N PR

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
and to instituting procedures to ensure integrity, transparency and
quality of information disclosed thereby enhancing the value of the
Company for its shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is dedicated to maintaining and ensuring high standards
of corporate governance practices and the corporate governance
principles of the Company are adopted in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Part
2 of Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board considers that, the Company has complied, to the extent
applicable and permissible, with the code provisions as set out in the
CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2023 and the Directors
will use their best endeavours to procure the Company to comply
with such code and make disclosure of deviation from such code in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with all the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and for overseeing the business of the Group. The Board
has delegated authority and responsibility to the senior management
for the day-to-day operations of the Group. Key matters will remain
as the responsibility of the Board whose approval will be required.
In addition, the Board has also delegated responsibilities to various
management committees. Details of those committees are set out
in this corporate governance report. Such delegation is reviewed
periodically.

1368 ol ()
I 73255 50 2 7

A% ) B SR A HOR GEM_E AL HI 25 5.48
E5.6THRMTHE 2 HEER > (ERHEH
EATREIR S 2 AT B o

KA AN 2EERFESAMANE
KREHRMEDR B2 _F =+ _H=
+—H IR 5 CESFGEM LT
HIZE5.48 2 5.67THITHLE 2 2 H & i
Al o

G

EEFRREERERALA - DS
AL 2 2 - R ERME R G
BREALEH FEE o EEFIHKAR D
ERGAT > MAKGHAME - B
ERGIXEZMAENZ B GETH
" AEZFEZBEG RN AR
BiRHa o HE G E WA R EHE -

B ol B AT LA
Sx—pgg 93



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul (Chairman)
(redesignated from non-executive Director on 5 January 2023)

Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Chi Fung

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul
(redesignated to executive Director on 5 January 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Hin Hang
Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien
Mr. Hung Kenneth

Details of the members of the Board, including the relationship (if
any) between the Board members, are provided under the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” of the annual
report.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors namely, Mr.
Ng Man Chun Paul, Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Mr. Chan Chi Fung, Mr. Chan
Hin Hang, Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien and Mr. Hung Kenneth, had
participated in continuous professional development with respect to
directors, duties, relevant programmes and seminars or had perused
reading materials and updated information in relation to business
and industrial development. The Directors had provided the relevant
training records to the Company.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure that he is
fully aware of his roles, functions, duties and responsibilities under the
GEM Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory requirements
and the governance policies of the Group.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has met
the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules
of having a minimum of three independent non-executive Directors
(representing at least one-third of the Board) with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Board
as well as the Nomination Committee of the Board are committed to
assessing the independence of the Directors annually with regards to
all relevant factors related to the independent non-executive Directors
including: (i) the required character, integrity, expertise and experience
to fulfill their roles; (ii) no involvement in the daily management
of the Company; (iii) the commitment to their independent roles
and to the Board; and (iv) no financial, business or family or other
material relationships with other members of the Board or substantial
shareholders or circumstances which would interfere with the exercise
of their independent judgment. Independent non-executive Directors
are required to give an annual confirmation of their independence
to the Company. This practice has been observed and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Chairman had held
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors to discuss issues that they wish to raise
regarding the Group.
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TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

For further details of the terms of appointment of the non-executive
Directors, please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report —
Directors and Directors’ service contracts” of the annual report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD COMMITTEES MEETINGS

12 Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 December
2023. The Directors use their best endeavours to ensure that for all
Board meetings to be held, Board minutes are kept by the company
secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”), and be open for
inspection by the Directors. Every Director is entitled to have access
to the board papers and related materials and have unrestricted access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and have the
liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

The Board has established three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings and the general
meetings are as follows:

Names of Directors

R B iR ()
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e

No. of meetings
attended/eligible to attend
R SR B A R
Annual Special
Board General General

Meeting Meeting Meeting
HAEG it 5 i 3
ke AERE LY PN

Executive Directors: BiT#HES -
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul (Chairman) SR e ()

(redesignated from non-executive (/g ——

director on 5 January 2023) — A HH B AT

HF WD) 12/12 11 0/0
Mr. Chan Chi Fung = e 12/12 1/1 0/0
Mr. Ng Ting Ho SRV A 12/12 1/1 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors: B JFEHATE H -
Mr. Chan Hin Hang BRATAT e R 12/12 1/1 0/0
Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien (B8 ity 12/12 171 0/0
Mr. Hung Kenneth HEE B A 12/12 1711 0/0
AUDIT COMMITTEE EMERRG

Audit Committee of the Board was established on 26 October 2011,
written terms of reference were adopted in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules. The main functions of the Audit Committee
of the Board is to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors; to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors as well
as any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditors; to review
the quarterly, interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group;
and to oversee the Company’s financial reporting, risk management
and internal control procedures.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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The Audit Committee of the Board consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hin Hang (chairman of the
committee), Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien and Mr. Hung Kenneth.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held
4 meetings. The Audit Committee has reviewed the final results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and also the quarterly and interim
results during the year ended 31 December 2023, and has reviewed the
risk management and internal control systems, and discussed with the
management and the external auditor about the issues concerning the
accounting policies and practices which may affect the Group, along
with financial reporting matters.

The members and attendance of the Audit Committee for the year

ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of Audit Committee members
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Mr. Chan Hin Hang (Chairman)
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Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien
s & ek

Mr. Hung Kenneth
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meetings attended/

eligible to attend
HRCE e
GR -3 ae

4/4

4/4

4/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee of the Board was established on 26 October
2011. Written terms of reference were adopted in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee of the Board,
with the majority of its members being independent non-executive
Directors, is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration policy of the Company. The Remuneration
Committee has to consult the chairman and/or the chief executive
officer of the Company on their proposals relating to the remuneration
of other executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee may seek
independent professional advice as it considers necessary in respect of
its function.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee of the Board consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Hin Hang
(chairman of the committee), Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien and Mr.
Hung Kenneth.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held 2 meetings. It reviewed the remuneration policy of
the Company, assessed the performance of the Directors and senior
management and recommended specific remuneration packages of
the Directors and senior management to the Board with reference to
the level of responsibilities of the individual Director, the scope of
operation of the Group as well as the prevailing market conditions.

The members and attendance of the Remuneration Committee for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of Remuneration Committee members
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Mr. Chan Hin Hang (Chairman)
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WA BEE
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Nomination Committee of the Board was established on 26 October
2011. Written terms of reference were adopted in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee of the Board is
responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying suitable candidates for directorship, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and making
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed appointment
and re-appointment.

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien (chairman
of the Committee), Mr. Chan Hin Hang and Mr. Hung Kenneth.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
of the Board held 1 meeting and has reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the effectiveness of the diversity
practices under the board diversity policy of the Company, reviewed
the nomination of directors policy and assessed the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors.

The members and attendance of the Nomination Committee for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of Nomination Committee members
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Mr. Chan Hin Hang
BRATAT ok

Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien (Chairman)
1ESe B ()

Mr. Hung Kenneth
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the members of senior management (comprising
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and senior management)
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 by band is as
follows:
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Number of
individuals
N8
HKS$Nil to HK$1,000,000 3
s W 5T 2 #E91,000,0007T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2
H#E151,000,001 70 2 #E ¥ 1,500,0000C
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
#E1,500,001 7T £ #E %2,000,0007C
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 0

52,000,001 7T £ #: #52,500,0000T

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
#:H2.500,0017C % # %53,000,000 70

Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) on 1 January 2019 and amended on 11 April 2022 to set out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

In order to achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance and
ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Company will also take into account its own business
model and specific needs from time to time in forming its perspectives
on the Board diversity. The Company will endeavour to ensure that
the diversity of Board is achieved and appointments of Directors are in
the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates to be appointed to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments will be based a range of objective
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, race, skills and professional experience. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Implementation and monitoring

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying
suitable qualified candidates to become members of the Board.
In assessing potential candidates of the Board, the Nomination
Committee will give adequate consideration to the diversity
perspectives as set out in the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss and propose any
amendments to the Board Diversity Policy as it thinks fit, and
recommend any such amendments to the Board for consideration and
approval.
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As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition taking into
account the diversity perspectives as set out in the Board Diversity
Policy are summarised as follows:
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Board Diversity Perspective

EHFFLZIUAHER

Designation

we U
Age Group 20
A2 AL m

Length of Service (year) B
e 385 391 (45 ) AA

Executive Director

PATES

Professional Experience

wxmy B9

Management |Accounting and Finance

A i it B 2o

Educational Background

BEFR

Science

PHE

Independent non-executive Director

WL PAT R

Finance Multi-media

S E2.

Finance

Al

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
had reviewed the Board composition and was of the opinion that
the Board consisted of members with different, age, cultural and
educational background, skills and professional experience, which met
the objectives under the Board Diversity Policy, other than the matter
as reported below.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of six male members
and currently has no female Director. The Board would continue to
take initiatives to identify suitable candidates so as to appoint at least
one female Director on the Board no later than 31 December 2024. To
achieving gender diversity on the Board, the Board has (i) set a target
to have at least one female Director by 31 December 2024, and (ii)
placed emphasis on hiring practices to ensure that qualified female
candidates are given equal consideration alongside male counterparts.
The Company will ensure that, by placing emphasis on gender
diversity in the succession planning process, to have a diverse pipeline
of candidates ready to step into leadership positions when vacancies
arise.
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The details of workforce composition are disclosed in the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the annual
report.

The Group is committed to employ the appropriate staff for a suitable
position regardless of the gender as its recruitment strategy. The
Group has various departments which are led by different male and
female staff, and in order to enhance efficiency, the Company has
not set a measurable objective for achieving gender diversity at
workforce level. On a merit-based policy, the Company is committed
to providing equal opportunities to its staff in respect of recruitment,
training and development, job advancement, and remuneration and
benefits.

NOMINATION POLICY

The nomination policy has been adopted by the Board with effect from
1 January 2019. Any subsequent amendment of the nomination policy
shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee and approved by the
Board.

1.  General Provisions

1.1 The Nomination Committee has formulated a nomination
policy (“Nomination Policy”) to standardise and enhance
transparency for the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in
selecting and recommending candidates as Directors, in
order to ensure that the Board shall have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

1.2 The Nomination Committee shall be responsible for
reviewing the Nomination Policy and disclosing the
same in the corporate governance report to ensure full
compliance with the CG Code, the GEM Listing Rules, the
Bye-laws of the Company and other relevant provisions.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
Annual Report 2023

104

(EE v |4

18 B AL 2 Te il BRI I AR AR T ER B ~ 4L
R R HiR R

AL H R el DU PR > B S B B
TS AR A 0 A AF 5 TR SR o AR
SEFBOA W R[] 5 B A B TR
ZAREREY > WA PR AR > AR AR
HUTE 8 B T 72 B0 A 22 Se AL i 5% E W]
TR EEE o A2 F BT HAMEA BB
o BONTERIE - B KR - TAEE
T e 38 B AR R 45 5 THD A B T AR P S

@r o
=

P AR

EFGOCR _FUFE A HRME
R o 4 44 BUR HAR AT ATE RT ZH AL
R4 % B e EF A -

1. —BEsC

L1 4% 880 & 4 Bk
(T3 7 BUSR ) B HE AL K 2 o 42
7% BT A9 I A
18 NIRE BT BR 1) 2 44 72 P LA SR
FE R ARHERY B W] - DARELR
HEEU AR ARG HEN
Tohe - K88 & 2 on il I R
P

12 #RAZ B EHATFMIELE
R SR IR O AT A
B ER - DITEIR SE AT 3
EIRSFH] - GEM BT BLAD
A ) A0 SU) S ELA AR B (R S



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

2.  Selection criteria for nominating a Director

2.1

22

The selection criteria for assessing the suitability of a

proposed candidate as a Director which shall be taken as

reference by the Nomination Committee are listed below:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(@

(e)

)

(2)

integrity and reputation;

skill, accomplishment and experience relevant to the
Company’s business;

commitment in respect of available time;
existing and potential conflicts of interest;
diversity of the Board, including but not limited to

gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience of the Directors;

not being prohibited by law from being a Director;
and

any other factors as the Nomination Committee
may deem fit to consider in the best interests of the
shareholders of the Company.

The above selection criteria are not exhaustive nor

conclusive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion

to nominate any person as it considers appropriate.
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3. Procedures for nomination of a Director

3.1 Any Director may nominate a candidate for appointment,
election or re-election as a Director by the Board or at a
general meeting. Upon obtaining the required information
from the candidate as listed above, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate whether such candidate is
qualified to be appointed, elected or re-elected into the
Board based on the criteria as set out above and the relevant
GEM Listing Rules and the policies of the Company.

3.2 The Nominate Committee shall convene a meeting to
discuss and consider the recommendation of the candidate
to the Board for appointment, election or re-election as a
Director.

Please refer to the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights — Procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director” of this
report for procedures for shareholders’ nomination of any proposed
candidate for election as a Director.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Directors are responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, make recommendations to the Board, review
and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements. Also, the Directors are responsible
for reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
its disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance Report
and developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors.

The Board has reviewed the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance practices and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements including compliance with the CG Code for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Summary

The Company and the Group have engaged a consultant to conduct
a review on the Group’s internal control environment and report to
the Audit Committee and management for the purpose of evaluation
of the documentation, effectiveness and efficiencies of the control of
the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems in respect of the year ended
31 December 2023. The Board has conducted a review of the internal
control system and the effectiveness of it operations of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023, including
financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management
functions. That will ensure that the Directors will oversee and monitor
the Group’s overall financial position so that the interests of the
shareholders are well protected and covered. The Board assessed the
effectiveness of internal control by considering the reviews performed
by the consultant. The Board and the Audit Committee considered
that the risk management and internal control system are effective
and adequate during the year. The Company complies with the code
provisions relating to internal control contained in the CG Code.

Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity and
an integral part of creating shareholder value through good business
practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves its strategic,
business and governance objectives, and protects its corporate
reputation, values and integrity.

Risk management applies to all aspects of the Company’s business
and forms a critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing
operational plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval
requests and designing and managing project plans.
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Risk Management Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the oversight of
the Company’s risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, is responsible for reviewing
and assessing the major risks facing the Company and reviewing,
approving and monitoring the Company’s approach to addressing such
risks annually.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is responsible
for the oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management systems and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee oversees the risk management process and reviews the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems by
conducting the following procedures:

. reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee, or by
the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems;

. discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have an effective systems; this discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function;

. considering major investigations findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management’s response to these findings;

. reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;
. reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any

material queries raised by the auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;
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reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action;

acting as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;

ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;

conducting exit interviews with any director, manager, financial
controller or internal credit control manager upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

preparing work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

considering the appointment of any person to be a committee
member, auditors and accounting staff either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional committee member, auditors and
accounting staff or dismissal of any of them;

reporting to the Board on the matters set out in the relevant code

provisions in the CG Code; and

considering other matters, as defined or assigned by the Board
from time to time.
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Inside Information

The Group, as a whole on specifically itself, has no written policy on
handling and dissemination of inside information but certain other
policies have been adopted and measures have been taken from time
to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group. The Board
assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant event that
may impact the price of the shares of the Company or their trading
volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered
inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably
practicable pursuant to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the
SFO. Executive Directors also may have responsibility for approving
certain announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the Company
under powers delegated by the Board from time to time. In addition,
all employees are required to strictly adhere to the employment
terms regarding the management of confidential information and the
access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Further, employees are required to strictly
adhere to the rules and regulations regarding the management of
inside information as adopted by the relevant business unit(s) in
which such employees are working in. The Group is committed to
ensuring that information contained in the announcements or circulars
of the Company are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Process

During 2023, the Company engaged a consultant who conducted an
interview with key personnel and senior management of the Group,
reviewed the internal control manual and related documents and
performed site visit to observe the daily operation to understand the
Company’s risk management and internal control system. The findings
on internal control and enterprise risk management were summarised
and was distributed to the Audit Committee for its review. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Company had in place effective and
adequate risk management and internal control systems. The Company
has ensured that the risk management and internal control provisions
under the CG Code have been complied with. The Board, has
confirmed that the adequacy of the resources and staff qualifications
and experiences of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
functions during its annual review on the risk management and internal
control systems.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on
(1) the severity of the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial
results; (ii) the probability that the risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity
or speed at which a risk could occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

. Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate the
risk entirely.

. Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk
mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or the
severity of the risk to an acceptable level.

. Risk retention — senior management may decide that the risk
rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for the Company
and that no action is required. The risk would continue to be
monitored as part of the risk management program to ensure the
level of risk does not increase to an unacceptable level.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as

follows:

A

112

Credit risk management

For loans granted by the Group, the Credit Committee will hold
meetings on a monthly basis to review the repayment record of
the loan interests and loan principals. The Credit Committee will
assess the credit quality of the outstanding loan portfolio and see
if provision needs to be made for non-performing loans.

The Credit Committee will regularly report to the Board relating
to the repayment record of the loan interests and loan principals
in the loan portfolio, its components and other matters, which
need to be bought to the attention of the Board.

Given that the targeted customers of the Group’s money lending
business are well-heeled and reputational individuals and well-
established companies, in the case of provision of short-term
loans for the purpose of short-term financing for personal/
business needs, the Group will generally not require collateral as
it may not be viable for such customers to provide collaterals and
thus requiring such would only deter them. Moreover, for short-
term loans, the creation and release of collaterals would create
unnecessary administrative cost to the Group. Nevertheless, the
Group would apply the established credit approval policy and
process to assess each and every potential customer such that, the
Group would only approve any loans on the condition that the
Group is of the view that any provision of loan will not constitute
a high credit risk and the Group would usually require customers
to provide signed and post-dated bank cheques with payments in
accordance with tailor made repayment schedules. For details,
please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Money Lending Business” of the annual report.

We are exposed to credit risks during the course of our business
in providing financing services to our customers for trading on a
margin basis.
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The credit assessment of a customer is performed during account
opening through enquiry and collection of information so as
to verify the customer’s net worth and income, and evaluate
their risk profile by understanding their financial condition,
investment preferences and investment experience. We did
not independently obtain credit information from third parties
(such as any credit reports on our customers) during our credit
assessment process. However, given that (i) our financing
service are provided with listed securities pledged as collaterals;
(ii) margin ratio is assigned for each individual securities; (iii)
marginable amount of each of our customer is determined based
on (a) the market value of securities held under the securities
trading account; and (b) the margin ratio for each securities;
and (iv) our margin call policy and trading limit set for each
securities trading account would limit the maximum loss due
to customer’s default, our Directors consider that our credit
assessment procedures are appropriate and sufficient to manage
our credit risk. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Financial Services
Business” of the annual report.

Business and operational risk management

The Credit Committee is responsible for the assessment of the
business and operational risks and implementation of credit
policies. Monthly meetings are held among Credit Committee
members and regular meetings are held between the Credit
Committee and the Board to review the operating activities of
the money lending business.

We have established internal reporting procedures to report
any suspected case (including but not limited to employee
misconduct and fraud). We have formulated credit policies and
operational procedures (which are continuously updated), and
implemented initiatives which include:

- segregating duties between credit assessment, loan file
reviews and loan approval to establish checks and balances
in the loan approval processes;

—  checking and recalculating loan repayment schedules
upon loan settlement to ascertain the accuracy of interests
charged in accordance with the stated effective interest
rates;
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— adopting staff handbook which documented our
requirements on employees’ code of conduct and contained
reporting policy as a procedure guideline for staff to report
fraud or suspicious fraud case, if any;

- adopting information security guidelines to prevent
unauthorised access to our information system and
to reduce the operational risk caused by failures of
information technology systems by maintaining backup
data for the key data processing systems; and

- strengthening our anti-money laundering monitoring efforts
via verification of identity, record keeping, recognition of
suspicious transactions, reporting of suspicious transactions
and staff education and training.

Liquidity risk management

The Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and long-term
funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.
Specifically, in conducting the money lending business, our
management will monitor our Group’s cash inflow and outflow
on a weekly basis to ensure the accuracy of cash collection
and deployment and that there is no shortfall in cash which
may interrupt our Group’s business. The Group will maintain
sufficient cash buffer to meet the working capital requirement
and liquidity needs for our business operations in the coming
months. The Group’s major liquidity needs mainly include the
settlement of operating expenses such as food cost, premises
rental and employees’ remuneration. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group had not experienced any shortfall in
cash for meeting the above liquidity needs.
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We are required to maintain at all times the liquid capital which
is not less than the minimum requirement as set out under
the financial resources rules and financial return (“FRR”).
Our accounts department is responsible for the preparation of
the financial returns and the computation of liquid capital in
accordance with the requirements under the FRR. The monthly
financial returns are submitted to our responsible officers for
review and approval before submission to the Securities and
Future Commission (“SFC”) no later than three weeks after
each calendar month. Our accounts department also conducts
the liquid capital computation on a daily basis which is reviewed
by our responsible officers to ensure that we are able to comply
with the FRR requirement on an ongoing basis.

During 2023, our Group did not have any noncompliance with
the minimum liquid capital requirement as set out by the SFC.

Legal and regulatory risk management

The credit approval policy and process as described in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Money Lending Business — Internal Control and Loan Approval
Process” of the annual report has been designed to ensure that
the Group’s money lending business operates in accordance with
the Money Lenders Ordinance and applicable laws.

The Credit Committee has adopted suitable documentation and
procedures in the application and assessment process to calculate
the effective interest rate of all loan applications and ensure
that the procedures are in compliance with the Money Lenders
Ordinance. The Credit Committee and the Board will, from time
to time, review such documentation and procedures to ensure
the documentation and procedures to be in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations.
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Depending on the nature of food and beverage business of the
Group, the following are the principal types of licences that may
be required for the operation of our restaurants in Hong Kong:

(a) Food business licence, including restaurant licence for
restaurant operation, restricted food permits for sales of
live fish, shell fish, sashimi and oysters to be eaten in a
raw state, and food safety licence for food importation
and distribution which are required to be obtained before
commencement of the relevant food business operation;
and

(b) Liquor licence, which is to be obtained before
commencement of sale of liquor in the restaurant premises.

We are required to obtain certain licences in relation to our
restaurant operations in Hong Kong. We have obtained all
relevant licenses and permits that are material to our operation
in Hong Kong. Our consultant keeps track of the expiry dates of
relevant licences and timely applies for renewal. Our restaurants
will only commence operations after obtaining or renewing
the relevant licences and/or permits. During the year, we had
not been involved in any unsettled safety and licensing related
violations, the outcome of which we believed might materially
and adversely affect our business, operation and financial
position.

On the operational level, the Group has complied with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the guidelines recommended by the Office of
the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data when collecting
and processing data from students, customers and borrowers.
The Group has also paid attention to the Copyright Ordinance
(Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong) when preparing and
delivering teaching materials. Besides, the Group has complied
with the Education Ordinance (Chapter 279 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) in application of applicable certificates for running
school, the Child Care Services Ordinance (Chapter 243 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) in application certificate for running child
care centre and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362
of the Laws of Hong Kong) in preparation and publication of
advertisements. Further, the Group has paid attention to the
Prevention and Control of Disease Ordinance (Chapter 599
of the Laws of Hong Kong) in relation to the regulation of
requirements and directions for business and premises.
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On the human resources level, the Group has abided by the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), equal opportunity legislations
(including Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 527 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
to safeguard the health, safety, interests and benefits of the Group’s
employees.

Other details of the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of the annual report.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy (“Whistleblowing
Policy”) on 11 April 2022 which is available on the website of the
Company. The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to establish a
mechanism to enable staff and other members of the Group to voice
concerns in a responsible and effective manner so as to promote
the highest standards of openness, probity and accountability, and
encourage the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical
behavior. The Board has reviewed the implementation of the
Whistleblowing Policy and considered that is has been effectively
implemented during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (“Anti-
corruption Policy”) on 11 April 2022 which is available on the
website of the Company. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the
specific behavioural guidelines that the Group’s personnel and
business partners must follow to combat corruption and demonstrates
the Group’s commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct
and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that
apply to its operations. The Anti-corruption Policy is subject to review
by the Board and the management as and when appropriate to ensure
its continued effectiveness.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy on payment of dividend (“Dividend
Policy”) with effect from 1 January 2019. Declaration and payment
of dividends by the Company is subject to compliance with applicable
laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the Bye-laws
of the Company.

Dividends may be paid out by way of cash or by other means that
the Directors consider appropriate. Declaration and payment of any
dividends would require the recommendation of the Board and will
be at its discretion. In addition, any final dividends for a financial
year will be subject to the approval of the shareholders. A decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount and rates
of such dividends, will be subject to, among other things, the Group’s
results of operations, cash flow, financial conditions, operating and
capital requirements and other factors which the Directors consider
important.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The existing Bye-laws of the Company was adopted on 30 June 2022.
Since its adoption and up to the date of this annual report, there was no
change in the Company’s constitutional documents. The latest version
of Memorandum of Association, Memorandum of Continuance and
the Bye-laws of the Company is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company provides information in relation to the Group to the
shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
including quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars. Such published documents together with the corporate
information of the Group are also available on the Company’s website
(www.chinademeter.com).

The shareholders” meeting provides a useful channel for shareholders
to communicate directly with the Board which the Directors are
available to answer questions related to the Company’s affairs.

The procedures to elect Directors were uploaded to the Company’s
website (www.chinademeter.com).

The Company will continue to improve the communication with
investors and to provide them more opportunities to understand the
business of the Company. On 11 April 2022, the Board resolved to
adopt a shareholders communication policy setting all the framework
in place to promote effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company. The Board has reviewed the shareholders’
communication policy and considered that it has been effectively
implemented during the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount of fees in

respect of audit services and non-audit services paid/payable to Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited and its affiliate was set out below:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Company Secretary complied with the
qualification and training requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to Article 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company can convene a special general meeting by depositing a
requisition in writing to the Directors or the Company Secretary for
the purpose of requiring the convening of the special general meeting.
The written requisition shall be deposited to the Company’s office
at Office AO1, 35/F, United Centre, No. 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquiries to the Board

The Company is committed to regular and proactive communication
with its shareholders. It has adopted a policy of disclosing clear,
adequate and relevant information to Shareholders in a timely manner
through various channels. The Company has complied with the
GEM Listing Rules by posting announcements, notices, quarterly,
interim and annual reports as well as shareholders’ circulars on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
(www.chinademeter.com).

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for
any enquiries in relation to the Group, or for putting forward any
proposals at a shareholders’ meeting:

Address: Office AO1, 35/F,

United Centre,

No. 95 Queensway, Admiralty
Hong Kong

Telephone no.: (852) 2116 1218

Fax no.: (852) 2151 1872
Attention: The Board of Directors/
The Company Secretary
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws and
applicable legislation and regulations.

If a shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general
meeting convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s),
wishes to propose a person (other than the member himself/herself) for
election as a Director at that meeting, he/she/it can deposit a written
notice to the following address:

Head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong

Office AO1, 35/F, United Centre, No. 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong

In order for the Company to inform all shareholders of that proposal,
the written notice must state the full name of the person proposed for
election as a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule
17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the shareholder
concerned together with a written notice of the person proposed for
election as a Director indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition,
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.
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Save as the procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene
a general meeting as set out above, there are no other provisions
allowing shareholders of the Company to put forward proposals at
the general meeting under the Bye-laws of the Company or under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. Shareholders of the Company
may follow the procedures set out above to convene a special general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition. The
written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by a
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in the proposed resolution, signed by all the shareholders
concerned. The written requisition shall be deposited at Office AOI,
35/F, United Centre, No. 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong, the
head office and principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in the preparation of
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial
year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and in presenting the quarterly, interim and annual financial
statements, and announcements to shareholders, the Directors aim at
presenting a balanced, cleared and comprehensive assessment of the
Company’s performance, its current position and future prospects.
The respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors of the
Company in respect of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are set out in the independent auditors’ report on pages 139
to 150 of the annual report.
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The directors (“Directors”) of the Company present their report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as discussed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of the annual report, which forms part of this Directors’
report, there were no significant changes in the nature of the principal
activities of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance by principal activities for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 and financial position of the Group as at the year end
date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 151
to 155 of the annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$Nil).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Rl ()

BUSINESS REVIEW

Below is a business review of this Directors’ report as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). The discussion on a fair review of the Group’s business,
financial key performance indicators and performance and indication
of future development of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report. A
discussion of Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders, and
environmental policies and performance is contained in the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the annual
report. These discussions form part of this Director’s report.

Key risks and its management

The Group is principally engaged in (i) food and beverage business;
(ii) money lending business; (iii) financial services business; (iv)
securities investment business; (v) alcoholic beverage distribution
and miscellaneous business; and (vi) provision of children education
services.

Key risks
(1) Reliance on key personnel

The effective operations and future success of the Group’s
business are depending, to a significant extent, on the capability,
experience and continued efforts of our key management
personnel. If the Group is unable to attract, retain and motivate
the necessary key management personnel, the business and
operation conditions of the Group may be disrupted and the
results and financial positions of the Group may be materially or
adversely affected.

(2) Reliance on close relationship with the Group’s customers

The success of the Group relies heavily on good relationship
with its customers. If the Group fails to maintain the current level
of business relationship with its customers and retain them in its
sales and distribution network, the sales, financial condition and
operating results of the Group may be adversely affected.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

(3) Risk relating to the food and beverage business

(a)

(b)

Uncertainties on obtaining or renewing the licences and
permits for the Group’s operations

The Group is required to obtain and maintain various
type of licences, including (i) general licences and (ii)
liquor licence and other approvals or permits, including
restricted food permits for its restaurants operation in Hong
Kong. Most of the requisite licences are usually valid
for one to two years and the licences are required to be
renewed before their expiry to comply with the relevant
requirements and ensure that business operation can be
continued without any disruption.

The Group may experience difficulties or failures in
obtaining or renewing the necessary approvals, licences
and permit for new restaurants in a timely manner or at all
for factors beyond its control.

Rely on individual to hold all the liquor licences of
restaurants

All of the liquor licences of the Group’s restaurants were
held by individuals.

Pursuant to Regulation 15 of the Dutiable Commodities
(Liquor) Regulations (Chapter 109B of the Laws of Hong
Kong), any transfer of a liquor licence must be conducted
in the prescribed form with the consent of the liquor licence
holder. In case of illness or temporary absence of the liquor
licence holder, the secretary of the Liquor Licensing Board
may in his/her discretion authorise any person to manage
the licenced premises under Regulation 24 of the Dutiable
Commodities (Liquor) Regulations, upon application by the
liquor licence holder. For any application for cancellation
of the liquor licence made by the holder of liquor licence,
one must make an application for new issue of a liquor
licence to the Liquor Licensing Board. In case of death or
insolvency of the liquor license holder, his/her executor
or administrator or trustee may carry on the business in
the licence premises until the expiration of the licence
under section 54 of the Dutiable Commodities Ordinance
(Chapter 109 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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If the relevant liquor licence holder in each of the Group’s
restaurants refuses to give consent to a transfer application
when a transfer is required, or fails to make an application
in respect of his/her illness or temporary absence or
makes a cancellation application without consent, or if an
application for new issue of a liquor licence is required
in case of death or insolvency of the relevant employee,
the relevant restaurant may have to cease it sale of liquor
for the time being, in which case may adversely affect its
business and profitability.

Risks relating to the money lending business

The money lending business of the Group is exposed to default
from the Group’s customers, which involves the risk of loss
due to the inability or unwillingness of customers to meet their
contractual obligations. If the customers of the money lending
business of the Group fail to meet their contractual obligations,
the Company may incur additional costs to collect the loan
principal and corresponding interests. To mitigate this risk, the
board of Directors (“Board”) has set up the Credit Committee
with relevant experience of this business segment and report
to the Board directly. The Credit Committee has full authority
to deal with all credit matters. The members of the Credit
Committee are appointed by the Board and the quorum of the
Credit Committee is at least two committee members. The credit
policy of the Group’s money lending business is subject to the
review and amendments by the Credit Committee and the Board
from time to time in line with changes in market environment.

Risk relating to the financial services business

The financial services business of the Group is subject to
the performance of the Hong Kong securities market and the
performances of the Group’s competitors which are beyond its
control and the Group cannot assure that our historical level
of income can be sustained. In addition, non-compliance with
extensive regulatory requirements could cause the Group to
incur fines, restriction on financial service activities or even
suspension or revocation of some or all of the licences for
carrying on the Group’s business activities.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Also the Group’s brokerage services involved active interactions
between its staff and customers and therefore it is subject to
human errors, which the Group has to bear the losses resulting
therefrom. For placing and underwriting business, the Group
exposed to business risks in case the securities underwritten by
the Group are undersubscribed or the placing exercises are failed
to complete.

Major financial risk exposed to the Group

The Group is exposed to financial risks, including credit, interest
rate, liquidity and other price risks. The Group actively and
regularly reviews these risks and will adopt measures, if needed,
to control and mitigate these risks.

Difficulties in recruitment and retention of the Group’s
employees

The success of the Group depends in apart upon the Group’s
ability to attract, retain and motivate a sufficient number of
qualified employees, including responsible officer, teacher,
restaurant staff, chefs and kitchen staff. Highly service-oriented
and qualified individuals are in relatively short supply in Hong
Kong and competition for these employees is intense. Any
failure to employ and retain enough qualified employees could
delay planned new restaurant openings, cause untenable teacher-
to- pupil ratio to meet the statutory requirement or result in
higher employee turnover, either of which could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business and results of operations.
In addition, competition for qualified employees could also
require the Group to pay higher wages, which could result in
higher labour cost.

For a discussion of how the Group would tackle with the management

of the material risks, please refer to the paragraph headed “Internal

Control and Risk Management” in the section headed “Corporate

Governance Report” of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT RULES AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with relevant
requirements could lead to adverse impact on business operation and
financial position of the Group. The Board as a whole is responsible to
ensure the Group is in compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company. During the course
of the business operations, the Group shall comply with different
laws and regulations, further details of which are discussed in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of the annual report, the discussion of which forms part of this
Directors’ report. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
was in compliance with these said laws and regulations.

MAJOR PROJECTS AND EVENTS

Details regarding major projects undertaken by the Group and events
that have taken place during the year under review are incorporated
under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
the annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out in the section headed “Five-year Financial
Summary” of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The number of share options available for grant under the then existing
scheme mandate of the then prevailing share option scheme of the
Company as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 was 62,741,806
shares and 75,290,167 shares respectively.

No shares of the Company that may be issued in respect of options
and awards granted under all schemes of the Company (i.e. the share
option scheme) during the year ended 31 December 2023, and divided
by the weighted average number of shares of 752,901,672 shares of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, is 0%.

As at 22 March 2024, being the date of the annual report, the total
number of share options available for issue under the share option
scheme of the Company was 75,290,167 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the issued shares of the Company as at such
date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the group entered into or existed
during the year.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of movements during the year in the reserves and reserves
available for distribution to the Company’s shareholders of the Group
and the Company are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity of the annual report and in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales amount to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 3.0% of the total
sales amount of the Group, whilst the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 0.9% of the total sales amount of the
Group. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 37.9% of the total purchases amount of the Group, whilst the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 11.0% of
the total purchases amount of the Group.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.

OTHER BORROWING

Details of other borrowing of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul
(redesignated from non-executive Director on 5 January 2023)

Mr. Chan Chi Fung
Mr. Ng Ting Ho

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul
(redesignated to executive Director on 5 January 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Hin Hang
Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien
Mr. Hung Kenneth

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul has been re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director of the Company and will remain as
the chairman of the Board on 5 January 2023. Mr. Ng has confirmed
that he is not aware of any matter relating to his redesignation
which needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company.
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Biographical information of Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” of the annual report.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and compliance
with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Ng Man Chun
Paul and Mr. Hung Kenneth will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of one year commencing from 5 January
2024. The appointment will be terminable by three month’s prior
written notice given by either side.

Mr. Ng Ting Ho has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of one year commencing from 1 August
2023. The appointment will be terminable by three month’s prior
written notice given by either side.

Mr. Chan Chi Fung has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an executive Director for a continuous term commencing
from 1 September 2021. The appointment will be terminable by two
months’ prior written notice given by either side.

Mr. Chan Hin Hang has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a fixed term of one year commencing from 13
November 2023. The appointment will be terminable by one month’s
prior written notice given by either side.

Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a fixed term of one year commencing from 13
November 2023. The appointment will be terminable by one month’s
prior written notice given by either side.

Mr. Hung Kenneth has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of one year commencing from 27 October
2023. The appointment will be terminable by one month’s prior
written notice given by either side.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 to indemnify the
Directors and officers for their liabilities arising from their lawful
discharge of duties. The insurance coverage and premium is reviewed
on an annual basis.

The Bye-laws of the Company provide that the Directors for the time
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company and every
one of them shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in
their respective offices; provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach
to any of said persons.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or a connected entity of a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND WA BTN BRI~ A B By
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES BAEFH 2 R R
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and the ATE T EHFEF A=+ —H o wEER
chief executive and their associates in the shares, underlying shares T ZATEA B & %5 2 BB AR AN #]
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as S H AR 2 (8] 2 Ay ~ AH BRI 10 2 £ 25
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to HE A SR AR 2 R AR SR AR 5 KO B 1
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and 155 352/ 17 & 19 5wt sk i #5 GEM |-
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard dealings by T &L HIZE S5 4645 rak A B _E 18847 A\
directors of listed issuer as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing FHEAT A ) W 0 <7 BEUET ZH 53 A7 A g A

Rules, were as follows: PNE A T RERR AR
Long Positions i
Shares of the Company VNNV
Approximate
Number of percentage
Name of Director Capacity shares held of interest
i B HE R
R 54y Fit % Iy B H FONER i e
(Note)
(Bt 5E)
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul Beneficial Owner 3,845,000 0.51%
KRR SEE HafliA A
Mr. Ng Ting Ho Beneficial Owner 3,845,000 0.51%
SRIETH B JEECE ZE DN
Mr. Chan Chi Fung Beneficial Owner 21,010,000 2.79%
Bl 5 8 56 E HamEa A
Note: &E

The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the number of KAFAZHESR AR SER T =F 1+
shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023, that is 752,901,672. A=+ —HAZ R8T RMAEHE 752,901,672
Bt -
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executive
nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 December 2023 that was required
to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard dealings by directors of listed issuer as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARE OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Schemes”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its holding companies or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements which enabled the Directors,
their respective spouse or minor children to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had an interest or a short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company, as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions

3 (8)

Br LSO &4 RF =+
H=+—H  #ME#EF FETHA
B Bl 2 2 i BN AR 28 7] B AT AT A
B35 B AT AR BBy ~ A BR A Ay S A 0
PRAT AT AT HE 23 SR - T ZE AR A8 o e
W B8 A0k 91 265 3 5 2.0 A7 L 19 5 R T BUAR 98
GEM b HL I 25 5 4616 B i A7 B L iy %
11 NHEHIET 5 16~y AR HE T ZH 75 AT
A ) S B A o

o S A o A 2 2 HE R

B b ST M e i) ) B [ = % T AT I
N BT RAR ~ A B B M i 75 b 2 e i
A )R BT SRR A > IR AR AR
AT AR g [ A 2 ) R AT T 428 i 28 ) s
J& 2~ RIS RT SIAT 2 B > SRE S -
545 B Z BCAE SR 4 T OB B A &
) AT AR At 75 ] 2 e B A 2 T A S
F 46

B8

ANECZEFTF A= —H o BES
Frsn > DA AN (GEH A A 7 FEATIEL
N B BRAM) A AN 6] A7 A BE % 193 v
A RCER AN BRI R 5 I B B 9156
3364 B E B A7 B 2 B e 2 M 55 SR
y=g

wa

Approximate
Number of percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held of interest
i Fie B HE
L L T YER 4y P &5 e 4 38 H HAET
(Note 1)
(B aED)
Mr. Ng Ting Kit (Note 2) Beneficial owner 103,700,000 13.77%
SIEBESEA (M EE2) HamEf A
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 145,933,946 19.38%
1 2L R A (BT RE3)
B )t 4 4 A R A )
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Notes:

1. The percentage of interest in the Company is calculated by reference to the
number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2023, that is
752,901,672.

2. Mr. Ng Ting Kit is (i) a cousin of Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul, the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director, and (ii) the brother of Mr. Ng Ting Ho, the
chief executive officer of the Company and an executive Director.

3. These interests are held by Trinity Worldwide Capital Holding Limited, which is
wholly-owned by Mr. Ng Ting Kit.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no person who had any
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company, China Demeter
Securities Limited, received commission income and interest income
from Directors, a substantial shareholder, a director of a subsidiary,
associates of connected persons of the Company and companies
which directors of such companies are also a substantial shareholder
of the Company and a director of the subsidiary. Such related party
transactions fall under the definition of “connected transactions”
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Particulars of such
related party transactions are disclosed in note 41(a) and note 41(b) to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

During the year, the Group has the following transaction with a
connected person of the Company:

Amount

of margin

finance

facility

PR 4

HEREAN LW BEEEES#
HK$°000

BT

Identity of Relevant

Connected Person

TEROR e
(Rt & 2~ Rl E =8)

Mr. Yip Kai Pong

(director of a subsidiary) 2,559
The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors confirm that the transactions
have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of
business, and in accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, an executive Director, is a non-executive director of
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8081) and Mr.
Hung Kenneth, an independent non-executive Director, is an executive
director of Smart City Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8268), each of which is a company listed on GEM whose principal
businesses include money lending business in Hong Kong, which may
compete with the Group’s money lending business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

3 (8)

RN > AL B M AN T — 4 BN L
TR Z T
Commission

Amount Interest

of cash income income

account received by  received by

balance
H&ERN
iR eH
HK$°000
3 T

the Group

A4 MR
Z M EBA
HK$°000
T oo

the Group
7% 5 [ e TR
Z & A
HK$°000
BT

16 184 32
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as throughout the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted and committed to the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules and has prepared the corporate governance
report, which is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of the annual report.

SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Significant subsequent events are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$257,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint the auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Man Chun Paul
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA DEMETER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Demeter Financial Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
151 to 326, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

[5R 32 2 4% 2 IR

[5F 34 2 4% 2 IR

[ S 2 A% = T 0 AR A Y B S ey
i Aoy P B A 5 BB R R T A B
TR IH o AR TR AR S B
7 i B S R TH KOsl TR B L > TS
L HIHE PR E R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

F A" 4 7 A an o i PR I o A A2 IR

Impairment of loans and interest receivables

HE N B 35k B I8 ik A

Refer to key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note 4
and the disclosures of loans and interest receivables in
Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

S W55 PRI RE4 AT B R 2 FER
T8 K B 526 B B KRB iR -

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of loans and
interest receivables is HK$5,758,000 (net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$6,264,000).

REF AT A= —H s BIERERER
R THT 46 %8 2% 5 6 5,758,000 (F11 % 5 76,264,000 7T 1
15 B 1) -

The measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL”)
requires the application of significant judgement and
increased complexity which include the identification
of exposures with a significant deterioration in credit
quality, and assumptions used in the ECL models for
exposures assessed individually, such as the expected
future cash flows and forward-looking macroeconomic
factors.

TEWE S 4R (S Bl 18 ) /O 5 &8 ORI T &
DR BRI S8 o ) R A > HC A A RO A S
AL BB o DL Rt e g Al R B v A4 e 1R
AR el ) )RR R 9] 2 A0 ) R AR B <6 O R D
W PR R 2 BLAE T R R

We focused on this area because the carrying amount
of loans and interest receivables is significant to the
consolidated financial statements, the identification
of whether exposures triggered deterioration in credit
quality and the estimation of the individual impairment
amount require the use of significant judgments and
estimates.

FRAM B TE R HL R - 9 A R R R A R IR T
(EB AR & BB R T S B E R > Al a b R 5] 8t
R AL B A B A A A T R
H B KA
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Our audit procedures included:

FAM B B A% AR LA

—  understanding, evaluating and testing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
the key controls over impairment assessment of
loans and interest receivables, which relates to
management’s internal controls relating to credit
control, debt collection and estimation of the ECL
of loans and interest receivables.

- BRRE - RPAG STt B R R R IS B I (AT

o G B P BT~ AT M R H B
i A7 T R S B e M 2 A B~ i % T
WG SR A AR

—  inspecting the loans and pledged agreements

entered into between the Group and the borrowers,
and other relevant information relating to value of
underlying assets.

A P B RN AT 7 9 K R A
A A B {8 (L A B e
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) PR Skt o A% = JH ()

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

oA 4 7 % T OH F A" 9 3 A v i B B S5 A% o R

Impairment of loans and interest receivables
(Continued)
W 5 356 J I8, D £ ()

—  circulating auditor’s confirmations to test the
existence of the loans and interest receivables as at
the end of the reporting period. We also checked
the accuracy of the aging of loans and interest
receivables as at the end of the reporting period by
tracing to loan agreements.

- BEMAZBATRERT K o DB GRS R R AR R
e IR AFAE T UL © AN I6 & K1
oA R 2 R SR R AR S R 4 R % ) Y
flEdE:

—  assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
model by examining the information used by
management to form such judgements, including
testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information and the
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime
ECL basis. We also assessed recoverability of the
loans and interest receivables with reference to
borrowers’ interest repayment records and principal
repayment subsequent to the year end date and up
to the date of this report, and traced the repayments
to the bank statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

I3RS 2 2% o IR

T5R 34 2 2 = IR (A7)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRAY V1% 2 A T v o T ) i A% 5 O

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Py 5 sk A Ao

Refer to key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note
4 and the disclosures of goodwill in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

S AR BEBS R M RE4 AL FHAHEE B R 2 Bk
TR D B 5T 18 P B B

At 31 December 2023, the Group carried out an
impairment assessment to the goodwill attributable
to the financial services business, alcoholic beverage
distribution business and children education business
and impairment loss of goodwill of approximately
HK$107,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2023.
REFEC=FH A= BEEESHR
B5 2605~ RS HORE ) 8 2605 X 5 B O SRS T AL o
BOETWUE R > W E —F - =F+ A=+
— H IR R &S E b 2w fcas b il
2R (L s 484 7 5 107,000 7€

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill is HK$1,959,000 (net of impairment loss of
HK$32,460,000).

REFZ AT A= —H s FEZ AR5
#1,959,0007T (F11 B3 1 {1 e 48 5 132,460,000 7C)

For the purpose of assessing impairment, goodwill was
allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) of the
respective business, and the recoverable amount of the
CGU was determined by management based on value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projection. In carrying
out the impairment assessment, significant management
judgement was used to determine the key assumptions,
including operating margins, terminal growth rate and
discount rates, underlying the value-in-use calculation.

T AP AR o R T 2 R B S A B 4 A
A7 (B 4 B A WAL 1) - T B 45 A B2 Y ] olig [l
L L AR PR T B < v L ) (R AR
i o AEHEAT R RTAG I o PR E A PR A B
DA 7€ B AR > G B AR (e w5 vk A Bl ) A
B KA R ARG B
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Our audit procedures included:

FAM B B A% AR LA

— evaluating the competence, capability and
objectivity of the external valuation expert engaged
by management;

— AR R R SN (B R AT RE
AES1 R BB

—  evaluating the valuation methodologies including
comparing source and market data used in the
underlying assumptions for the valuation of
financial service business, alcoholic beverage
distribution business and children education
business with reference to comparable companies;

- RMEAE T GAREAE S A A R RS
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) PR Skt o A% = JH ()

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

oA 4 7 % T OH F A" 9 3 A v i B B S5 A% o R

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

Py 5 06t e A% (70)

- assessing the appropriateness of the key
assumptions, including operating margins, pre-
tax discount rate and terminal growth rate used for
calculating the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit as adopted by management for the
goodwill impairment assessment;

= PP BERE By AT R R (R R A BT BR ARSI R
F A B A A B Y T il < R R BE SR R
(L4 5L A ~ B ARG 3R MR ABE R 2 1)
BEE

- assessing the actual performance in the year
against the prior year budgets to evaluate historical
forecasting accuracy;

- B EFEHEFZAENNERRE - DS
it 7 T R AR

—  evaluating the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures in respect of the impairment assessment
of goodwill in the consolidated financial
statements; and

= APAAR A B R A B R SR A 4 A B
W B ENE - &

—  assessing the management’s sensitivity analysis
on the key assumptions, to ascertain the extent to
which adverse changes, would result in the assets
being impaired.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

I3RS 2 2% o IR

T5R 34 2 2 = IR (A7)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRAY V1% 2 A T v o T ) i A% 5 O

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets)

Yy ~ B B it (€2 15 6 5 ) 0t e

Refer to key sources of estimation uncertainty in Note
4 and the disclosures of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

S A5 W5 R M GE A Al wh AN HE 2 R R 2 Bk
TR I RE 1683 ~ MR K koM (G435 (o 1 HE /28 ¢
& o

Management performed impairment assessments on the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets by comparing the carrying values with their value-
in-use to determine the amount of impairment loss that
should be recognised for the year.

ERLE B AR A6~ BT BBt L B e
A AT W AR RE AL > T ik 2Ry 225 A0 s B T (i B T
A (BLRE E ABA 188 7 5 A R T ) el A 1 < o

We identified impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as a key
audit matter because of the significant judgement and
estimation required to be exercised particularly in respect
of estimating terminal growth rates, future revenue,
future cost of sales and other operating expenses, the
discount rates applied and also because of the selection
of these assumptions could be subject to management
bias.

A ~ BRE S DA B Al P RE B ) Dol (L
il 2 — TE B S A% 2 T > il A ZEAE RO
B KAl wt > THEABK AR RS - RARBA

AR B A B A A8 B S L K B I B 1 i
AT o O R % 5 MR R Y 2R 4 T E A2 B PR i LR
& o
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Our audit procedures included:

FeAM 00 AL AL

— evaluating the competence, capability and
objectivity of the external valuation expert engaged
by management;

- RPARE R R0 Y A0 R A (L E A AT fE
B REBE -

—  assessing value-in-use calculation methodology
adopted by management;

- APAEERE BT BRI 0 B (E R

—  assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
(including terminal growth rates, future revenue,
future cost of sales, other operating expenses and
the discount rates) by comparing the market data;

= AE I PO T O MO DA AL R B R (B R A
BER A RAWA ~ RACHIE A ~ At AE 8
PR SC I A ER ) 19 & PR



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) PR Skt o A% = JH ()

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

oA 4 7 % T OH F A" 9 3 A v i B B S5 A% o R

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) (Continued)

Yy ~ BB B it (€2 15 6 1 B 5 ) 0t L (70

— evaluating the reasonableness of the cash
flow forecast by comparing against historical
performance and discussing with the management
on revenue growth strategies and cost initiatives in
respect of the cash generating units;

- R BURTESERUELT R SRS W E IS
B > Sl B R o w A IR B < AR B AR Wi
NS4RS e AR A I

—  checking the mathematical accuracy of the value-
in-use calculation in the management’s impairment
assessment;

- TR B A R AL WU R AT B0 i AR (E R
T BB M A

—  performing sensitivity analysis in respect of the key
assumptions to assess the extent of import on the
calculation of the value-in-use; and

- BB RESOEATBURIE AT > DLSEAlB AE
EHFFE M EERE ; &

—  evaluating the appropriateness of the relevant
disclosures in respect of the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment in the
consolidated financial statements.

- FHESGMB R P A R - WS LS
{EL A A PR R B 9 5 2 1 T

B ol B AT L
—z——pgy 145



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

—  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (Continued)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

¥ 57 % B ¥R (%)

A B8 R 7 A % £ B B R Y TRUAE ()

HRAE A s T AL E AT A e - FRAME
B - R R AR R
SEIREEREIE © AN - (AH)

- APAEAR A S HOR (LI R EORD
HOREHE S ~ M N > DA RS
BB RS A5 ok B 52
by B H I o

- b RAEEAA R SRS S BN
A5 R AT T R IR
i o DUt&R e B ik R B RE R -
HMHATIRE - B LT EE
M A% TAE « B BEMIFRLE
FUKE R HAE -

FAM B 3R A CHL b L 98) T A% AR Y
) o A B 22 PR % R AL R
B FRAM A 7 AZ S ] ) e o 0 2
AT AT B R SR B HE A i

IR 10 B 6 R IR - SR E
LT A B B SR A E R ORI A
WA BELRE 2 T BE R B AT A 8 S A B B
R T JF At 5B e 75 T AR I T PR AT )
B i BR M) 977 365 i il (38 ) ) B3
i o

B A 2
SRR

149



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sau Yi Teresa.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024

Chan Sau Yi Teresa

Practising Certificate Number P08292
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

B 1H i M H At 4 v W 4R 5%

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
¥ T BT T
Continuing operations FRE R E
Revenue WA 5
Alcoholic beverage distribution and  JE A5 R 85
miscellaneous business e TE 2 2,092 1,596
Food and beverage business B MOk 2ES 139,815 117,564
Dividend income from listed equity b i #5 TH 2 B S A
instruments 175 316
Loan interest income BAFLEUA 1,111 2,713
Provision of children education PR 50 B F IR
services 4,598 4,500
Provision of financial services $R 34 AR S 9,149 15,214
Total revenue A A 156,940 141,903
Cost of sales and services BB I HRBS A (52,574) (46,100)
Gross profit EH 104,366 95,803
Other income, other gains and losses ~ HABUYCA ~ HoAblic i S fgsH 7 (585) 11,365
General and administrative expenses ~ — % S 4T 3¢ (132,582) (121,686)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial ARG EREE
assets through profit or loss S REE (BRIt (13,232) 3,341
Impairment loss of goodwill (R REREL i 18 (107) (5,168)
Finance costs WA LA 8 4,111) (3,681)
Loss before tax BR B Al s 1B (46,251) (20,026)
Income tax credit/(expense) JifS LR, (B %) 9 20 (69)
Loss for the year from continuing AR AF FE A AR KR SE B I
operations [gis! (46,231) (20,095)
Discontinued operation CRILEEER
Profit for the year from discontinued A4 AR { 4% 1R 8878 2605
operation il 10 = 1,128
Loss for the year A 1R 11 (46,231) (18,967)
B 2 4 i 3% A BR 23 W]

SR SRR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

0 18 i M H At 4 i W 5 5% (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % & =4 H = —HIFF&

2023 2022
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
it BT BT
Other comprehensive (expense)/ HoAth 22 7i (BH %), W gk
income
Items that may be reclassified B 1% i GE 3 4 B £ R 4k &
subsequently to profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences on translating TSR 1SS E A 2 T O,
foreign operations X il - (375)
Reclassified to profit or loss on & AN SE RS 1% R B 2
disposal of foreign operations B - 184
- (191)
Items that will not be reclassified to A4 & T 4 M £ 18 2
profit or loss: HH :
Change in fair value of financial Fe s SUABAE R A oA A T
assets at fair value through other Wi i 2 4 Pl
comprehensive income N FAE(E ) (716) -
Other comprehensive expense for the A< 4F B HoAth 4> 1 B 2 >
year, with nil tax impact el TH 5 2 (716) (191)
Total comprehensive expense for the Z<4E Ji¥ 4 [ [ 3 48 %A
year (46,947) (19,158)
(Loss)/profit for the year /IR 2PN Y X S
attributable to owners of the (B 48) A
Company:
— from continuing operations — 2 B R R S (45,308) (19,972)
— from discontinued operation - AR H O AR SR - 1,128
(45,308) (18,844)
Loss for the year attributable to I 4 3 WE 2 A\ A 4 B
non-controlling interests: &1
— from continuing operations — 2 B FR A S (923) (123)
— from discontinued operation - R H O &1L SR8 W - -
(923) (123)
(46,231) (18.967)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

o B 4H 2 B LA 4 v i 4k 3% (A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

NOTES
i
Total comprehensive expense for the DA T A - B4l A 42 B 2 T
year attributable to: bH S A -
— Owners of the Company B VAE ZEPN
— Non-controlling interests - IR A
Total comprehensive (expense)/ A oy Vi) BEA N A AR A 2
income for the year attributable 2 (B 3%) /Wi B -
to owners of the Company:
— from continuing operations — 2K B R A SE
~ from discontinued operation - R H E A LR RS
Loss per share 5 1 Jes 18 15
— from continuing and discontinued — R H R RS R D A
operation 1F 58 R
Basic FLAR
Diluted v
— from continuing operations — R H R A RS S
Basic LA
Diluted i

2023 2022
—E = -

HK$’000 HK$’000

wIET T Vi BT
(46,024) (19,035)
(923) (123)
(46,947) (19,158)
(46,024) (19,972)

= 937
(46,024) (19,035)

HK cents HK cents

il A
(6.02) (2.88)
(6.02) (2.88)
(6.02) (3.05)
(6.02) (3.05)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

6 IR Dl R

At 31 December 2023 A = E ~=4Ff H=+1—H

2023 2022
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
i BT T T
Non-current assets FE U B A
Property, plant and equipment ERN & ] 16 56,524 33,346
Goodwill ik 18 1,959 2,066
Intangible asset IV & 19 500 500
Investment in a joint venture h—HEBEREZRE 21 - -
Financial assets at fair value through — $& /% SR A8 (H FH A HoAth 4 T
other comprehensive income Wit 2 4 Pl 22A 4,362 73
Other assets HAith g 23 230 574
Deposits and other receivables 12 4 I HoAb RE WS KT 27 6,397 3,694
69,972 40,253
Current assets B & E
Inventories PeNsy 24 1,453 1,533
Trade receivables JRE Wi e 25 54,733 80,097
Loans and interest receivables JRE A 5 3k K A B 26 5,758 14,192
Deposits, prepayments and other Yo dr > AT ROE KA RE
receivables WK IE 27 8,671 13,363
Tax recoverable AT ] A I 66 90
Financial assets at fair value through %A U8 {EHFF AR 2
profit or loss FRVE A 22B 10,094 21,860
Trust bank accounts fERLERITIRF 28 17,230 34,668
Cash and cash equivalents 4 NI 4 S EY 28 27,586 42,325
125,591 208,128
Current Liabilities B £ E
Trade and other payables A B R B At I A K T 29 51,188 67,809
Other borrowing HoAth 5 £ 30 52 20,054
Current tax liabilities R 8 TH A K 27 117
Lease liabilities HEARE 32 25,317 17,841
76,584 105,821
Net current assets i B A A 49,007 102,307
Total assets less current liabilities 48 ¥ 7 I I B) £ 118,979 142,560
Non-current liabilities FE i B B
Employee benefit obligation i B 48 A 5 A 36 594 -
Other borrowing HAth A & 30 10,000 -
Lease liabilities TH B A 1 32 25,958 13,189
36,552 13,189
Net assets & 82,427 129,371
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

i B B SIR D e ()

At 31 December 2023 J# & =44 H=+—H

2023 2022
NOTES HK$°000 HKS$’000
Bt 51 T T
Capital and reserves AR itk

Share capital A< 33 7,529 7,529
Reserves fiti i 34 75,023 121,017

Equity attributable to owners of AN F A N AL HE 25
the Company 82,552 128,546
Non-controlling interests IE R £ (125) 825
Total equity HE 3 HA 3R 82,427 129,371

The consolidated financial statements on pages 151 to 326 were HA LIS HERCE Z G MHIED

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
22 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Director
o
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul
R

AT B PIME=H —F H&KEHE
HE R P RETI8E - Wl T EFEE

2

Director
#H
Mr. Ng Ting Ho
RIEW A
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

»‘l—ﬁ

& B 45 5 1) %

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ —

Share

capital

Balance at | January 2022

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive expense

for the year

Total comprehensive expense

for the year

Recognition of equity settled
share-based payments

Issue of shares upon exercise of
share options (Note 33(7)

e of placing shares (Note 3(ii)

Transaction cost attrbutable to sste

of placing shares (Note 33(i)

Balance at 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive expense

for the year

Total comprehensive expense

for the year

Partial disposal of nterest ina
subsidiary without loss of control
(Note 39(e))

Balance at 31 December 2023

==

2>

Share

premium

Contributed
surplus

Ft—H=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LIELIN

Foreign
Share currency

{ranslation

Capital

options

TESEIVe TESEIVe TESEIVe

Fair value
through other
comprelensive

income

TESEIVE

Accumulated

Attributable
{onon-
controlling

losses Sub-total interests

e Hig il
Bk RORE  SARER BRERE  BARE  EBE  EER hat RIS
HKSO0  HKSO00  HKS000 SO0 HKSOM0  HKSOM  HKSOM  HKSO0  HKS000
L AT i L AOTIE 4 SOTRE L & N 1 O/ - a0
6101 19619 15351 61545 - M QA0 %% 19 W 1B
KEEER - - - - - - - (884) (1884 (3 (18%)
REFLBATR L
- - - - - (190 - - (19 - (19
KRR £
- - - - - (199 S8 (190%) 3 (98
D e AR
- - - - 50 - - - 50 - 550
i i
(33 153 2310 - - (550) - - - 1913 - 1913
BIRERG 30 1255 1129 - - - - - - 1254 - 1254
BHRERRERS
Bk (b33 - (%) - - - - - - (378) - (37)
REFZZEFZA=ZT-HR
R-Z-=E--1
1 (TP (R 61545 - U6 M) (M8 1854 5 19371
KRR = = > = = = - (5308 (4s308) 03 @6n)
REELREN
. . . . - - (116) - (716) : (T16)
REFAER
= = = = = = e @A @6 ) @)
Bk E-HREATER
ik kAR
(fE39re) = = = = = = = K| ] )] 3
REBZZE
IS Sliba 19 MK 1B 61545 = U6 (3136 (35008 855 (1) 241
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBlenmER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

TR

2023 2022
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
i BT T T
Cash flows from operating activities REEEZHERE
Loss before tax: FR BRI 4R -
— From continuing operations — B8 [ R RS (46,251) (20,026)
— From discontinuing operation - K H O &1L BB TS = 1,128
Adjustments for: KELLH £ TH A B
Finance costs AT AR 8 4,111 3,681
Interest income LA 7 (384) (44)
Depreciation of property, plant and W, B B2
equipment e 16 28,911 18,123
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEYE, R KA
plant and equipment Z W8, (I as) 7 66 (50)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary group & — ] Ff} J& /A F]
AL 2 Wi 2 10 - (1,306)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries L0 B B IR 2 F) 2 Wi An 39 1,173) -
Impairment loss of loans and interest JRE SR R B R R i E
receivables, net 5 ¥ T A 7 3,950 1,957
Impairment loss of goodwill 7 2 el (e 4R 18 107 5,168
Impairment loss of property, WE ~ W7 B st B
plant and equipment 18 16 2,370 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables JRE AT R R 2 Bk AL e 4R 7 1,250 -
Gain on early termination of leases PRFZEFH A 2 Uit 7 - (3,496)
Equity-settled share option expense PABRHEAL RS IRREBA L 35 - 550
COVID-19-related rent concessions B WSCHT 2R T AR B
received el LR 11 - (1,904)
Over-provision for re-instatement cost & JiU A 2 H R A 7 (2,323) -
Current services cost of employee & B4 F AT 2 B A AR
benefit obligation B A 36 594 -
B A7 PR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
o Bl awaEx ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % & =4 H = —HIFF&

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
W T T T
Operating cash flows before movements HESHBIE 2
in working capital: KEB e - 8,772) 3,781
Decrease/(increase) in other assets HAth 2= Wb, (8 m) 344 (344)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &R,/ (8 m) 80 (63)
Decrease in trade receivables JRE AT B 25 7D 24,114 13,380
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, e~ TEATROE K H A
prepayments and other receivables MWK IR D
(35 m) 1,989 (1,082)
Decrease in financial assets at fair N EEF ARG Z
value through profit or loss 4 Pl D 11,766 2,702
Decrease/(increase) in loans and & Hﬁ(% X EISN Ry
interest receivables (38m) 4,484 (486)
Decrease/(increase) in trust bank & RCERATIR P
accounts (38 m) 17,438 (2,170)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other }Eﬁ HR R B At JRE AT
payables I (D), B (17,298) 5,784
Cash generated from operations BHEMBZHE 34,145 21,502
Interest received SRS 384 44
Interest paid EATFLE (4,113) (3,688)
Income taxes (paid)/refunded, net (EAF) 3B [8] iy #5854 1 48 (46) 324
Net cash generated from operating REEBMBZHETH
activities 30,370 18,182
Cash flows from investing activities BREFHMB ISR E
Payments for property, plant and S ERN N & S RE
equipment (8,252) (4,804)

Purchase of financial assets at fair value 85 /A RAE (EFH A A
through other comprehensive income 2 A 2 B ME E 2

HIH (5,020) (53)

Proceeds from capital distribution of Fe o AR (EFE A KA A

financial assets at fair value through Lﬁ T 4 A EAT

other comprehensive income G IR TS 5KE 15 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant &Y ~ W E MKk e

and equipment RET ¢ - 50
Net cash outflow on disposal of a H B — I B Ja 2 ] RH A 2

subsidiary group T4 i S A 10 - (343)
Net cash inflow on disposal of RS A R 2 BLETA

subsidiaries FHH 39 2,675 -
Proceed from partial disposal of a ARt — TH] BR g 2

subsidiary without loss of control W MR AR LR 39 3 -
Net cash used in investing activities "EWH I HZ B E&EFEE (10,579) (5,150)

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

o Bl B (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T T
Cash flows from financing activities FIERBHIHZHERE
Proceeds from exercise of share options 17 {47 ff % HE T 15 3 IH = 1,913
Proceeds from issue of placing shares AT I A 15 5KE - 12,549
Payment for transaction cost attributable 3245V #5417 Firl B i 173 E A
to issue of placing shares 28 5 WA - (378)
Repayment of other borrowing R 2R A A B 40 (20,000) -
Proceeds from other borrowing HoAth £ 82 BT 15 3K 40 10,000 -
Repayment of lease liabilities EREAE A A 40 (24,530) (25,369)
Net cash used in financing activities il 3% B it ) 2 B 4 i (34,530) (11,285)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and e kB E&EFEY
cash equivalents (W A>) B hn i 4 (14,739) 1,747
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January #—H —HZH&EK
BeFEm 42,325 40,577
Effect of foreign exchange rate s ME e 5 ) 2 5 2
changes, net - 1
Cash and cash equivalents at RTH_HA=+—HZB&
31 December KBl& 5 EY 27,586 42,325
B 2 4 i 3% A BR 23 W]

TR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6 W Bs e % T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (the “Company’)
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands on 22 September 2000 under the
Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

In 2014, the Company has been deregistered in the Cayman
Islands and duly continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and the change of domicile became
effective on 8 May 2014 (Bermuda time).

The shares of the Company are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of registered office of the Company is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at
Office A0O1, 35/F., United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively

the “Group”) was involved in the following principal activities:

—  provision of loan financing in Hong Kong;

—  provision of financial services (including advising and
dealing in securities and asset management);

= investment in listed and unlisted securities;

—  provision of food and beverage services;

—  alcoholic beverage distribution and miscellaneous business;
and

—  provision of children education services.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B % A P i

T (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
(including the
October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar

Two model Rules

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

2.
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Al M AEAE AT B s B o e > A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” for
the first time in the current year. HKAS 1 is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with
“material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS 2 Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

1 6 2 China Demeter Financial Investments Limited

Annual Report 2023

JEE FH 5 5T B #8405 T A W B
e Q0 (T4 o B 5 i e 0 ) (A7)

WE P A s ot Y B0 5 1 9% B A v B
5 e o o S0 B R AR 298 (12 R
A) [ atBORI % 88 1 2 3%

AR BR A AR B W A st
HE LB 1 5% K% 7 v B 5 i o R
B 5 20 298 (BT A) [ &/t BUR Y
gk - HEERHEAZE RO
BERT > MATE K& 5T BOK &R —
— AR E G EOR | o
Bt EUR R R B R B IR A
HoAt ER — 508 > Al S M &
B R B B R B EZAE
FARE S M IR R PR E
SIS Bl EOR EORHE A EK

BRI A IR T - BRI i 3G R
K > ERRME SR - K
eI UL - B R EOR EORHT T
JEHE AR o SR - A FF P A B E R A2
Gy~ HoA = TE I OUA B B 8 R E
BRI B B R o i B R 4
#e5E JE R R BORE R A B
ERAREEE NG EORER -

s S s i o Y ) B A AR 2 5%
[ o B R ) ) (8 % i ) O
B fF B RT - LA B A 0
[V 25 35 WAl B R PR VR L TR &
ISR 4 8 3107 1) A ) R T o I
SR R RIS T RO B A
Ko BHHAEHI TG REH -

W2 S B RT A A G B AL 2 T
PR DL B R BURE I R R 28 > Mt
7B T A B R R RE 3 Y
B R BOR IR R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition
of Accounting Estimates”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”’. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, and
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred
Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction” for the first time in the current year. The
amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exemption that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to
equal and offsetting temporary differences on initial recognition,
such as leases.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial position and performance, except that
the Group disclose the related deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities on a gross basis in Note 31 but it has no impact on
the retained earnings at the earliest period presented.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the
HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”’) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

As disclosed in Note 36, the Group has several subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to
employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the
Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee who
administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement
benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP
against an employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived
from employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government
of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance payment and
LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect
on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under the
Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately
preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination
of employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect
of the employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively
so as to provide more reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

Refer to Note 36 for details of the Group’s LSP obligations at
the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback'

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier finance arrangements'
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

D

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for new and the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

J clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

J specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments
have been modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants
which are required to comply with only after the reporting period
do not affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if
an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those
liabilities is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an
earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

The Group is in the process of marking an assessment of
what the impact of these new standards, interpretations and
amendments is expected to be in the period of initial applications
So far, it has concluded that the adoption of them will not
have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 “Supplier Finance
Arrangements”

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS 7 “Cash
flow statements” stating that an entity is required to disclose
information about its supplier finance arrangements that
enables users of financial statements to assess the effects of
those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In
addition, HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” was
amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example
within the requirements to disclose information about an entity’s
exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

The term ‘supplier finance arrangements’ is not defined. Instead,
the amendments describe the characteristics of an arrangement
for which an entity would be required to provide the information.

To meet the disclosure objective, an entity will be required to
disclose in aggregate for its supplier finance:

J The terms and conditions of the arrangements;

. The carrying amount and associated line items presented in
the entity’s statement of financial position, of the liabilities
that are part of the arrangements, and the non-cash changes
in the carrying amounts of these financial liabilities;

o The carrying amount, and associated line items for which
the suppliers have already received payment from the
finance providers;

. Ranges of payment due dates for both those financial
liabilities that are part of a supplier finance arrangement
and comparable trade payables that are not part of a
supplier finance arrangement; and liquidity risk information
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 “Supplier Finance
Arrangements” (Continued)

The amendments, which contain specific transition reliefs for
the first annual reporting period in which an entity applies
the amendments, are applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is
permitted.

The Group is in the process of marking an assessment of
what the impact of these new standards, interpretations and
amendments is expected to be in the period of initial applications
So far, it has concluded that the adoption of them will not
have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture”

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements” and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures” deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or
losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a
joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are
recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of
investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The Group is in the process of marking an assessment of
what the impact of these new standards, interpretations and
amendments is expected to be in the period of initial applications
So far, it has concluded that the adoption of them will not
have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

U has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

J the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

U potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

U rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 97), or when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGU) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or
group of CGU) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of CGU).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, or any of the
CGU within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a CGU within a group of
CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a
joint venture is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the investment,
or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case
it is or the portion so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5. Any retained portion of an investment in a joint
venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues
to be accounted for using the equity method. The financial
statements of joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant
interest in the joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the
same basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant joint
venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint venture
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in joint venture that are
not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

U the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

U the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

] the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
(Continued)

Output method (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from provision of services is recognised when services
are rendered.

Commissions from securities dealing are recognised on the
transaction date when the relevant contracts are executed.

Placing and underwriting commissions are recognised in
accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements or deal
mandates when the relevant significant acts have been completed
(i.e. when shares are allotted).

Clearing and handling fee income are recognised when the
services have been rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the rights
to receive payments have been established.

Income from provision of children education services is
recognised when the educational services are rendered.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease components and
are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of assets that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight- line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

U any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19 related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

J variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

U amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as at
the commencement date. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a
lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change
is a lease modification if all of the following conditions are met:

J the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as,
or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

J any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

J there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way
it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s joint venture.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single co-operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Discontinued operations (Continued)

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented on the face of the statement of profit or loss, which
comprises:

—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to
fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group constituting the discontinued operation.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Government grants
relating to compensation of expenses are deducted from the
related expenses, other government grants are presented under
“other income, other gains and losses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Obligations for contributions to retirement plans, including
contributions payable under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred.

Long service payment

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments
to its employees upon the termination of their employment or
retirement when the employee fulfills certain circumstances
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods.

The obligation is calculated using the Projected Unit Credit
Method (“PUCM”), discounted to present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plans that are
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The discount
rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality corporate
bonds which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of
the related liability.

Remeasurements are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

B 7 T 5 A A R Y S HOK 7
BURE B4

HOR Gt BORE B ()

1 & # #

BRI A

wiRE A ORI T I EEA MR
RS IR - il 7 R R AR T ) 2 A

BAREHE R BAE (B AR BEF
s 5 7 A < AR ) S E AR
IR T 48 4 fife 8 25 B S -

RHIIR T 2

R BT 7 v R A R 1 o T
T8 DL 26 1k 1 456 BR AR BB PRy > AR
A5 B A B e M B SR IR BS & 19
AL R A A B A 0 ] B 1 3
[ 2 436 e 5 P e BB vy B A 2
e

FALF B SR IE R
2 B S0 SR IR A 5 BB AR
) A A A T R o B A
o MBI 2 A AR B A AR
A B A S R R O H O B

BT AR A A A ] ) A 2 T
W it < M 4 N FTBR BEE AL o

B ol B AT L
“z——pgn 193



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRSs
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an

asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others

providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Share-based payment (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of
all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary difference. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
investment in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes, and are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whether there is an indication that they may
be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or group of
CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of
CGUs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method for food and beverage segment. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which
the Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, at
banks and securities brokers, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original
condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, are recognised at the date of inception of the lease at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would be required
to restore the assets, Estimates are regularly reviewed and
adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial assets or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3k
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

J it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near term; or

J on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified

financial instruments that the Group manages together and

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

U it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3k

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will
continue to be held in the FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in revenue when they
are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business
or in the “Other income, other gains and losses” line item
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % & =4 H = —HIFF&

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other income, other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, loans and interest receivables, deposits and other
receivables, trust bank accounts and cash and cash equivalents)
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings should tailor to reporting
entity’s specific facts and circumstances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@

212

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3k

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,

financial or economic conditions that are expected to

cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change

in the regulatory, economic, or technological

environment of the debtor that results in a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,

the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the

Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@

214

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i)
it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as

per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant

increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f o B 5 e e i
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

B 7 T 5 e A A R Y S HOK 7

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

@iv)

216

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

B 7 T 5 e A A R Y S HOK 7

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % & =4 H = —HIFF&

3.

218

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or
loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

220

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified as
equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ORI K E K5
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BURE B (4E)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued) oA BORE B E)
Financial instruments (Continued) 2 TR ()
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) = FlE &K ()
Financial liabilities A=K
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised JIT A 4 TR 1 A 4 4 i A T
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. B IEA R A RE AR AR
Financial liabilities at FVTPL s AR AR 4 2 S A
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the R AE T G)ER & B U
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in Z B AR LA s BB e 15 B I S
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for 3R - GOFEEE > 2iii) s
trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL. E B AR ARUEEF AR R - (E
K 5 1 s SO B (BT AR 45 O <l
f& -
A financial liability is held for trading if: ALAR B - A R T B A
EEH
J it has been acquired principally for the purpose of . T T B VA T T A 5
repurchasing it in the near term; or 079
J on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified C T A Tl 8 Rl L J 2 sk < Pl
financial instruments that the Group manages together and THAGW—E > A% E
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-making; or BEEMHZAS > HAEWAAR
HE A EM AR 5 5
o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial o £l I AR PR K 8l 48 2
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging ARAESE W THEMATAETEH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading (or contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination) may be designated as
at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping
is provided internally on that basis; or

U it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities that
contain embedded derivatives, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining the amount
to be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to
accumulated losses upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and other

borrowing) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person, or a close member of that person’s

family and that person:

(i)  has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group.

or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # %

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

@

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Recognition of deferred taxation

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses of approximately HK$148,822,000
(2022: HK$117,801,000) available for offset against future
profits that may be carried forward indefinitely due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. In additions, the
Group has deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$21,319,000 (2022: HK$16,525,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than or more than
expected, a material reversal or recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

As at 31 December 2023, impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$107,000 (2022: HK$5,168,000) had been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the year. Details of the
impairment of goodwill is disclosed in Notes 18 and 20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and loans and interest
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings/past due analysis as groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on
the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportably
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

Impairment loss on loans and interest receivables represent
management’s best estimate of losses incurred in the loan
portfolio at the reporting date under ECL models. Management
assesses whether the credit risk of loan receivables have
increased significantly since their initial recognition and apply a
three-stage impairment model to calculate their ECL. The Group
is required to exercise judgement in making assumptions and
estimates when calculating loan impairment loss, including any
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from loans portfolio and
historical loss experience on the basis of the relevant observable
data that reflects current economic conditions.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
and loans and interest receivables, are disclosed in Note 38.2.2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) is
approximately HK$56,524,000 (2022:HK$33,346,000), after
taking into account of the impairment losses of approximately
HK$2,370,000 (2022: HK$Nil) was recognised during the year.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and equipment, is
disclosed in Note 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
observable market data are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform the
valuation and works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of certain types of financial instruments. The use of valuation
models and assumptions in valuing these financial instruments is
subjective and requires varying degrees of judgement. Note 38.3
provide detailed information about the valuation techniques,
inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair
value of various assets and liabilities.
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5. REVENUE 5. WA

WA A T LK BB IR A - 1
AT

Revenue represents income received and receivable during the
year and is summarised as follows:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
¥ T T
Continuing operations R B
Revenue from contracts with A& B A s s HE
customers within the scope of 15 REEANNEF
HKFRS 15 aHA
Alcoholic beverage distribution and TPRE ORE 7 815 SO TH 3E 5
miscellaneous business 2,092 1,596
Food and beverage business B il B OB 139,815 117,564
Provision of children education services it il 2 5 IR 4,598 4,500
Provision of financial services AL 45 Al R 55
— Commission from securities dealing v ik 1,739 5,527
— Placing and underwriting commission ~ — P& A 1 8 4 & 661 202
— Clearing and handling fee income — & E R TN 233 513
— Asset management commission — G EE e 2 15
149,140 129,917
Revenue from other sources At 2R U5 R W A
Dividend income from listed equity T AR E S A
investments 175 316
Loan interest income BB A 1,111 2,713
Provision of financial services PR i IR
— Interest income from securities clients ~ — 2K [ & 7% & F 1 FILE.
A 6,514 8,957
7,800 11,986
156,940 141,903
Timing of revenue recognition WA Tl 2 A I ]
A point in time — 1 R [ B 151,483 134,763
Over time Wi I [ 5,457 7,140
156,940 141,903
B 2 s B B2 )

TR
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5

REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts for not disclosing the
remaining performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts as these contracts had an original expected duration of
one year or less.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

—  Money lending segment comprises provision of loan
financing in Hong Kong;

—  Financial services segment comprises advising and dealing
in securities and asset management;

—  Securities investment segment comprises investment in
listed securities;

—  Food and beverage segment in Hong Kong;

—  Alcoholic beverage distribution and miscellaneous business
comprises sales of premium wine and whisky and trading
of miscellaneous goods in Hong Kong; and

—  Kindergarten or pre-school education business.

An operating segment relating food and beverage segment in
Singapore was discontinued during the year ended 31 December
2022. The segment information reported below does not include
any amounts for this discontinued operation, which is described
in more detail in Note 10.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7o

oAt ~ oAt a2 i 18

236

Continuing operations

Bank interest income

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Impairment loss of loans and interest
receivables, net

Impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss of trade receivables

Government grant (Note)

Gain on early termination of leases

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Over-provision for re-instatement cost

Sundry income

Consultancy and referral fee income

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain

PR RE R

HATFE A

B WS K2
(ks 18) i i

JRE W e ) R
R

Yr3g ~ s Kkt 2
WE 1R

W B e i (LA 1R

R ol B (BR )

e LA R A 2 s
o B R 2 R 2 iR

IR A 2 FR A

eI A

st S A A

e 5t O #8) Wi it 47 48

2023 2022
—2—= =

HK$°000 HK$’000
T BT
384 44

(66) 50
(3,950) (1,957)
(2,370) -
(1,250) -

20 6,598

- 3,496

1,173 -

2,323 -

696 1,181

2,457 1,930

) 23

(585) 11,365

Note:

Among the government subsidies, approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$3,699,000)
are government grants obtained from the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”)
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees.
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on payroll
expenses, and not to reduce employee head count below prescribed levels for a

specified period of time. The Group has complied with the requirements set out

in the ESS for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The remaining balances included other COVID-19 relief subsidies received. As

at the end of the reporting period, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other

contingencies attaching to the subsidies and government grants that had been

recognised by the Group.

Annual Report 2023
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53,699,000 7T) £ 7 i 450 Al 47 1B i iR 19 (55
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WABMA
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T
Continuing operations FREREEH
Interest on lease liabilities & A A E 2,813 2,013
Interest on other borrowing oA 1 B2 )EL 1,296 1,665
Finance charge s 2 3
4,111 3,681
9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 9. FifBi(ER), X
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T
Continuing operations FREREEH
Current tax: RPHEARIIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax T s R 40 125
Over-provision in prior years: AT AF B R R A
Hong Kong Profits Tax T UM 13 BL (60) (56)
Total income tax (credit)/expense A E 25 WERR 2 TR B
recognised in profit or loss (k) P S K8 AR (20) 69
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed AZE—NFE=H_+—H  Fi
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) SR e R LAEBUE (B RD)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill (5B 79%) IR B 2 ([l LS ) »
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the G T R ) R A 1 BT o e ]
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the FN=F—/FE=HZF/NHEE
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will BRI A 28 H FE E R o iR
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed A A A5 BRI B B
at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two- 9] B 1Y) 1 5 72,000,000 78 i A%
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat F28.25% 11 Bl 2R A B - T R 28 v
rate of 16.5%. 2,000,0007T HY i A 4% % 16.5 % H B

KRB o ARIFH WA A 15 Bl B A%
B 4E [ B 1 2 U5 R 1 A A 4 16.5%
2 #— B R BLA -

B ol B AT L
x—ppy 237



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

9. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 9.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations, the Group is not
subject to income tax in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

(Continued)

P 138 (K 5) B 5% (A7)

Ht > A EREREEEEANGEE
T 5k s %2,000,0007C 2 14 5T RERR
i %65 A 45 Bl R 8.25% %A - M wk #E
i 95 12,000,000 70 2 A 51 E LB s
FIHE R 16.5%51 58 -

At ] i [ A 2 0 T ) 4 A B
FIERER BT B R A -

AR T 15 BRI B e il A B
T JGB i A O (3% o O e I )
TRBYAN P AR -

AR 2 BT A BL (K %) BA S BLA
1R A S H A 2 T i 4 2R BRI
iR BARAE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T
Loss before tax from continuing KBRS
operations R AT e 18 (46,251) (20,026)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of AR BIBL R
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 16.5%% 15 2 BiIA
(CE T 0 16.5%) (7,631) (3,304)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A ] 18 2 32t 2 B 75 52 2%
tax purpose 3,087 2,899
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax  PFZHFRBL Z WA 2 Bi s i 28
purpose (1,320) (1,977)
Tax effect of temporary differences not A FR Y IRF 22 56 2 i 155 52 28
recognised 791 (2,194)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KT HERZ BB R 2
B 5 5,119 4,825
Over-provision in respect of prior years 48 £ 4F i 1 %E 135 5 (60) (56)
Income tax of concessionary rate BHEBLRZ IS (6) (124)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year  4F [N FF 581 (K 4) B 32
(from continuing operations) (P B 5 M 58 2E ) (20) 69
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Food and beverage business in Singapore

On 14 January 2022, City Ally Holdings Limited (“City Ally”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with an individual (“Purchaser”),
pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to purchase, and City
Ally agreed to sell, (i) the Sale Share, representing the entire
issued share capital of Amber Glory International Limited
(“Amber Glory”), a company incorporated in British Virgin
Islands with limited liability: and (ii) the Sale Loan, representing
all the shareholder’s
aggregate consideration of S$5,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$29,000). The Purchaser is a director of a subsidiary of
Amber Glory and a director of a subsidiary of a joint venture of

loan owing by the Amber Glory, at an

the Group.

The completion of the disposal took place on 14 January 2022,
and the Group has ceased to hold any equity interest in Amber
Glory and its subsidiary (“Amber Glory Group”) and each
member of the Amber Glory Group has ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Company.

10.

DA Ik R R
B Z £ b B OB 85

RZFEZFE—HTMH > RAF
2 6 it i 4 F B I A BR A
(T ) B — 2 N+ (' F DFT L E
Bk > TR > B 7R E A K
W) B )RRy > Sy 3B
AR AR (] > — ik EE
i 4 B AR RO 2 A BRA A &
TRE B TAEAS 5 K GDTFEEK
FIBA R Z A R AR > AR
B 255,000 Il 3% 7 CFH & 7 40 ¥ s
29,0007T) ° B J5 £ FRE — [H B S A
Al —ZEREKAREEH -HEER
(2B ARz —HES -

HEFER T F—A+HH
S AL CE AT A N E X
JF RS 2 w0 (130 8 4 T ) 2 AT Al M
HE > MFARELE F & B A Rl E A
AR F Z W B AT o

B A 2
SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 11 B B5 it 2 M Rk (36)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Food and beverage business in Singapore (Continued)

The assets, liabilities and gain on disposal of food and beverage
business in Singapore as at the date of disposal are as follows:

10. D& ILBEBE(F)

B Z £ b B OREE 5 (4)

AR H RTINS B SR
BB 2 B E - AERERMT ¢

HK$’000

BT
The net liabilities disposed of are as follows: cEaETEEe T
Property, plant and equipment S ERN &G ] 82
Trade receivables JRE AT B K 10
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Fie s~ FAAT RO B Ath B SRR TH 344
Cash and cash equivalents B4 T B4 S5 B 372
Shareholder’s loan Ji§ A K (7,124)
Trade and other payables and accruals A TR R B JHAth R A SR T B

A (1,451)

Lease liabilities HEARE (450)
Net liabilities disposed of O & A AEHE (8,217)
Gain on disposal: s
Consideration RAE 29
Shareholder’s loan disposed of o B R AR (7,124)
Net liabilities disposed of o A 8,217
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 175 ] S SRt AR 184
Gain on disposal HAE I 1,306
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: bR AR B AR
Cash consideration BaE 29
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of W B2 Bl MBS EY (372)
Net cash outflow B4 i Y i A (343)

240
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

FtZH="1—HILFE

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Food and beverage business in Singapore (Continued)

The profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 from the
discontinued food and beverage business in Singapore is set out

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ £~ — =

10. BRILBBER )

B Z £ ik B kOB SE 5 (A7)

WE_EFZ_FF+_H=1+—HI
R AR E B A& LI 2 B

below. T ARREH5 1 s ARSI AN o
Period from
1 January to
14 January 2022
—H—HZE
—H+MHHY
HK$°000
BT T
Revenue BA -
General and administrative expenses — % AT 2 (178)
(178)
Gain on disposal H I 1,306
Profit for the year from discontinued operation O 4% 1 KR8 SE 5 2 A R Vs 1,128
Profit for the year from discontinued operation O LR 2 2 A W i A
includes the following: BT P4 -
Salaries and other benefits e S H At AR 171
Cash flows from discontinued operation CARILREEFEZHER R
Net cash inflow from operating activities K I B B A 323
B 2 4 i 3% A BR 23 W]

TR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. A4ERFEEE

g e

Continuing operations

242

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T
Loss for the year from continuing FRESE W 2 F N R
operations has been arrived at after bk, () T A& IHE -
charging/(crediting):
Employee benefits expense (excluding 1 B A A BH S (s #E =
directors’ emoluments) P <)
— Salaries and other benefits — Hr e S HoAh AR F 59,176 58,378
— Contributions to retirement benefits — R ARAE A F A
schemes 2,410 2,349
— Equity-settled share-based payments = DUBCAS 85 B AR A5 - 327
Directors’ emoluments I 4 4,498 5,176
Total staff costs i B S 48 66,084 66,230
Cost of inventories recognised as an T 58 4 B 32 2 A7 B A
expense (included in cost of sales and (FEABH B R IR 5 A
services) 52,574 46,100
Auditors’ remuneration %% ST 357 1,043 1,072
Depreciation of property, plant and S ENN N & i
equipment 28,911 18,123
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) A1MEE ME S8 7 s 4R (e 4 2 (23)
COVID-19-related rent concessions 5 2 e 1A vk i A R < il A - (1,904)
Impairment loss on goodwill e U (1 e 1 107 5,168
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BB Bk e I 1R
equipment 2,370 -

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f o B 5 e e W e (7)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % —=F — =4 = H =1 —H IFF ¥

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE EMOLUMENTS 12 EBFREEGTBHAEME

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to each of the CL A s MEAS AR A B 45 3 5 I AT
directors of the Company and the chief executive are as follows: BB ZMEFHERSIWT

Salaries, Contributions
allowance to retirement Equity-settled
and benefits benefits  share option Discretionary
in kind schemes expense bonuses Total

Ba oM BIEM DUREEAS
e REWEN BB WERERX  BERA frit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T #WTx  #WTx #WTx  #%Txn #%Tx

2023 SROEE
Executive directors AfiEs
Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chief RERLA
Executive Officer) (frEAR) - 2,681 31 - - 2712
Mr. Chan Chi Fung 53y S 779 18 S = 797
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul BB AL
(Chairman) (Note (i)) (F ) (3 G) - 599 30 - - 629

Independent non-executive B FE BT ESH

directors
Mr. Chan Hin Hang BRATT A 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien ~ {E52 56/ 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Hung Kenneth WRREE 120 - - - - 120
360 4,059 79 - - 4,498
Note: B 5E
(i)  Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul has been re-designated from a non-executive ) HoZ =F—HAHE  2xkE
director to an executive director and will remain as the chairman with AHFEPTEFFHELIITES > H
effective from 5 January 2023. HIEAE LT -

B ol B AT L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 11 B B5 it 2 M Rk (36)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE EMOLUMENTS 12 EFREETBENEBME (&)

(Continued)
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to each of the O AT BB A 0 R 45 3 I AT
directors of the Company and the chief executive are as follows: BB ZMEREIERINT - ()
(Continued)
Salaries,  Contributions
allowance  toretirement ~ Equity-settled
and benefits benefits  share option ~ Discretionary
Fees inkind schemes expense bonuses Total
Wao BEE RIKEN  DRERER
e REWEN GBS WRGERT MK At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS’000 HK$°000
wETr  BMTe BT BWTx E%T BT
2022 “EOCE
Executive directors HEs
Mr. Ng Ting Ho RIEV Fetk
(Chief Executive Officer) (TR - 3,305 29 - 123 3457
Mr. Chan Chi Fung s gEE - 742 18 K 124 1,107
Non-executive director FafTEE
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul SR ()
(Chairman) 240 - 12 - - 252

Independent non-executive WU FHITEF

directors
M. Chan Hin Hang ilitapis 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Yum Edward Liang Hsien £ 3 74 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Hung Kenneth WER A 120 - - - - 120

600 4,047 59 223 247 5,176
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A B % A P i

T (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

The emoluments shown above for executive directors were
mainly for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The fees for the non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. No
inducement payments to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office were paid or payable to any
director or the chief executive officer for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no (2022: one)
director was granted share options, in respect of his service
to the Group under the share option scheme of the Company.
Details of the share option scheme are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

12.

EHRLAERITBANBM S (4)

b SRR B AT B S I < R B
GFEHMANT RALEEL R
s A B o AT H R S IR
T M S T R E AL A
EHRAR -

RBEF =R CFE T
“HEF—HIEFE > EEE K
EEATBON B HE B B R AL A
MR 2Pk - IRIE —F T =F R
—ECCHFE A=+ —HIEHF
JE > S [ AT o] 3 2 ml R ZAT A
B S SRR AT i A A 4 ] =
AR AR B ey 22 3 B AT A

BE_ZFZ =T _H=1+—HIk
R MER(CE AR —4)
SR B 1) A 42 B 30 R 5 T AR 9 AR
IS A 2 BE IR RE T A R R o
JRCRE ST 8] 2 5 A5 HOR 45 B A R 3R
B 5E3S -

B A 2
SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

13.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13.

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year

included, one director (2022: two directors) of the Company,

details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 12 above.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four

(2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director

nor chief executive officer of the Company are as follows:

T4 fe i Wi e B

AR > AL A e R B
o —Z(CE A ML) AR
NN R K=y
SCHERE12 o IAAM R T IHZ (2
TR )W EARN A EH
HEBETHABZ HAmHEE 2
&r

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Discretionary bonuses

Contributions to retirement benefits

schemes

B~ WG R E AR A
MR fEAL

AR PRAR AR

7N Y

2023 2022
—B—-= —®——

HK$°000 HKS$’000

W T T T

4,792 3,964

82 570

72 54

4,946 4,588

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

B 4 A1 ST LA 44 0 9 A 8 D
= IR A AT

Emolument bands

Nil — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000

P <5 4 [

Z 21,000,000 7T

7 151,000,001 70 2 # %5 1,500,000
#5%1,500,001 7C £ i 2,000,000 7T
W5 12,000,001 70 £ # 172,500,000 7C

2023 2022
CERIEN T -
HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T

1 —

2 2

1 —

- 1

4 3

During the prior year, certain non-director and non-chief

executive highest paid employees were granted share options,

in respect of their services to the Group under the share option

scheme of the Company. Details of the share option scheme are

set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

DIVIDEND 14.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders

of the Company during the year, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: HK$Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE 15.
From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Loss

e 2
2445l 0 1 2 24 79 R OR
SR (T REL 1 T4 1 B s
30 85 O A7 8 (=% — =
WL -

56 4R

SR TE A T e

ZUNETE ZEPN ST VE TN E. 1
Je 18 I ARAE DA B R 5

#5 18

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T
Loss for the year attributable to owners of #1731 i B A% 1 48 15 485
the Company for the purpose of basic AN TR N
and diluted loss per share JRE AL 4 1A s 4R (45,308) (18,844)
Number of shares 18 H
2022
000
Tk
Issued ordinary shares at beginning of the 4F4J] £ %517 % 48 i
year 752,902 612,118
Issue of shares upon exercise of share A7 1ol i P e AR 8 A L 0
options (Note 33(i)) (BfF5E33(1)) - 8,635
Issue of placing shares (Note 33(ii)) BEAT WL B B (B EE 33 (i) = 33,004
Weighted average number of ordinary 28 B RE T 24 8
shares 752,902 653,757
B i <z Tl 4 A PR ]
~z w247



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

15. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 15. HEE G
From continuing operations R R
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from KA FESEETF 2 ANFHEA N
continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company is JRRE AV o JBE R A T 4 K s 18 T AR 4 DA
based on the following data: NHEEEE
Loss figures are calculated as follows: R BRI T

2023 2022

- Jat —a—=

.

HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T T

Loss for the year attributable to owners of <2\ "l #EA A FEAG

the Company N R (45,308) (18,844)
Less: Profit for the year attributable Bk AR B AR SR S
to owners of the Company from P N/NCIE 2SN
discontinued operation JFEE AV 4 1A Vi ) - (1,128)
Loss for the year attributable to owners 7l 732K [ FFA5 #8265
of the Company for the purpose of 2 B RS K 4 s 4R
basic and diluted loss per share P N/NCIE ZEPN
from continuing operations JREAG 4 A 5 48 (45,308) (19,972)

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

15. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

From discontinued operation

15.

BB IR (A7)

2 H CA R R B

2022
HKS$
Earnings per share TR EA -
— Basic (HK cents) — BRI 0.17
— Diluted (HK cents) — i G 0.17
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$’000
#W T T T
Profit: i F] -
Profit for the year attributable to owners 75 2K B L4 1R 584 265
of the Company for the purpose of 2R S R R 2
basic and diluted earnings per share AN A HEA N A
from discontinued operations A A ¥ A - 1,128

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for
both basic and diluted loss per share.

The basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 are the same as the Company did not
have any dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Fiv A 4 73 B B _E SO At g i B AR K
HEE IR AR -

BE_F =R _F__F+-
H=F—HILFE - HRA LR
AT An Y A U A B - R RO
AR W R AR o

B ol B AT L
“z——pgy 249



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — % — =41 H =+—H ILF ¥

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W3k ~ Wm Kk
Furniture,
fixtures
Leased Leasehold and office Motor
properties  improvements equipment vehicles Total
iR RER
fiEHE  HEWEEE N Tl it
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT BT W T BRI T
(Note (i), (i)
(G ~ (i)
Cost A
Balance at 1 January 2022 REZFZZFE—-R—-HZER 91,012 18.464 8,201 6,356 124233
Additions fH A 23,295 1,502 3302 - 28,099
Disposals/write-off tlj ‘i/ it (52,161) (1482) (516) (171) (54,330)
Disposal of a subsidiary group - 5 (5 10)

(Note 10) - (107) (1,644) - (1751)
Exchange realignment W i - - 5 - 5
Balance at 31 December 2022 and R -ZF - THEFTH=F—HE

I January 2023 ZFZ=E-A-R2E 62,346 18377 9,348 6,185 96,256
Additions 1R 41,775 6,984 1,268 - 56,027
Disposals/write-off e (22,315) (1,671) (1,299) - (25,285)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) ~ th H 8 2+ l (55 39) - - - (3,700) (3,700)
Balance at 31 December 2023 REFZ=FTZA=T—HZE R 87,306 23,690 9,317 2,485 123,298
Accumulated depreciation and Bt R

impairment
Balance at | January 2022 REZZ_F—R—HZE&R (75,022) (15313) (6,666) (3.778) (100,779)
Provided for the year B Rt (14,757) (1333) (1,160) (873) (18,123)
Disposals/write-off HE /R 51,971 1,672 516 171 54,330
Disposal of a subsidiary group i1 — (AL S L (B 32 10)

(Note 10) - 107 1,562 - 1,669
Exchange realignment W i - - (7) - (1)
Balance at 31 December 2022and R -F - "HFFZH=FT—HR

1 January 2023 ZFEE-A-A2ER (37.808) (14,367) (5,755) (4,480) (62,910)
Tmpairment loss BB H (2,028) (151) (191) - (2,370)
Provided for the year T fi (23,795) (3332) (1,606) (178) (28911)
Disposals/write-off e/ s 2,315 1,637 1,67 - 25219
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) ~ th B it 2 7l (B 39) = = = 2,198 2,198
Balance at 31 December 2023 REFZZFTZAZ R 28R (41,316) (16,713) (6,285) (2,460) (66,774)
Carrying amounts I £

T s “H= 4+ —H
Balance at 31 December 2023 REFZ=ZFFA=T-AZER 46490 6971 3,032 25 3654
Balance at 31 December 2022 RoZ-ELT A=+ —H 2 4% 24,538 3510 3,593 1,705 33,346
I I I I I
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16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking

into account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-

line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leased properties Over the term of the lease

Over the shorter of term of lease or
20%

10%-33.33%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles 10%-25%

(i) Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and
equipment)

The Group as lessee

16.

Wk ~ W Bl ()

LA BRI R AR (A
TR (B D) B L4500 91 3
sHRAT

HEYE FHE
HEYEEE HEHD20%
(DA #R g 3 /o V)
1ZH, > 2EB KN 10%-33.33%
YN ]
JRE 10%-25%
i MHHEEEG ADME - BE
Bk )
S [ 1 % AR R

Leased properties

HEmE
HK$°000
BT
As at 31 December 2023 REFZ=41ZA=1—H
Carrying amount MR THI{E 46,490
As at 31 December 2022 REFZZHEFZA=1—H
Carrying amount MR A B 24,538
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_F =4
TZA=+—HILEE
Depreciation charge e A 23,795
Impairment loss recognised B R I 1R 2,028
For the year ended 31 December 2022 WE_F 4R
TZA=1T—HILEE
Depreciation charge e 14,757
B 2 4 i 3% A BR 23 W]
“zo=nem 291



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

()

252

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and

equipment) (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

16.

Wk ~ W5 Kw i ()

@

Expense relating to short-term leases % HAFH & 2 #H B B %

Variable lease payments not

included in the measurement of

lease liabilities

COVID-19-related rent concessions

Total cash outflow for leases

Additions to right-of-use assets

AL B 45 0 A

WS R

Rt AHEARR R
] SR AT K

T B T R 2 A I AL < B o

5 FH B 2 (RE AWK ~ W3
Bt (7)

LB 7 AR (7E)

2023 2022

—B-= —2——
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T ik e aPTH
4,259 3,548

466 837
- (1,904)

32,068 31,767
47,775 23,295

For both years, the Group leases various offices,
warehouses, and restaurants for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 5 years
(2022: 1 year to 5 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for

which the contract is enforceable.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16. W3 - Walm Kkl (4E)
(ii) Variable lease payments (i) VM E A%
Leases of restaurants are either with only fixed lease BEREAENERAEEHE
payments or contain variable lease payments that are based s S s B 11%
on 11% to 13.5% (2022: 11% to 15%) of sales. Some F135%(ZF 4 1% R
variable payment terms include cap clauses. The payment 15%) w5t 519 w] 88 A B AR o
terms are common in restaurants in Hong Kong where the A A AT GRS R
Group operates. The amount of fixed and variable lease K o w% AT AR AR AE A B B R
payments paid/payable to relevant lessors during the year: T TE R B W R S R o A

FREN AT HEA T A B A
NH ] 7 R m] 38 H 8 A< R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 e - F =4 _H="1—
H 1 4EfE

Number Fixed Variable Total
of stores payments payments payments

PR BE B WA AR
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
T WWTou WW T

Restaurants without variable # n] % fH B £+ 3K

lease payments 2B 9 20,056 - 20,056
Restaurants with variable Hr] SR E AR
lease payments 2B 2 2,197 466 2,663
11 22,253 466 22,719
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEF T FEFH=A—
H Ik pE
Number Fixed Variable Total

of stores payments payments payments
JEERCE BUERTEC AR (R
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

wHToT ¥ T BWTx

Restaurants without variable  nJ %8 fH B £+ 3

lease payments a3 9 20,636 - 20,636

Restaurants with variable A AJ 8 FH B £ 3K
lease payments Py 3 3,730 837 4,567
12 24,366 837 25,203

B ol B AT L
“z——ppy 293



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(ii) Variable lease payments (Continued)

The overall financial effect of using variable payment
terms is that higher rental costs are incurred by restaurants
with higher sales. Variable rent expenses are expected to
continue to represent a similar proportion of restaurant
sales in future years.

17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are set out below:

16.

17.

Wk ~ W5 Kw i ()
(i) TS B Ak ()

{5 P T 8 AR S A i ) 4 5
MR HEBERRNERES
AR R A A o AT A
& B SCTRG I A R A A AR AR A
k2 B B B ) BTADA L A1

AR 4y ) 3 BE B U 4 W) Z 1

R IR > AR B R B A
ZREEHAIIE

Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company

A% 5l B 45 9 4 WA B

Paid up issued

Place of incorporation/ share capital/

Name of subsidiary registration/ operations registered capital 2023
L3 AV BRCHBT
VI8 20 ) 44 1 G Ve ¢k JBEA /A e A e e
Directly  Indirectly
Hi T
Ample Fair Trading Limited “British Virgins Islands” USS1 - 100%
(“BVI")
P aeids) B
([ERELE])
Amber Wealthy Holdings Limited BVI USS$1 - 100%
EEEURE IEH
Belicious (HK) Limited (“Belicious™) Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 100%
PO T T 47 B Wl i 715,000,000
([ PR - LW )
Bright Peak Investment Limited BVI USS1 - 100%
F U B A R ] b gl 157
China Demeter Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$103,000,000 - 100%
Rl IRAT i 7 #103,000,0007C

2022 Principal activities

e St FERH
Directly ~ Indirectly
Hi% fi}

- 100%  Investment holding

BRI

- 100%  Investment holding

- 100%  Distribution of alcoholic

beverage in Hong Kong

TREF A BT RS AR

- 100%  Investment holding
PR

- 100%  Licensed to carry on
regulated activity in
connected with dealing
in securities, advising
on securities and asset
management

FEETHREREE
AR
EHZZHETS

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 17. AR EEHE A FZ 1 ()

COMPANY (Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company
7K 2% 7 i i A A 2 B
Paid up issued
Place of incorporation/ share capital/
Name of subsidiary registration/ operations registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
Akt g L,/ M oH
VI 20 ) 4% B CR P t-2lL JeA /A ~FC= I S F IR
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
H¥# I H# fi
Circle Trend Group Limited (Note (i)) BVI US$1 - - - 100%  Investment holding
(KfzE) RS 17T BEFER
City Ally Holdings Limited (“City Ally”) ~ BVI US$1 100% - 100% = Investment holding
W A IR T () BB RER 157 BB
Delight Sky Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Money lending
BRI AR i HE11,000,0007C T
Delight Sky International Limited BVI Us$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BEREBARAH ERBBAHRAT E BEER
East Gain Enterprise Limited (Note (i) BVI US$1 - - - 100%  Investment holding
A A IR AR (ki) YR B 1% BEHER
Eternal Code Holdings Limited BVI USS$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
TS R A BB R 170 BB
Eternal Speed International Limited BVI USS1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
KRB A A SRR 1% BB
Fast Creation Group Limited (Note (i) BVI USS1 - - - 100%  Investment holding
(W) EEELHR ESTH TR
Golden Harvest Holdings Limited BVI USS$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
SWERARAT SR LR ESTH BB
Happy Laughter International Limited BVI USs$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BB S BEER
Keen Profit Development Limited BVI USS1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BRBEARAR BRI AR 1%L fEHER
Profit Network Asia Inc. BVI US$600 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
g A A SR IEACRE B 6007 TR
Star Kitchen Catering Group Limited BVI Uss1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ERHEEEARAR SR B E REHER

B ol B AT L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2.

SR A= —HILEE

17. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 17. ARA W EEHE A6 Z 51 (H)

COMPANY (Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company
7K 2% 7 i i A AR 2 B
Paid up issued
Place of incorporation/ share capital/
Name of subsidiary registration/ operations registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
Akt M o#f
Vi 2 ) 4% B AL/ T /A ZFC= “Z-- FEEH

Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
HE 23 HE fil %

Star Kitchen Catering Group (HK) Limited
RS () A IR )

Surplus Jade International Limited (Note (i))
(HFRE )

Talent Ford Group Limited (Note (i))
M3k ()

Way Union Development Limited

Town Ally Investment Company Limited

WEBE AR

Way Union Finance Limited

B AR

Nobel Education Organisation Limited
(“Nobel Education”)

il AE AR AR
(T4l 8% )

Wealthy Leader Limited (“Wealthy
Leader”)
BAHRATF (A

Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Food and beverage business

it R b B

BVI USS$1 - - - 100%  Investment holding

BB LR 138 BB

BVI USS1 - - - 100%  Investment holding

R LR 1%L fEHER

BVI US$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding

ERE LR 1%L REHER

Hong Kong HKS$!1 - 100% - 100%  Provision of administrative
services and investment in
securities

i LAV AT RS RRES K

Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Money lending

ik #1000 M

Hong Kong HK$15,000,000 - 51% - 51%  Provision of children
education services

Fi #115,000,0007C RS B A

Hong Kong HK$20,000 - 84% - 100%  Provision of children
education services

ik #120,0007C R A
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

A oy ) TR 2 A Z (A

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during

17.

EREIIARF ZWE AR - EHE
YT NGRS 2 X 5L
ZHBBERE - EHRR > WS
H At A T8 2 ] 2 R I A T R A R

Ik

o

T T 18] B 1) AR R 2 ) L 3R AT

both years. AR 5 76 5
Notes: Fi5E
1) The subsidiaries were disposed of during the year ended 31 December (1) ZHBAR SR E —EF =4+
2023. Further details are set out in Note 39. HET—HIEFERE - E— 55
O BiRE39 -
(i)  The subsidiaries were deregistered during the year ended 31 December (i) ZEMBAFRCREE T4+
2023. THAZ=d AR
GOODWILL 18. &
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T T
Cost AR
At 1 January and 31 December R—H—HEk+-H=1+—H 34,419 34,419
Accumulated impairment losses At A s 1R
At 1 January w—H—H (32,353) (27,185)
Impairment loss recognised in the year  4F A fifE 58 ok (E J&5 15
(Note 20) (Bt 5E20) 107) (5,168)
At 31 December Nt ZH=+—H (32,460) (32,353)
Carrying amounts R i A
At 31 December Ar—H=+—H 1,959 2,066

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are
disclosed in Note 20.

A7 ] 7R 2 B T kP 19 A B 20

[

B A 2
SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

19.

258

INTANGIBLE ASSET

19.

Trading rights 2 ) e

& E
2023 2022
B S
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T
500 500

Intangible asset comprised the eligibility rights to trade on
or through the Stock Exchange. The trading rights have no
foreseeable limit to the period over which the Group can use
to generate net cash flows. As a result, the trading rights are
considered by the management as having indefinite useful lives
because they are expected to contribute to net cash inflows
indefinitely. The trading rights will not be amortised until its
useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it will be tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that it
may be impaired.

At the end of the reporting period, the trading rights with
indefinite useful life are allocated to the financial services
business cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment
assessment (Note 20).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CGUS CONTAINING
GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSET AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Goodwill has been allocated to the following CGUs for
impairment testing:

WHEE - BBEERWE - BFE
B B i 2 Bl 4 e A LA A A

R EL 4B T B B4 A ML
M -

2023 2022
—E = S

HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T

CGU in alcoholic beverage distribution PR IR 8 2E 15 2
business Bl A AL 167 274
CGU in children education business REHABEF B EELBEA 1,792 1,792
1,959 2,066

In addition to goodwill above and trading rights set out in Note
19, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets
and allocation of corporate assets) that generate cash flows
together with the related goodwill and trading rights are also
included in the respective CGU for the purpose of impairment
assessment.

The basis of the recoverable amount of the above CGUs and
their major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

CGU in alcoholic beverage distribution business

The recoverable amount of this CGU was determined based
on value in use calculation. The key assumptions for the value
in use calculation were those regarding the discount rate and
growth in revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimated the pre-tax discount rate of 19.70% (2022: 21.74%)
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the CGU. Changes in selling price
and direct costs were based on past experience and expectations
of changes in the market.

B - T B 1B 052 55 f
5h » BB IOV - B K
S8 L 0 I 24 )
10 53 ) Lk B B 0 7 5 52 5t
I G A AT B 7 1 G o
FHBAEFAY -

bl H 4 i A L 22 T i TR S R
HE T HL T AR B (R s A R

RS B2 815 58 B 2 Bl 4 e 2 B AN

7 B 4 A LA 2 AT [ i R T
A B ST E o (8 E(E
B EEARS T 5 A B AR ARG B
DL K A K H AR R R
B o A5 PG P Al BB ARG B A
19.70% (= "4 : 21.74%) > #%
i AT S B 2R L T 4 R R
1A L 1 Ay DA S B 4 7 2R BN
AR o S8R EENAZ )
T DA FE 58 B T i 35 T 1A 5 ) 2
e o

B ol B AT L
“z——ppy 259



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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20.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CGUS CONTAINING
GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSET AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

CGU in alcoholic beverage distribution business (Continued)

The value in use calculation was derived from cash flow
projection based on the most recent financial budgets for the next
5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period had been extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.1%
(2022: 2.5%) per annum.

Based on the value in use calculation, the directors considered
that the recoverable amount of this CGU was found to be lower
than its carrying amount.

Accordingly, impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$107,000 (2022: HK$5,168,000) has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In the opinion of the directors, any reasonably adverse change
in any of these assumptions would result in further impairment
losses.

2 6 0 China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CGUS CONTAINING
GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSET AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

CGU in alcoholic beverage distribution business (Continued)

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the recoverable amount of the CGU in alcoholic beverage
distribution business at the end of the reporting period in
response to reasonably possible changes in the assumptions used
in calculation.

20. WHEEE - HIPEEKRWE - BE
B A 2 B i A LA 3k £ B0 5 (A

W9RS BB 73 8 38 B 2 Bl & e A L for
(#)

RIS e E T AR &
FH T R A 8l 1 7 i o U A T OB
3§ S5 3 < 7 A B B9 T ol [ <
R A58 o

2023 2022
Y Y - S
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) Effect on (decrease) Effect on
in the recoverable inthe  Recoverable
assumption amount assumption amount
ek b7t Hul e S Sy il
(TH) &BrEE (T SFEPE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT
Pre-tax discount rate R Al 7 B 6 0.5% @ 0.5% (11)
Pre-tax discount rate R Bl Fir 3 B % 0.5%) 4 (0.5%) 12
Growth rate beyond the T Z 5
five-year period % 0.5% 1 0.5% 4
Growth rate beyond the TR
five-year period HRR 0.5%) @ (0.5%) 4)
CGU in children education business WEBEEG B & EA AL

The recoverable amount of this CGU was determined based
on value in use calculation. The key assumptions for the value
in use calculation were those regarding the discount rate and
growth in revenue and direct costs during the year. Management
estimated the pre-tax discount rate of 14.32% (2022: 16.67%)
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the CGU. Changes in selling price
and direct costs were based on past experience and expectations
of changes in the market.

A% B 4 A B 2 AT A ] AR AR
PR EER A EE o R EES
B2 FEBFETIRFERNZ B
WA R R BN A 2B - B
JE A wHBLHT G B R £ 14.32% (%
T 1 16.67%) 0 74 B ETEBLR
J2 e T T 3 3 R R R 1
Al A B B 4 A B AR A 1Y JRUBSE
BAE M H AR 2 ) T DA A58
B T i 5 TR A S ) 2y BEVEE o

B A 2
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20.

262

IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CGUS CONTAINING
GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSET AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

CGU in children education business (Continued)

The value in use calculation was derived from cash flow
projection based on the most recent financial budgets for the next
5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period had been extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.5%
(2022: 2.5%) per annum.

Based on the value in use calculation, the directors considered that
the recoverable amount of this CGU was found to be higher than
its carrying amount. No impairment loss was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

In the opinion of the directors, any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts
of the CGU to exceed their recoverable amount.

CGU in financial services business

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projection based on
financial budgets approved by the management covering a period
of 5 years and pre-tax discount rate of 12.73% (2022: 13.0%).
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period have been extrapolated
using a steady growth rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.5%). The discount
rate used reflects specific risks relating to the relevant business.
Other key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
revenue and operating costs which are determined from past
performance and management’s expected market development.

Based on the value in use calculation, the directors considered
that the recoverable amount of this CGU was found to be higher
than its carrying amount, no impairment loss was recognised for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

In the opinion of the directors, any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts
of the CGU to exceed their recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

IMPAIRMENT TESTING FOR CGUS CONTAINING
GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSET AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

CGUs in provision of food and beverage business

The Group mainly operates restaurants leased properties with
lease terms ranging from 1 to 3 years (2022: 1 to 3 years).
Management regards each individual restaurant as a separately
identifiable CGU and performs impairment assessments on
each of the CGU with impairment indicators by considering the
recoverable amount of such assets at restaurant level. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, management identified those
loss-making restaurants and performed impairment assessments
to estimate the corresponding recoverable amounts of their
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs were determined based
on value in use calculation. The key assumptions for the value
in use calculation were those regarding the pre-tax discount
rate and growth in revenue and direct costs during the year.
Management estimated the discount rate of 13% to 15% (2022:
11% to 12%) that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risk specific to the CGUs. Changes in
selling price and direct costs were based on past experience and
expectations of changes in the market.

The value in use calculation was derived from cash flow
projection based on the most recent financial budgets for the next
5 years approved by management. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period had been extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.5%
(2022: 2.5%) per annum.

Based on the value in use calculation, the directors considered
that the recoverable amount of certain CGUs were found to be
lower than their carrying amount.

Accordingly, impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) of approximately HK$2,370,000
(2022: HK$Nil) was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2023.

20. HLIGREE -

W& E R - W7
B i A 2 B i A Ao 9 AL 0 o (70

PROE AT OB SE B 2 Bl Ak B
for

AREBEEKERENHEYE
HEBMANFIEIFE(CF

1 R 34E) o 5 B 145 5 R iR
ﬁﬁ*@ﬁ“%ﬁ%%ﬁé%i”
7 > S 3 A 2 R O T 1 % S R
FE W AT i [ 4 % > B WA PR S
{18 B 4 7 AR B AT W (E A -
HE-_ZFZ-_=HF+_HA=t+—HI
AERE > PG B E L S s TR
M HEAT WA EEAY - DA EF Y -
55 T A DA S {66 ) R ) A I
A [E] 4% o

AR 4 B A BV 2 AT i ] 4 AR T AR
WA R EER A E - R EER
B2 FEABRE I8N 2 BLRTRE B
R YR AR K AR 2 B -
BB R BL R 13% £ 15%(—

T 1 BE12%) > F%BLATRE
B 2R S WL T T 35 3 6 W IR (B

%ﬂﬁu&ﬁﬁﬁimﬁ%ﬁMH
B o B AE e B AR 2 S B ) DL
AR o i 7 TEL S A B 0y B VEE o

i BT A 92k B AR 35 2 g fit
HE 2 R A& S AF o B 15 TR ORI 1 45
ZHESREHEN - HEsFERM
B4 v = A AR e AR R % 2.5%
(CF 4 25%) HEHE -

WBHEREERNE > EHRHET
3 4 A B 22 AT g [ R AR R
MR H -

Fi > 2 —FE - =4+_HA=+
— H IF RS A 4R KA A
W sk RN ¥ R R (R
5 155 1 2 ) e R (L Ml 4 S
2,370,0007C (& — 4 iR
Jt) °

B ol B AT L
“z——pgy 203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

21. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. R—HAEREZEE
Details of the Group’s investment in a joint venture are as AEEN—HEBEREZREFTE
follows: W
2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$’000
#WT T T
Cost of investment in a joint venture A B BE A 15,000 15,000
Share of post-acquisition loss JRRE A WA 5 1% s 2 (16,907) (16,907)
Share of other comprehensive income JARE AV JEL A 4 T U 4 231 231
Effects of equity transaction of a joint —HGBEMERELSZ
venture (Note) 528 (BT 1,676 1,676
Note: B3
During the year ended 31 December 2017, BLVD Cayman Limited’s ownership WEEZE—LEF A= —HIEFE
interest in its operating subsidiary was increased from 80% to 100%. As a result BLVD Cayman Limited i /2 48 [ff & 25 =] /Y
of this equity transaction in the BLVD Group, the Group’s share of net assets of BT HERE 25 B 80% 3 i 2 100% B ABLVD
the BLVD Group was increased by an amount of approximately HK$1,676,000, GroupZ bl [RHEAZ 5 » AL FEAEBLVD
mainly due to the purchase consideration paid by BLVD Cayman Limited for GroupZ & /& T (B 3% i 49 ¥ 1,676,000 7T >
the additional ownership interest was lower than the carrying amount of non- F 2 RBLVD Cayman Limited ¥t %871 ir A
controlling interest acquired. PREEMEE i T A A s R A7 2 WA P i

HE 4 Y R TAT(E AT -

Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the reporting AEENDBRERRZ 5EMEFE
period are as follow: WmE -
Country of Principal
incorporation/ place of Proportion of ownership Principal
Name of entity registration business interest held by the Group  activities
Gy R ERER A [ 4
T R PR b Ji 4 BE R 4 L B FEE
2022
—x T
BLVD Cayman Limited ~ Cayman Islands Singapore 50% 50%  Operating restaurants,
B & Hm café and takeaway
outlets in Singapore
TR I3RS
HHE - NER R
HNE S
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INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 21.

Summarised financial information of BLVD Cayman
Limited and its subsidiaries (“BLVD Group’’)

Summarised financial information in respect of BLVD Group
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts shown in BLVD Group’s consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS.
BLVD Group is accounted for using equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

BLVD Group

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #{ £~ — =

FtZH="1—HILFE

R—RHEEEEZRE )

BLVD Cayman Limited 5 3 Ff} & 2
w) ((BLVDE Ml ) Z B % & Bl i 2

BLVD%E [ 2 [ & Rl 2t 3 51 4n
T o AN BARS GBI TR A AR A
A5 i 4 1 R 4 3 B BLVD4E 3 45

& MBS HCR B I R B e e

BLVD

2 T A 5% S5 A B 5 R A0 (o D

Current assets T

Non-current assets FE R E A E

Current liabilities mE AR

Non-current liabilities I E) &

Net liabilities AR

The above amounts of assets and liabilities | %l & & M & 1E &5 A5
include the following: TR

Cash and cash equivalents Bl KB &S EY

UL 38 <l 2 5 O G 4 R A+
HR AR S H At AR R %
1)

Current financial liabilities (excluding
trade and other payables and provisions)

R IE AR o
BLVDZH
2023 2022
—B—= —E e —4E
HK$°000 HK$°000
T ik AT
1,704 1,675
(19,715) (18,510)
(18,011) (16,835)
43
(11,444) (10,864)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — % — =4 = H =1 —H IF ¥

21. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 21. R—HEEREILRE )
Summarised financial information of BLVD Cayman BLVD Cayman Limited % 3 [ J& 2
Limited and its subsidiaries (“BLVD Group”) (Continued) W (TBLVDZE B |) Z B4 8 & B fE 2

(#8)
BLVD Group (Continued) BLVDZ# 5 (#)
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
b3 T T
Revenue A = -
Loss for the year attributable to equity HE £ B A N\ B AR AR B s 18
owners (878) (893)
Other comprehensive expense for the year H fi 7 A A JME AL AR 4F
attributable to equity owners At 4 1T BH SZ (298) (146)
Total comprehensive expense for the year HE i #E A A\ ME G A 4E
attributable to equity owners 2T B S AR 1,176) (1,039)
The above loss for the year include the following: AERE 2 Fal iR T34 08

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$°000

wH T T IT

Interest expense FLE S 942 932
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)
Summarised financial information of BLVD Cayman
Limited and its subsidiaries (“BLVD Group’) (Continued)
BLVD Group (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in BLVD Group recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

21.

R—RHEEEEZRE )

BLVD Cayman Limited % 2. J{if /& 2
"] ((BLVDZ B ]) & b # & ¥ BE 2
(#8)

BLVDZ [ (%)
bl B S R A B A A RS R

RNMER ZIABLVDEE 2 5 2
MR T (L3R

Net liabilities of BLVD Group
Proportion of the Group’s ownership

interest
The Group’s share of net assets of BLVD A4 [E E{E BLVD GroupZ
Group & T

BLVD4 [~ & fF 15
A B BT G REAE £ L)

2023 2022

—Bo= [t
HK$°000 HK$°000
wIET T T
(18,011) (16,835)
50% 50%

The unrecognised share of loss and other comprehensive expense
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$588,000 (2022: HK$519,000) and unrecognised
accumulated share of losses as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$9,005,000 (2022: HK$8,417,000).

BE_F = T+-_HA=1+—HIk
A BE R R R AL e 4R R A A T
B Sl 5 &) K5 588,0000C (&
A WEH519,00000) K —EF =
A=+ —H R EEN
5 18 & ) #5 %59,005,000 0T (&
TAE  {E%8,417,0000C) ©

B A 2
SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

22A. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

22A. &0 SRR A At 2 v Wi 2 2 4
il B

Unlisted investments: FELEHE :
— Equity investments - AR E
— Fund investments -ReHE

2023 2022

—E = S

.

HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T ki

53 53
4,309 20
4,362 73

The Group has elected to designate these investments as at
FVTOCIT as these investments are not held for trading and not
expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

Notes:

a. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the unlisted equity securities
at fair value represent investments in equity securities issued by a private
company. The directors of the Company estimated no fair value change of
these securities during 2023.

b. The unlisted fund investments at fair value represent the investments
placed to private funds incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received
distributions of approximately HK$15,000 (2022: HK$ Nil) from
the fund investments all of which was return of capital.

i) On 6 February 2023, the Group subscribed to a new unlisted fund
incorporated in the Cayman Islands at cash considerations of
USD638,400 (approximately of HK$5,020,000).During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognized a fair value loss
of approximately HK$716,000 by reference to NAV statement of
the fund portfolio.
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J6) c ME_FE =412 H
=t —HIEFE > AEHEKS
A A EREFEBER
1% T SR > Fo M8 s R4 W
716,0007C °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

22B. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 2B. A REMAF AR Z S E E

PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL: WA REMEGABEFRZ S
il e

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT W T

Equity investments held for trading: FHEEE Z A E -

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong ~ — #& ¥ b i it A< i 75 10,007 20,833

— Unlisted equity securities - Ik BT RA IS 87 1,027

10,094 21,860

23. OTHER ASSETS 23, H i e
Other assets included statutory deposits with the Hong Kong H&EEEF®R —F =4+
Exchange and Clearing Limited and Hong Kong Securities A=+t —HEFBRL S LEEE I
Clearing Company Limited (“HKSCC”) amounting to ARAR LEFEBEH RAEFARL
approximately HK$230,000 (2022: HK$574,000) as at 31 Al (WA 2k E R B4
December 2023 and are non-interest bearing. #230,0007C (= F = 4F : ¥
574,00070) > HAFE -
24. INVENTORIES 24. 78

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T

Finished goods BURG 1,453 1,533
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. MEWUIRR
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
T BT
Trade receivables R WA B 3K

— Non-financial services business — I 4 R IR A A5 1,491 1,195

— Financial services business — 4 RO ST

— Dealing in securities -HEWH

— Cash clients -BlEaER = 263
— Margin clients -REEEKF 51,031 77,849
— Clearing house - HE 2,186 790
— HKSCC marks - HW LS E AR 25 -
53,242 78,902
54,733 80,097

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, trade receivables from

ATR D =ZHER TR THFETFTH

N

=t—H > REEF&#ZEWIR
P A B 4 s 5 54,733,0000T KX &)
#:%£80,097,0007C °

contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$54,733,000 and approximately HK$80,097,000 respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

25. JEWIRR (45)

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a) Non-financial services business
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables

net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the
invoice date:

(a)

0-90 days 0&90K

b <o il IR 5 3 5

PATF A48 55 H 251 2 &40
PR A5 B0l R 12 R SR S 2
AR AT -

2023 2022
—2—= —E e —4E
HK$7000 HK$°000

T T

1,491 1,195

The Group’s trading terms with its customers from the non-
financial services business are mainly on cash and smart
card settlement, except for well established customers for
which the credit term is generally 90 days (2022: 30 to
60 days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables and the management regularly
reviews the overdue balances.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
Note 38.2.2.

7 £ 6] L I 4 il IR OES S K
FzEBRRFEL B
RER&HE  HHRNGEERL
W& F > R E 4% TI0KR (Z
T 30260 K) 2 fFE
W o AS AR [ ) 5K BAR 4R ) LR
Wi [ 2 WACER T e A P o
TG % A 45 % -

HRAEEGEEBURNE—
PRI B EE38.2.2 -
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ey 271



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(b) Financial services business
The aged analysis of the trade receivables arising from

cash clients, clearing house and HKSCC marks based on
the trade date is as follows:

25. WEWCHRSK ()

(b)

090 days 0F 90K

<6 il IR 5 3 5

BE®F - &AM EEGER
7 R AU E A 1) B AR R R T
25y H B BRE AT AR

2023 2022

—F = —F_-

.

HK$°000 HK$°000
T T
2,211 1,053

The settlement terms of trade receivables arising from the
ordinary course of financial services business of dealing
in securities from cash clients and clearing house are two
days after trade date.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in
Note 38.2.2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

26. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

26. MEWCE A

Loans and interest receivables JRE A BB 3k K A B
Less: Allowance for credit losses W E B R

Analysed as: vig v
Current L
Non-current FE B

2023 2022
—R-= - S >
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
12,022 16,506
(6,264) (2,314)
5,758 14,192
5,758 14,192
5,758 14,192

A maturity profile of the loans and interest receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of
allowance for credit losses, is as follows:

TS SR 2 2 3 F 03 2 B
FOBFR (PR 15 Bl 18 ) 210

0-90 days 0F 90K
91-180 days 912 180K
Over 180 days A 180K

(RN
2023 2022
g St S

HK$’000 HK$°000
T T

51 12,607

4,334 -

1,373 1,585

5,758 14,192

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in Note
38.2.2.

A7 B AS 2 B R B EUOR B3 — 2 wF 1

A B 5E38.2.2 o
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27. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER  27. 4% ~ V{08 B 3 fih i e sk 08

RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T
Prepayments TA AT IE 1,314 1,484
Deposits and other receivables iz 4 S HoAth BE U R 13,754 15,573
15,068 17,057
Deposits and other receivables included — #F A FF i H) & & 2 % 4
under non-current assets A Wik TR (6,397) (3,694)
Current portion included under current Fh AT E) B A 2 R ER 4
assets 8,671 13,363
Included in the Group’s other receivables, prepayments and 7 4R [ Y Al B i SR IH - FEAY K
deposits were rental deposits amounting to approximately TH R ¥ 4 B 8GR & LB
HK$6,397,000 (2022: HK$3,694,000), which are expected to 6,397,000 (& = 4 - W
be recovered or recognised as expenses after more than one 3,694,0007T) » FE AR — 44 Wi A
year. All of the other receivables are expected to be recovered or SRR 2 BH S o P A H At B R OE
recognised as expenses within one year. T A — 4 P i [ B R A B S
28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TRUST BANK 28. B&RBEZEY faitiTRE
ACCOUNTS
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$°000
#WT T T
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBS EY 27,586 42,325
Trust bank accounts fEFERATIR S 17,230 34,668

44,816 76,993
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/TRUST BANK
ACCOUNTS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group,
deposits placed with securities brokers and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank
balances earn interest at floating rate based on daily bank deposit
rates and short term time deposits earn interest at the respective
short term deposit rates. The bank balances and short term time
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

The Group maintains trust bank accounts with authorised
financial institutions to receive and hold money deposited by
clients in the course of the conduct of the regulated activities.
These clients’ monies are maintained in one or more trust bank
accounts and bear interest at commercial rates. The Group has
recognised the corresponding trade payables to respective clients.
The Group currently does not have an enforceable right to offset
those payables with the deposits placed.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28.

29.

Bl&RBEEHEY, /s RS
(#8)

B K BB S5 E Y S8 A B T 5
B4~ FHUR SRR 2 AR R
T =8 A B Lk A B 2 JE A SRAT A
o MR H RAT A L7 B
BRI B 2 SRAT &5 BR M A% 45 1 46
T K ) 2 B A B 2 0 E A
AR o SRAT &5 B b A I E WA BRI A7
T Sl 0 20 3 46 X kLA B R A7
HERAT -

A B2 1 W T < AR B L EAR
FrHR P AR HEAT 52 808 16 B i A o
W BB & F A o 7%5F 57 K
JEAF I — A B2 (A 15 SESRATHRE &
B ER R o AL E O R E
4285 5 B AR E AT Rk - AR
7 48 5 o L1 B 0 0 % 5 B AT R
AR B A7 AT AR

WEE A Bk B Lt WEE Ak S

2023 2022
—_EF2_= - S,
HK$000 HK$’000
BT T
Trade payables JREAST R K
— Non-financial services business — FF 4 AR SE T (B G))
(Note (1)) 9,073 9,119
— Financial services business (Note (ii)) — 4 Rl R TS 2T (Rt i)
Dealing in securities HE S5
— Cash clients ~-BlEKF 16,750 31,607
— Margin clients - REEFS 3,593 5,401
— Asset management - BEEH 15 110
Other payables and accruals (Note (iii)) A A5 3k T e TE R
(Bt 5 (Gid)) 21,757 21,572
51,188 67,809
B 4 R A B A ]
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f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

Notes:

(©)

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 29. WA sk B Bt M 45 ook I (47)
MEsE
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables from non-financial @) PAF AR IR H 2
services business, presented based on invoice date at the end of the A B 4 IR S 2 2 A IR 2 IR
reporting period: W53 Hr
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T T
0-90 days 090K 9,073 9,119
(i)  The settlement terms of trade payables arising from the ordinary (i) WBHFLHZ— e RIS LR
course of financial services business of dealing in securities are T A 2 EAT IR K 2 & S R 2 22 5
two days after trade date. HAEWK o
Trade payables to clients bear variable interest at commercial JEAT % P 2 By m] 5 i E R 3R 51
rates, and are repayable on demand subsequent to settlement date. oo &5 H R 4 R AR - AN
No aged analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the directors of AR S o HRES A BT B A SE T 1 M
the Company, the aged analysis does not give additional value in B N7 A T AR AMEAE - SOl A R
view of the nature of business. At 31 December 2023, the trade HRES X HT - IR —F =4+ HA=1
payables amounting to approximately HK$17,230,000 (2022: —H > A%17,230,00000 (—F =
HK$34,668,000) were payable to clients in respect of the trust AF 1 i 34,668,0007T) 2 IEAT FKIA
and segregated bank balances received which are held for clients B RS FE K T U T SR AT A
in the course of conducting the regulated activities. However, the ik > T EAT Z R E TR E AR h R E
Group currently does not have an enforceable right to offset these FReA o SR > ASE F] H i M 5
payables with the deposits placed. A R AR 091 5% S IR AN S I B I A7 AR
HES o
(iii)  Other payables and accruals included amount due to a non- (i) oAt A 2 TE % vE R 2 AL A —
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately ] R W) — 4% JF HE R I & R A
HK$197,000 (2022: HK$Nil). HE#197,00000 (ZF =4 - BRE
JG) °
30. OTHER BORROWING 30. oAb &

At the end of the reporting period, the other borrowing is from

an independent third party, denominated in HKS, interest bearing

at 10% (2022: 11%) per annum and repayable within two years

(2022: repayable within one year). The borrowing is secured by

corporate guarantee executed by the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. EERIE

Right-of- Lease
use assets liabilities Total

1 FH HE Bt R £ 655 AEt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T W T

Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets ~ ¥EREBLIH (A1) & &

arising from: EAH
At 1 January 2022 WoEF - —H—H (2,585) 2,585 -
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss A 2% (FIBR) /FEA (1,464) 1,464 -
At 31 December 2022 and S S S
1 January 2023 +ZA=t—H K
R TS —H—H (4,049) 4,049 -
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss 8 4 (F1B%) /FFA (3,419) 3,419 -
At 31 December 2023 A —
+—-H=+—H (7,468) 7,468 -
At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax assets have JA RS AN TRER - pi A R AR v A I
been recognised in respect of the estimated unused tax losses AN BT TR > Al st R 68 A9 Bk
of approximately HK$148,822,000 (2022:HK$117,801,000) iR A & s 148,822,000 (%
available for offset against future profits that may be carried A #%117,801,0000T) 0 AT
forward indefinitely due to unpredictability of future profit A L300 A58 o DA G B R A0 A1) - R
streams. In additions, the Group has deductible temporary S SRR LB IH K o A > A
differences of approximately HK$21,319,000 (2022: A A 121,319,000 (—F —
HK$16,525,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised TAE  H¥16,525,0007C) 1Y ) R A0
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not BT IR 2= B o A AS T RE A BB
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the i ) AT DA AR KA1 AT K0 IR
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. S fiy DA 40 e 8 B 5% 5 mT HK 0

IR 25 A B Y R AE BT G

B ol B AT L
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities payable: JE AT AHL B LA

Within one year —4ER

Within a period of more than one year but & ## — 4= {H b A {48
not more than two years

Within a period of more than two years & 48 Wy 4 {H /D it F4F

but not more than five years

B ZIA ) A AL

Less: Amount due for settlement within

12 months shown under current T 124 A A 2 3
liabilities HEE M EOH
Amount due for settlement after 12 B FE L) A
months shown under non-current 1248 A 4%
liabilities B A5 S 3R0A

3. MEfAfH

2023 2022
o= o
HK$’000 HK$°000
T ik AT
25,317 17,841
19,563 9,584
6,395 3,605
51,275 31,030
(25,317) (17,841)
25,958 13,189
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % —=F — =4 = H =1 —H IFF ¥

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. BEA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each R EEER0.01CHE @B Number of shares Share capital
it 4 % H JBe AR
’000 HK$°000
Tk T
Authorised: HE -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 REF__HF—H—H
January 2023 and 31 December 2023 CEICHET A= —H
“ECEHE-A-BR
R =+ HA=+—H 100,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: CETEHR
At 1 January 2022 h_—E - HE—H—H 612,118 6,121
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options 17 il B I HEA% 55 17 A 1y (W i)

(Note (1)) 15,300 153
Issue of placing shares (Note (ii)) WA M 4y (B 5 i) 125,484 1,255
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 31 fE_ZF "4+ -H=+—H -

December 2023 “EIEFE-A-ARK

CEC ST H S+ —H 752,902 7,529

Notes: R 5E

(i) Issue of shares upon exercises of share options () A7 1V B E A2 B AT I Oy
During the year ended 31 December 2022, 15,300,000 ordinary shares WE_ZFZ " HF+_HA=+—HIF
were issued upon the exercise of a total of 15,300,000 share options at BE > 15,300,000 3 48 i LAAT A 4
exercise price HK$0.125 per share, giving rise to aggregate net proceeds g ik 0.125704 7 4 3£ 15,300,000
of approximately HK$1,913,000. By W IR HEAZ 984T - A SRS Ir 45 3K

TRAAA 15 1,913,0007C °

(ii)  Issue of placing shares (i)  BEATECE B
On 27 September 2022, the Group completed the placing of aggregate of B ZFIAZTEH AL
125,483,612 ordinary shares of the Group of HK$0.01 each to not less ST AR e 5 Q3 1) AS 2D A 7S 44 7R i
than six placees through placing agent at HK$0.10 per ordinary share. NG5 B 3 B 7 0. 100 2 8 4%
The net proceeds from the placing of shares amounted to approximately il 5 & 125,483,612 A</ &) 45 A 1)
HKS$12,171,000. EH#EH0.0170 2 2@ i o Bl B B

AR IEIT 3R A £y i %5 12,171,000 »

B ol B AT L
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % & =4 H = —HIFF&

34.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 156 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value. The application of
the share premium account is governed by the Bermuda Law.

Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus represents the amounts transferred from
share capital and share premium due to capital reorganisation
comprising the share consolidation, the capital reduction and the
share subdivision.

Pursuant to the special resolution passed in an extraordinary
general meeting and special general meeting held on 24 April
2014, 3 February 2016 and 27 May 2019 respectively, and
took effect on 5 June 2014, 4 February 2016 and 28 May
2019, the directors were authorised to use HK$195,134,000,
HK$15,782,000 and HK$10,712,000 credit balances in the
contributed surplus account result from the reduction of the
paid-up capital of the Company to eliminating or setting off the
accumulated losses of the Company.

Up to the year ended 31 December 2023, HK$221,628,000
(2022: HK$221,628,000) credit balances in the contributed
surplus account were used to eliminate the accumulated losses of
the Company.

2 8 0 China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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34. b

A [ 7 A 4 JBE Bt A 4 JBE 14 fol
é%&ﬁmﬁiﬁ\wﬂ%ﬁﬁ%

i A5 it 1L

J A3 1 6 TR e 8 408 L 1 (. 2 B A%
AT B A 2 WA o ey i AE
MR HE 32 B S A A A -

B B R

mRETEAEM (B RGE
BF ~ EAH B B PR A AE) > B
FEFLERTR B A B B A 4 2
T e

RSB —F—MEN A —+
WH ~ —_F—RNFE_H=HK
F—NELA -+ EHETZR
BRRE AR & i K it B — U AN
ARH > —FE—NEHNH KL
F—ERHA /B AR
PRE o R B RS A A
AL A ELE 2 WA BBIEY
HETE AL BRI 5 195,134,0000C ~ i
15,782,0007C b #: 10,712,000 7T >
DIB S BB AN Al 2 BETEGIE o

WEE-FZ - =F+-H=1+—H
IEAFEBE o SN Z B TR A T A5 R U i
221,628,00070 (& 4 @ {5
221,628,0007T) B 9 I A 3 8 A8 2y
Al Z AFHEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

RESERVES (Continued)
Capital reserve

The capital reserve arises from (i) capitalisation of a loan and
represents the difference between the amount due to a former
beneficial shareholder capitalised and the nominal value of
shares; and (ii) the expiry of conversion option of convertible
bonds and warranty.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of unexercised share options granted to executive
directors, employees and consultants of the Group that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

FVTOCI reserve

The reserve represents cumulate gains and losses arising on
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income that have been recognised in other
comprehensive income.

34.

it 5 (A
A fo

B L B )M E R B EA
18 2 B A T B g P SR T B IR 7 T
EFZ RN ERBIRER 5 L (i)
A4 B 2 B R B R 2 S I
JiEi i o

Ji FB HE ¥

S PR Aot e LA IR T AR R BT
¢~ R B S P T 1 A AT R
23 B A REER D - B
T R 2 & BOR R o

B M 45 53 Gk Al

B BEE P8B4 L5 98 S0 S5 B
5 R A AR Y B A A RE 22 o

o Su R AR R A B Ath 4 1w W 28 2
(]

A% febt M9 Al 4% AR (E R A A
S THT W A 2 <l T E T EE A 2 B
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35s.

282

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (“2023 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
by the Company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 15 June 2023. Under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme, the Company may grant options to eligible
persons, including Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of
the Company to subscribe for the shares.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options which may be granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme and options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on 15 June 2023 unless
the Company obtains a refresh approval from its shareholders
three years after the adoption of the scheme. Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
or any other share schemes of the Company under which such
options are granted, as the case may be, shall not be counted for
the purpose of calculating whether the limit has been exceeded.
The 10% general limit after the passing of the ordinary resolution
by the shareholders at the annual general meeting dated 15 June
2023 on the basis of 752,901,672 shares in issue on that date.
The maximum number of new shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options that may be granted under the 10%
general limit is 75,290,167.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of ten years commencing from 15 June 2023.

The subscription price in respect of any option, subject to the
adjustment made of any alteration in the capital structure,
shall be such price as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion at the time of the grant of the relevant option but in
any case the subscription price shall not be less than the higher of
(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the
nominal value of a share.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The options must be taken up within 21 days from the date of
grant upon payment of HK$1 and must be held by the Grantee
for at least 12 months before the option can be exercised. The
options are exercisable over a period to be determined and
notified by the directors to each grantee, at the time of making
an offer provided that such period shall not exceed the period of
10 years from the offer date of the particular option but subject
to the provisions for early termination, from the offer date to
the earlier of (i) the date on which such option lapses under the
provisions of early termination; and (ii) 10 years from the offer
date of that option.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to the eligible participants, including
employees, employees of related companies and service
providers, as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Group and/or to enable the Group to attract, recruit and
retain high-calibre personnel that are valuable to the Group and
whose contributions are important to the long-term growth and
profitability of the Group.

Where any grant of options to an eligible participant would
result in the shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options and the options and awards granted to
such eligible participant under any other share schemes of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options, and
excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the relevant schemes) in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the shares in issue, such grant must be separately approved
by the shareholders in general meeting with such eligible
participant and his close associates (or associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Where any grant of options to an independent non-executive
Director or a substantial shareholder or any of their respective
associates would result in the shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options and awards granted (excluding any
options and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
relevant schemes) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total issued shares, such further grant of options
must be approved by the shareholders in a general meeting of
the Company where the grantee, his associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting in
favour of the proposed grant at such general meeting.

The Company must send a circular to the shareholders containing
the information required under the GEM Listing Rules and
where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote at the
shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the
GEM Listing Rules abstaining from voting.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no share options were
granted or exercised under the 2023 Share Option Scheme. No
share options remained outstanding as at 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 15,300,000 share
options were granted under the Company’s previous share option
scheme adopted on 30 September 2013 which was terminated on
15 June 2023 and all such share options has been exercised. As
at 31 December 2022, there are no outstanding share options.

The number of share options available for grant under the then
existing scheme mandate of the then prevailing share option
scheme of the Company as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023 was 62,741,806 shares and 75,290,167 shares respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

No shares of the Company that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under all schemes of the Company
(i.e. the 2023 Share Option Scheme) during the year ended 31
December 2023, and divided by the weighted average number of
shares of 752,901,672 shares of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023, is 0%.

The total number of share options available for issue under
the 2023 Share Option Scheme was 75,290,167 shares as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 62,741,806 shares),
representing approximately 10.0% (31 December 2022: 8.3%) of
the issued shares of the Group.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for the
employees in Hong Kong. In addition, the employees employed
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled
to long service payment (the “LSP”) if the eligibility criteria are
met.

The LSP are defined benefit plans. The carrying amount of
defined benefit plan obligations as at 31 December 2023 is
approximately HK$594,000 (2022: HK$Nil).
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36. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

286

Pension schemes

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all its eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. There is no forfeited
contribution that may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, defined
contribution retirement benefits expenses of approximately
HK$2,489,000 (2022: HK$2,408,000) was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Long service payment liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to long
service payments in accordance with the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These
circumstances include where an employee is dismissed
for reasons other than serious misconduct or redundancy,
that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires without
renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined
with reference to the employee’s final salary (capped
at HK$22,500) and the years of service, reduced by the
amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
contributions to MPF scheme (see note 36(a)), with an
overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the
Group does not have any separate funding arrangement in
place to meet its LSP obligation.
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36. DR 1% 1 A (4D

36. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

(b)

Long service payment liabilities (Continued)

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory
right of an employer to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong
Kong employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions
to the MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently
announced that the Amendment Ordinance will come
into effect from the Transition Date. Separately, the
Government is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme
to assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
MPF contributions (irrespective of the contributions made
before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in
respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date.
However, where an employee’s employment commenced
before the Transition Date, the employer can continue to
use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect
of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance
primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
Hong Kong employees.

(b)
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36. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued)

(0

288

36. DR 1% 1A (4

The present value of unfunded obligations and its (c) RIBEE 4 0E 5B R H 5

movements are as follows:

BT :

HK$°000
BT
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and RFECTHE—~H—H
1 January 2023 TR A=+ —H
—F_=F—H—H -
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: A HE # HERE 2 BH S
Current service cost B IR Al 85 A 579
Interest cost FILE A 15
594
At 31 December 2023 SR =AY A=1—H 594
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit JE FEAR AT AT 2 InAEST- X5 4F 4
obligations is 18.25 years (2022: N/A). B8 25 (ZE M« AN
M) e
The above expenses are recognised in the administrative bl BRSO AR 18 2w S HA 2
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and TS i 3 2 A7 BUBA S A fERT

other comprehensive income.
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36. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 36. /1% & P ()
(d) Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as (d) 3= RS SR (DL A F 35 8
weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis are as R B SUEE S e F -
follows:

Discount rate PSS 3.13% t0 3.96%
3.13% £3.96 %
Future salary increases 1% s s e 3.58% to 5.5%
3.58% %£5.5%
The below analysis shows how the defined benefit TR EEE R R
obligations as at 31 December 2023 would have increased/ 0.5% %8I3 —F — =4+
(decreased) as a result of 0.5% change in the significant “HZ T 2 E R EAT
actuarial assumptions: ()

2023
S Y

Increase Decrease

in 0.5% in 0.5%

54m0.5% 0.5 %

HK$°000 HK$°000

#WT T #H T

Discount rate Hli B % (44) 64
Future salary increases 1% Hi e Y4 e 3 3)
The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption b MU S M TS BB e A
that changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated JBRDHE R i 1 58 B 5 L 7 AN AH
and therefore it does not take into account the correlations B > SR A RO B

between the actuarial assumptions. R AH BT BE o

B ol B AT L
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37.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of
dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts,
redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

A subsidiary of the Group is licensed with The Securities and
Futures Commission (“SFC”) for the business it operates in.
The Group’s licensed subsidiary is subject to liquid capital
requirements under Securities and Futures (Financial Resources)
Rules (“SF(FR)R”) adopted by the SFC. Under SF(FR)R, the
licensed subsidiary must maintain a liquid capital (assets and
liabilities adjusted as determined by SF(FR)R) in excess of
HK$3 million or 5% of its total adjusted liabilities, whichever is
higher. Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid
capital level of the licensed subsidiary to ensure compliance with
the requirements under the SF(FR)R.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. As
part of this review, the Group considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital.
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37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 37. BABH(A)
Gearing ratio BEARAMILE
The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as RS HIR R E A BRI -
follows:

2023 2022
HK$°000 HKS$’000
BT W T T
Debts (Note i) fE005 (B AED) 10,249 20,054
Equity (Note ii) e 4 (B 5Ei) 82,552 128,546
Gearing ratio EAAI R 12.42% 15.6%
Notes: R 5E
i Debt is defined as long-term and short-term borrowing, as detailed in i EHS A2 28 5 = 0 0 0 8 (R
Note 30, and amount due to a non-controlling shareholder, as detailed in T BiE EE30) Ko HE AT I 42 1% i B 3k T (Rf
Note 29. THHR B FE29) -
il Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to owners of the ii R A 355 A 2 W R AT A 1) 22 0
Company. A Bt o

B ol B AT L
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. &MTH

38.1 &b T H R

38.1 Categories of financial instruments

B il B

Financial assets

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT
Fair value through profit or L AEHFTA IR 7
loss (FVTPL): (&2 e AE ERFA
Azl -
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL 5 il ¥ A B E R AR
it &
Held-for-trading FHEHE 10,094 21,860
Loans and receivables at FEHEF AR 5 B K
amortised cost: JEW A -
Other assets Hopth & 230 574
Trade receivables JE W K 54,733 80,097
Loans and interest receivables JRRE Wi R K ) S 5,758 14,192
Deposits and other receivables Fic 4 T Ho A ME MG IE (A
(included in financial assets) R ) 13,754 15,573
Trust bank accounts R FERATIRF 17,230 34,668
Cash and cash equivalents Be LB &% EY 27,586 42 325
Financial assets at fair value through &2\ & (H 7 A H A2 iy
other comprehensive income: W7 2 & B E -
Equity investments JEAE 4,362 73
Financial liabilities = A
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 1% K 7l 78 2 % il &
Financial liabilities included in trade A ME 5] i A Al R £+
and other payables IH 2 <5 i AR 41,071 57,543
Other borrowing HoAt £ 10,052 20,054
Lease liabilities HEAM 51,275 31,030
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.2 B R B A% B H B K BUR

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, other assets,
trade receivables, loans and interest receivables, deposits
and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, trust bank accounts, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, other
borrowing and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

38.2.1 Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

Transactional currency exposures arise from revenue
or cost of sales by operating units in currencies other
than the unit’s functional currency. Substantially
all the Group’s revenue and cost of sales are
denominated in the functional currency of the
operating units making the revenue, and substantially
all the cost of sales are denominated in the operating
unit’s functional currency. Accordingly, the directors
consider that the Group is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

AL 2 R T B AR %
N ABEEF ARG &M E
o~ HAREE - BEUORR -
W R B RIS, ~ e K Al R
WoEkIE ~ $5 A B E R A AL
ETH AR 2 Bl E - 5 RESR
FTaRF - Ble Bl EY) -
AT R R L A A K ~
flaf& & R E A - %5 oM
TR A REAR AR B M R 38R -
B 3% 55 < 1 TR A B 9 B
115 T 355 Ja B (B W Il By~
JE By B At AB A% L)~ £F B
J\ e R it B < gk o A TR A
AT A AR 2% 55 e 1) B SR O T
SC o AR AR I LG A R R
%S JEL B o DR B IR A 280 PR
WO H A it -

A A Tl < L T 2 2 SR
FRUA CHCAE P B R % 55 SRR
Z IR A )

38.2.1 i B3 el B
S EE i 5 R

32 oy B W Ja B T TR RS
o DL B 7 2 g B L
S HY B BT AR 2 WA B
B A BT 5l B o AL
HEF PN A&
B A DL A2 A B A
e AR N
{EL - T A8 K& 0 8 B I
A DLKE 8 B ) e B
GIME - F > EHER S
A 5 [ 5l 48 K 52 B K Ah
W B o A 4R H
ol 4 S0 W 3B P BSR o AR
> % B IE B 455
JE B > S5 A AT
75 g 9 K Hh R B
Frtp o

B ol B AT L
“x——pgy 293



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

294

(Continued)

38.2.1 Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
interest-bearing financial assets and financial
liabilities. The Group are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rates bank
deposits and fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed rate loans receivables, fixed rate borrowing and
lease liabilities. The directors continues to monitor
the interest rate exposure of the Group.

All of the Group’s loans receivables are based on
fixed interest rates with original maturities of 12
months (2022: 12 months). The Group prices these
loans receivables strategically to reflect market
fluctuations and achieve a reasonable interest-rate
spread.

The fixed rate instruments of the Group are
insensitive to any change in market interest rates.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.2 A5 R B A PR R S B3R (4)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

38.2.1 Market risk (Continued) 38.2.1 1i7 53 i B (42)

Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Changes in market interest rates may affect the
Group’s securities margin financing business and
the Group mitigates this risk by revising the margin
financing rate as and when appropriate.

Interest rates on bank deposits are relatively low and
not expected to change significantly.

No sensitivity analysis is performed as management
does not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing financial assets resulted from the changes in
interest rates and considers the risk is insignificant to
the Group.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in listed equity and unlisted
equity securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles. In addition, the
Group has appointed a team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

296

(Continued)

38.2.1 Market risk (Continued)

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period.

For equity securities with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 1, if equity prices had been
15% higher/lower (2022: 15% higher/lower):

. post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December
2023 would decrease/increase by HK$1,253,000
(2022: HK$2,609,000). This is mainly due to
the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
equity investments.

Sensitivity analysis for unquoted equity securities
with fair value measurement categorised within Level
3 were disclosed in Note 38.3.

3822 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties are arising from
the carrying amounts of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 38.2 W IR B 4 PR H R S BUK (48)
(Continued)
38.2.2 fe B I B BE R W AH T

382.2 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables from non-financial services
business

For the credit sales of goods to customers, the Group
does not have significant concentration of credit risk
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Regular review and follow up actions are carried
out on overdue amounts to minimise the Group’s
exposure to credit risk. An aging analysis of the
debtors is prepared on a regular basis and is closely
monitored to minimise any credit risk associated with
these debtors.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for trade receivables that are over 90
days past due and set the default criterion as 365 days
past due based on good repayment records for those
trade debtors having a continuous business with the
Group and the historical payment patterns in Hong
Kong. They are assessed based on their probability
of default and exposure of default with reference to
historical debt collection experience, adjusted by
current and forward-looking factors.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

298

(Continued)

38.2.2 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables from non-financial services
business (Continued)

No credit evaluations are performed for retail
customers that transact in cash, Octopus or via
major credit cards. The Group’s trade receivables in
connection with sales settled through delivery service
platforms are with high credit rating and have no past
default history. Given that these assets are short-term
in nature and the probability of default is negligible
on the basis of high-credit rating issuers, the expected
credit loss rates were insignificant and close to zero
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, and
accordingly, no loss allowance was recognised in
respect of trade receivables.

Trade receivables from financial services business

In respect of trade receivables arising from financial
services business, the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of trading limits,
trading approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
outstanding balances. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
receivable at the end of each of reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. Margin calls are made when
the outstanding balances due from clients exceed
their respective limits with consideration of the
quality, liquidity and price volatility of individual
stock, and the transaction history and credibility of
the clients. Failure to meet margin calls may result in
the prohibition from further purchase of securities or
liquidation of the client’s positions on a case-by-case
basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 38.2 W IR B 4 PR H R S BUK (48)
(Continued)
38.2.2 fe B I B BE R W AH T

382.2 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables from financial services business
(Continued)

Margin clients are required to pledge securities
as collaterals to the Group in order to obtain the
margin facilities for securities trading. At 31
December 2023, loans to margin clients are secured
by clients’ securities pledged as collaterals with
market value of approximately HK$220,813,000
(2022: HK$467,159,000). Management has assessed
the market values of the pledged securities of each
individual client who has margin shortfall at the end
of each reporting period. Based on the assessment,
the loss given default is low in view of the estimated
realised amount of ultimate disposal of the collaterals
and the management considers the ECL for
receivables from one margin client is significant and
therefore impairment allowance of approximately
HK$1,250,000 (2022: HK$Nil) was recognised.
The margin loans are repayable on demand and
bear variable interest at commercial rates. No aged
analysis is disclosed as, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the aged analysis does not give
additional value in view of the nature of securities
margin business.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

300

(Continued)

3822 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables from financial services business
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, receivables due from cash
clients at the end of the reporting period relate to
independent clients that have good track records with
the Group or are subsequently settled. When cash
clients fail to settle on the settlement date, the Group
has the right to sell the purchased securities of the
respective transaction. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary after taking into consideration the
recoverability from the purchased securities and past
collection history of each client adjusted by current
and forward-looking factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

382.2 Credit risk management and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Loans and interest receivables

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding loans and interest receivables so as to
minimise credit risk. The granting of loans is subject
to approval by the credit committee, whilst overdue
balances are reviewed regularly for recoverability. As
at 31 December 2023, loans receivables are charging
on effective interest rates mutually agreed with the
contracting parties, ranging from 10% to 18% (2022:
10% to 18%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$1,379,000 (2022:
HK$1,593,000) were secured by a car parking space
in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

302

(Continued)

38.22 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)
Loans and interest receivables (Continued)

Having assessed the loan receivables under the
ECL model, as at 31 December 2023, the directors
concluded that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of one of the customers (2022: None)
since initial recognition and loan receivables from
three customers (2022: three customers) have been
individually impaired by HK$6,264,000 in total
(2022: HK$2,314,000).

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for loans and interest receivables that are
over 90 days past due and set the default criterion as
365 days past due based on good repayment records
for those loan borrowers having continuous business
with the Group. They are assessed individually based
on Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
and their probability of default and exposure of
default with reference to historical credit loss
experience, adjusted by current and forward-looking
factors.

Movements in the Group’s impairment loss
recognised of loans and interest receivables are as
follows:
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382.2

Balance at beginning of the year F#]4% #%

Impairment loss recognised, net i 58 Jok (i Ji5 48 15+ 4
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Balance at end of the year
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.2 B JELBG A% B H B K BUR (48)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
3822 Credit risk management and impairment 38.2.2 i B B £ PR e W AF 7F
assessment (Continued) 1 (75)

Loans and interest receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$3,950,000 (2022:
HK$1,957,000) were individually impaired. This
was related to five customers (2022: three customers)
for whom the directors are of the view that the
collection of this loans and interest receivables was
not probable.

Other financial assets

For other receivables, trust bank accounts and cash
and cash equivalents, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model application of HKFRS
9 based on 12 month ECL.

The credit risk on deposits and other receivables is
limited because the counterparties have no historical
default record and the directors expect that the
general economic conditions will not significantly
changed for the 12 months after the reporting date.

The credit risk on trust bank accounts and cash
and cash equivalents are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

3822 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)

Other financial assets (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal

credit rating

B SR

Low risk
1 Ja b
Watch list
B

Doubtful

ged 3
Loss
feitH

Write-off

i

Description

W

The counterparty has a low risk of default and

does not have any past-due amounts

o F I R BB - HAlf AT ]

R

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but

usually settle after due
fEB AR ZE B A%
MBRER

date

mm df,

fa K

A H R 2]

There have been significant increases in

credit risk since initial recognition through

information developed internally or external

resources

AR A A RSN A IR BT A ER > A
1 e A £ 5 5 S 1

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-

impaired

HRAREUS A B G OB (R R

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is

in service financing difficulty and the Group

has no realistic prospect of recovery

A SR B A B A B A A R

ASEBARTRFy FAE AT L B OB

38. & TR
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1 (#48)

oAt <2 i 7 (7))

A 45 W A R B
A ATAG B 48 LA BTH

Trade
receivables

HE e ek

Lifetime ECL — not credit-

impaired
Tr BT R SO R -
R B

Lifetime ECL — not credit-

impaired
F AT Bl -
R EBE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-

impaired

TEENTE (G Bl -
A B AR BR(E
Lifetime ECL - credit-

impaired
BT E Bl -
E# A EHA

Amount is written off

HiH 1 Bl

Other

financial assets/
other items
Hib R e/
HAbEH
12-month ECL

121 A B B 1
12-month ECL
121 A 5 B R

Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired

F AT Bk iR -
RELEAFERE
Lifetime ECL - credit-

impaired
T BT RE R -
B BE 5 B

Amount is written off

HisH 1 Bl

304

Annual Report 2023

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. &R TCH#)
38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 38.2 %5 A b 4 BE H BE K BUR (7E)
(Continued)

382.2 Credit risk management and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Other tinancial assets (Continued)
The tables below detail the major credit risk

exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal
credit credit 12-month or
Note  rating rating lifetime ECL

121 H sl 00
Mat MG ABEETESR  BNESER

Financial assets at amortised cost

38.2.2 {5 B B & PR K& Ik 1e 7F
1% (45)

H At fil & (#)

Jies 18
%E%E i 1 E 2 A5 B

3R A O T A
L RFAh F A SR ) 5 il

2022
B

A

(€Ol EEN L Tl Gross carrying amount

M AR i SR AR
HK$'000  HK$'000 [sieSUT.: eIl
(LD LSl BT BT

BB BT R 2 B
Loans and interest receivables 26 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 4,445 9,441
FE B H AR A {19 12 7 B SR
Watch list 12-month ECL 1,401 4,751
HRAE 12 {8 B ElE
Loss Credit-impaired 6,176 12,022 2314 16,506
i AR
Trust bank accounts 28 AA+ Low risk 12-month ECL 17,230 17,230 34,668 34,668
fFRESITIRF N 12 B SR
Cash and cash equivalents 28 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 27,586 27,586 42,325 42,325
B RS % EY A 12 i I AR
Deposits and other receivables 27 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 13,754 13,754 15,573 15,573
e E R A il il 12 A B SER
Trade receivables 25 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL 1,491 1491 1,195 1,195
~ Non-financial services business (provision matrix)
MR 3 — T 4 R 25 AN (W) FRBENEEEER
(R
Trade receivables 25 N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL 53,242 78,902
- Financial services business (not credit impaired)
HEIC I 3 - 4 R B S AN (-2 0 FRSENGEEE
(3 A5 B 1)
Loss Credit-impaired 1,250 54,492 - 78,902
it AR
Note: For trade receivables, other than financial services business, fifsE © B MEIEEZIN 5 (%
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS GRS ZEHAN) - A
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except £ [ B A s B
for debtors with credit-impaired, the Group determines the g 1 RIS 9 5E 1) i )
expected credit losses on these items by using a provision HiEE RN EE I E
matrix, grouped by past due status. WEEZ EEEME -
B LA A5 B (B 2
W R AN o A AR T
FH i SR BB A0 AY 485
i I i % S5 T H
HFE S Bl 1 -
B 2 4 i 3% A BR 23 W]
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

306

(Continued)

3822 Credit risk management and impairment

38. & TR

assessment (Continued)

Other financial assets (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers
in relation to food and beverage business, alcoholic beverage
distribution and miscellaneous business, and provision of children
education services, because these customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix within
lifetime ECL (not credit impaired).

Gross carrying amount

38.2 [W 5 LB A PE H BR K BUR (A7)

38.2.2 15 B il B £ PE R Wk A 77

1 (45
H At filh & (#E)
WERE - (A)

TR Ty 7 S e A 0 J o B ) —
W o R AR S A KR
HAL ] B 5 B N F s T
%55 R B T R % B RS 49
WS B R RE S - A
LA 52 f R R O R
Bl B BRSSO BORE
B BOMETEZERS DL KBRSl
HE M FPAL R F 2 -
T RO A A A 1E
L PR AR B AR R A A
JRE i S T ) 14 £ B LB 2
QI A5 B RAE)

R CR g )

Current (not past due)

Average Trade

loss rate receivables
SR FIE JEE Ve e 3k
HK$°000

#EH T

0% 1,491

e i 480
2022
. S

Average Trade
loss rate receivables
Rl EES JRE W R K
HK$’000
W T T
0% 1,195
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 38.2 W IR B 4 PR H R S BUK (48)
(Continued)
38.2.2 fe B I B BE R W AH T

382.2 Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (Continued)

Other financial assets (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
impairment loss of trade receivables is provided based on the
provision matrix.

38.2.3 Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework
for the management of the Group’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

1 (47
H At < Al B ()

MEE - ()

ik it s 4E 25 Y i B T 4 )
FUECRER - SR S S
It 2 AR 585 0 BRI A5/
T OGS 1 AR L 8 B AR A P
5 o A7 BG40 T 7 0 i A LG
AR > LARER A B4 R
BT EH o

PRE = F SR
A= B -
S0 444 - B M B
WAL -

38.2.3 i B & & B B PR

I Hw ORI B E & R
B B 2 A AR H
B 8 B AR I A A
I R E & X
BEeBEHTREL F
iR g
}E*Eﬁﬂ °

7 55 ] 1 BOK 2y E ) B
KB AEARE E S
ok o BRI AE SRR T 2
B 4 ol 45 T 2 0 0 %
RIAAEH EEHK -

B ol B AT L
—z——pgg 307



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — % — =4 = H =1 —H IF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38, SRLTHG
38.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies 38.2 W R B 4 PR H AR S BUK (48)

(Continued)

38.2.3 Liquidity risk management (Continued) 38.2.3 I By & <2 B P (FE)
The following table details, the maturity profile of the T R AL R
Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting W R i35 & 49 R Bl B3k
period, based on the contractual undiscounted HzZ & @A fE A
payments. G e

Over 1year  Over 2 years Total
On demand but not but not contractual Total

Effective or less than more than more than  undiscounted carrying

interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amounts

HERE  @BUEHR  EEENR  BGHRNHR

RS D1 L 5 BEATE W 48 £
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000
T T W T W T T

At 31 December 2023 REFZ=412A
=t-H
Non-derivative financial FitERRA R
liabilities
Trade and other payables TE TR S AR it 508 NA
N i 41,071 = = 41,071 41,071
Other borrowing Kb 10% 1,003 10,750 - 11,753 10,052
Lease liabilities HEAR 5.63% = 8.73% 27,673 20,567 6,571 54811 51,275
69,747 31,317 6,571 107,635 102,398
——— e e e E——
At 31 December 2022 REZBZ2ETCA
=t—H
Non-derivative financial FE AR
liabilities
Trade and other payables RERTHR S S ff 508 N/A
A 57,543 - - 57,543 57,543
Other borrowing Hibfg e 1% 22,019 - - 22,019 20,054
Lease liabilities AR 2.75% = 7.83% 19,132 10,043 3,691 32,866 31,030
98,694 10,043 3,691 112,428 108,627

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments 383 £t LH2 A AEARE

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purpose. The directors
of the Company determine the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For instruments
with significant unobservable inputs under Level 3, the
Group engages independent qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors work closely with the
independent qualified valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Fair value hierarchy

Financial assets included in Level 1 #1755 — @Rk 2 &/l E

Financial assets at FVTPL YN R fEEFE AR 5 2 £l
& E

Financial assets included in level 2 €154 55— JB K 2 &/l EE

Financial assets at FVTOCI ¥ 05 SR AB AR T A HoAth 4> T i
T2 A A

Financial assets included in Level 3 #1750 56 = @Rk 2 &/l E i

Financial assets at FVTPL N EEFE A5 2 4l
HE

A B BT > AHEE
#8734 T H DL fofE (E R
B o ARl E SR A0
AR SR B Al (5 0 B g
AfH -

A REAG 2 SUAB (IR > ASSE B 2
] e AT B T R o B
JRHE = @R IA N BA R A
Bl AR TR > AREE
T2 WIS B A (EL AT AEE AT
{H o 35 =5 B 575 AR Al (e T
WS AR LUB T 2 A E S K
LN eV i

BN IRAE e it 4 4 AL (A 2 2
Y R 2 i AL 2 A L

LB EE R

2023 2022

- S —E T

—

HKS$’000 HKS$’000
W T ki

10,007 20,833
4,362 73
87 1,027

There was no transfer for the year ended 31 December
2023. During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
were transfers between Level 1 and 3.

gr-F-_=#+"HA=+—
H b4 JESG S e - 2 =%
= —asgp = 5 =5F—[H lezs
B B — R =Bk MW
B o

B R VA LA
—z——pgg 309



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — % — =41 H =+—H ILF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

The details of movements in fair value measurements in
Level 3 are as follows:

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

38. & TR

383 &Rl THZ A RMBEMAEE = ()

At beginning of the year A
Change in fair value recognised in A 4

profit or loss (included in change

in fair value of financial assets at B 2 s FUAE (A )
FVTPL)

Transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 B a2
(Note (a)) (W&@)

At end of the year AR

B 4 e w8 2 8 Fu B (E A )
(& A e A (A R A R i < il

— @&k

B A REER R

FEIEAR -

BEIFHA AR 7 2 BR

2023 2022
- Y . S

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
FVTPL FVTPL
e Rl AR A A E
At AR Z At A Z
< il 4 Pl
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BT
1,027 1,711

(940) (108)

- (576)
87 1,027

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) The transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 was due to the resumption of
share trading of Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings Limited on 25 July
2022.

(b)  The delisted shares are included in the equity securities classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31
December 2023 and 2022. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfer into and transfer out of Level 3 as at the date of event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There was no change in valuation techniques during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The directors believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
techniques, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes
in fair values, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most
appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

38. & TR

383 &Rl THZ A RMEMEE = ()

B=EH AR T 7 2 B

(#H

MEGE -

@ HABZBHMBEE—ERT
P S A B K IR AT PR
GG~ = B =
+ 6 AR -

b —"FoEFERF__F4Z
H=EZ+—H > BRMZ BB A
IR RS Al s SR R i
R RS o M
B 7 i S BORS 2 S R aE
DU R A ) E R AR = AR
A R, o

NEBE_Z-=F+-"A=+
— H IR - G {E 7 s
g o WERBAMETEREZ
st A REE GEA LG W
R 2R) B AH BH 2 o8 (E 5 B)
(FF A 45 & 18 25 S Ho A 2 T i
R BAHE > JRAEHELK
B E 2 EE -

B ol B AT L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6 W 85 i 3 B E (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # 2.

B H=F—HIFEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

38.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

38. & TR

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

Below is a summary of relationship of unobservable

input(s) to fair value, significant unobservable inputs to

the valuation of financial instruments together with a

quantitative analysis as at 31 December 2023:

Financial assets

EHEE

Unlisted equity securities -
approximately
HK$87,000
(2022: HKS1,027,000)

F LA -
At ER7 000 7T
(CER- A
T 11,027,0007C)

Valuation
technique

319k
Market Approach

il

Relationship of
unobservable
input(s)

to fair value

R LNt
S S 2 B R

Higher the change in
share price, higher
the fair value and
vice versa

LN
A EERR
K2R

Significant
unobservable
Input(s)
BRATHE
LNt
Change in share
price of
comparable

companies
since last
trading date

M AR B H A
AHBRFZ
BEES

383 &Rl THZ A RMBEMEE = ()

B=EHR A T 7 2 B

(#

W_E ST ZH =+ —
H » 7N a] i A Bk B i
BEEZBME - & TEMAEZ
RO ] B A ian A B ]
BONZMEMT

Range/  Sensitivity of fair value
amount  to the input(s)
HABBARBE
Wl W 2R
2297%t0-22.57% 5% increase (decrease) in
(2022: -0.27%to share price of
0.27%)  comparable companies
would result in increase
(decrease) in fair
value of approximately
HK$2,000 (2022:
HK$2,000)
DI%E05%  THBAERERD
CEZZE: ()&
07%%021%)  AREEENGED
#2000
(CE-A:
#82,00070)

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T H )

38.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

383 &Rl THZ A RMEMEE = ()

(Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are carried at other than fair value

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of the
Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting

The disclosures set out in the tables below include
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject
to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement
made between the Group and HKSCC, the Group has a
legally enforceable right to set off the money obligations
receivable and payable with HKSCC on the same
settlement date and the Group intends to settle on a net
basis. In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off the trade receivable from and payables to cash
clients that are due to be settled on the same date and the
Group intends to settle these balances on a net basis.

#% 5 A [ H UL Sb it 4 2 <2 i
R s i A 2 24 AL A

D S AN SR W B A R
7 o A R 2 el
B B 2 R T (i BRUHC A — % —
ZERCFEFT A=
— H 2z~ o fE(E 48 oK 2%

iE

\

sk Y L L 1 2 B

AR FTH L R A 3 RT
YUAT R A 22 PR OB h
Jir KR 2 < 1l e I 4l B

==
= o

HRPEAS G [ S A v 2 B8 2 AR
2 R A A e o A
BT 15 AT R R BT REA
DATE AR 465 0 B i 46 A
SRR R AT B R BT > A
EE BRI R AL A o I
b - AERBA 5TE T o AT
REFITA (] F 45 8 B A e 465 KA
B BB 50 5 0 21 0 RSO R B
JEAT MR - 17T A% 2 B 45 1 A
2SS CRTE S

B ol B AT L
“z——ppg 313



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — % — =4 = H =1 —H IF ¥

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. & T HG)

38.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

383 &Rl THZ A RMBEMAEE = ()

(Continued)
Financial assets and financial liabilities offsetting <2 L [ 15 8 (A
(Continued)
Gross Related amounts
amounts of Net not offset in the consolidated
recognised  amounts of statement of financial position
financial ~ financial R &5 B B IR DL R B 2
assets assets R
(liabilities)  (liabilities)
Gross setoff  presented
amounts of in the in the
recognised consolidated consolidated
financial statement of ~statement of
assets financial financial ~ Financial  Collateral
(liabilities) position position  instruments received  Net amount
IS
WREN RS0
&+ e WRERN
cHEE &Y 1 252
(B  &HEE €]
E (A A SRR 1A L
HK$°000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$°000  HK$000  HK$000
T kW wRTx  BWTx #%Tx #WTx
2023 CERCCE
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables from clearing KA HI KB EEF 2
house and cash clients Al 2,186 - 2,186 - - 2,186
Financial liabilities SHARK
Trade payables to clearing house 455t kA &% F 2 JE
and cash clients ik (16,750) - (16750 - - (16750
2022 e S
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables from clearing KA HI RHEEF £
house and cash clients Al 2,534 (1481) 1,053 - - 1,033
Financial liabilities SHAE
Trade payables to clearing house [ 455 it R &% F 2 J
and cash clients ek (33,088) 1481 (31,607) - - (31607)

3 1 4 Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

39. HEMEA N

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Disposal of Amber Glory

On 14 January 2022, City Ally Holdings Limited (“City
Ally”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with an
individual (“Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Purchaser
agreed to purchase, and City Ally agreed to sell, (i) the Sale
Share, representing the entire issued share capital of Amber
Glory, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands
with limited liability; and (ii) the Sale Loan, representing
all the shareholder’s loan owning by the Amber Glory,
at an aggregate consideration of S$5,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$29,000). The Purchaser is a director
of a subsidiary of Amber Glory and a director of a joint
venture of the Group.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 January 2022.

(a)

ivR=Fit)

AR ZFE—H+MA
PN/NNEI R < g ol RN R
A PR &) (TR ) B — 44 A\
T (TEFDF L EE Wk > 58
I o B[R] A S R
HEGFERG > AHE(—
] 7 0 Jo i 2 B IS i 1 BT 2
HRRA ) 2B EBEITRA
KGi)fFFHERER > AIBE X
2 A BORER - BARER
5,000 735 o CRF & 1A 4 i B
29,00070) ° = 5 4y FHE — ]
W JE A i 2 S R AR SR [ — ]
AELEZESE -

HE— R EUR A A R B A A
TR AT ERAE .

B A 2
SRR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. i 2\ ()

(b) Disposal of Talent Ford Group Limited (‘“Talent Ford”) (b) i Talent Ford Group

and its subsidiary Limited ([ Talent Ford]) & H
Fit & 2 ]

On 10 March 2023, City Ally Holdings Limited (“City MN_FE_=F=H+HH ARAZ
Ally”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, A B A ) W ke IR A PR
as seller, and a company incorporated in Hong Kong with al (TR ) (FE B & ) B — A
limited liability, an independent third party as purchaser WML ARAR (55— 2%
completed the disposal by City Ally of its 100% equity SR =07 (FE 25 E J5)) 98 1 el T O
interest in Talent Ford and its subsidiary to the purchaser, a] ' 77 th 8 H A Talent Ford A H: ff
at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$1,300,000. The J& A AR 100% i HE > 48 B4 A0ME
assets, liabilities and gain on disposal of Talent Ford and £ U5 %:1,300,0007T © A & H T
its subsidiary as at the date of disposal are as follows: th & Talent Ford & H. [ &~ 7l 0 &

i~ BRI

HK$°000

BT
Property, plant and equipment E BN Y& ] 984
Total net assets & AR 984
Gain arising on disposal LRy &
Consideration A8 1,300
Less: Net assets disposed W EHEEEFE (984)
Gain on disposal B U A 316

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. HEMEAE ()

(¢) Disposal of Surplus Jade International Limited ¢ HBEHESurplus Jade
(“‘Surplus Jade”) and its subsidiary International Limited
([Surplus Jadel) K H &

YA |
On 17 March 2023, City Ally Holdings Limited (“City R-F_=H=H+HLEH K
Ally”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, N 2 A B E
as seller, and a company incorporated in Hong Kong with P A PR m) (TR ) (fE & &
limited liability, an independent third party as purchaser 75) B — 52 % 7 v SR L 2
completed the disposal by City Ally of its 100% equity BBRA (B — B WAL =07
interest in Surplus Jade and its subsidiary to the purchaser, (FE 2 5 7)) 58 B B 3 1)
at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$450,000. The 77 B it Surplus Jade 5 FLff
assets, liabilities and gain on disposal of Surplus Jade and J& AT 100% BEHE > J8 81 4
its subsidiary as at the date of disposal are as follows: A £ # % 450,0000T i

B HH > 1% Surplus Jade 2 H:
BB s WA A - AR Kl as

LU

HK$’000

W T
Property, plant and equipment Yy ~ W Kk -
Total net assets & HE AR -
Gain arising on disposal LRy &
Consideration RAE 450
Less: Net assets disposed W O E AR -
Gain on disposal B U A 450

B ol B AT L
z——ppy 317



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Pas =7
&5 5 W55 k3K B RE (48]
For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F
39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. RS A E ()
(d) Disposal of Circle Trend Group Limited (“Circle (d HHECircle Trend Group

318

Trend’’) and its subsidiary

On 30 March 2023, City Ally Holdings Limited (“City
Ally”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as seller, and a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability, an independent third party as purchaser
completed the disposal by City Ally of its 100% equity
interest in Circle Trend and its subsidiary to the purchaser,
at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$925,000. The
assets, liabilities and gain on disposal of Circle Trend and
its subsidiary as at the date of disposal are as follows:

Limited ([ Circle Trendl) % ¥
Bt & 2 Wl

W_B_=HE=ZA=1+H K
N T 2 A A B S R
FER A BR2S A (TBE k) (fE B
T5) Bl — A B B HE 5E o
ZHRAF (B— B BILE =
T (FE £ B 7)) 56 B i B 3 e
B 7 8 H A Circle Trend M H:
B JB8 2 7] B9 100% i fE > 4R
& 018 A # %5 925,0000C © i
A H ] > 1 Circle Trend M
HEHE A R EE - BRI
HWINTF :

HK$’000

BTt
Property, plant and equipment S ERN & ] 518
Total net assets B TR H AR 518
Gain arising on disposal &
Consideration AE 925
Less: Net assets disposed W C A TR (518)
Gain on disposal B U A 407

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

39. i 2§ ()

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(e)

Partial disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control

On 4 April 2023, Happy Laughter International Limited
(“Happy Laughter”), an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as seller, and a non-controlling
shareholder as purchaser completed the disposal by
Happy Laughter of its 15.9% equity interest in Wealthy
Leader limited to the purchaser, at an aggregate cash
consideration of approximately HK$3,000. The transaction
was completed in April and the consideration was received
during the year ended 31 December 2023. Wealthy
Leader Limited remains as a subsidiary of the Group
after the completion of the transaction, The effect of the
partial disposal attributable to Wealthy Leader Limited’s
shareholders is summarised as follows:

(e)

FR Ay Hh B D B 2 ] 2 T R
AR K P e

RZFZ=AEPUHAMHE o AR
H) 2 [H 42 2 E I B A "] Happy
Laughter International Limited
([Happy Laughter] > /E /4 &
Tr) B — JFHE R R (B H
77) 5¢ . i Happy Laughter[d]
R HE&ERARAA5.9%
It - Bl SR A B I
3,0007C © JETHA 5 E R H A
ST WERERE —F =
T A=+ H IR RAR
H o ERAARAFRMERIARZY)
SEIARATY J A S5 B8] B g 2 ]
8 7 A IR A R AL TR
BB

2023

— s —
A~ o

.

HK$’000
T

Consideration from non-controlling interest
Less: carrying amount of non-controlling interest

A I R i 2 AU
B+ FE A IR L R T (1 B P

net liabilities disposal of & B R (27)
Gain on disposal debited to accumulated losses B Uk FEA R ETER 30

B A 2
SRR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — % — =4 = H =1 —H IF ¥

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 40. A B E AR 2 A IR

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TERFIIALEE AT EL
BN  METRHELZA
B 5 A 0 ) 7 A 2 R B IR A

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flow were, or future cash

flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of SEHGEBRERERSBZ B B0
cash flows from financing activities. BECRRBL BT E °

Other Lease
borrowing liabilities Total
el £ £ MR it
(Note 30) (Note 32)
(FE30) (W iE32)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BRI BT
As at 1 January 2022 B_F__HF—-H—H 20,061 38,952 59,013
Changes from financing cash flows: MER ST EEE)
Repayment of lease liabilities HRMEa K - (25,369) (25,369)
Other changes: HAth 52 ) -
COVID-19-rent concessions received L WS 5 R 2 A R AR
WA - (1,904) (1,904)
New leases entered ER L HHE - 23,295 23,295
Early termination of lease A& EHE - (3,496) (3,496)
Disposal of a subsidiary group B B 4 - (450) (450)
Exchange adjustments B 4, o - 2 2
Interest expenses B % 1,665 2,013 3,678
Interest paid EAFLE (1,672) (2,013) (3,685)
At 31 December 2022 and QU S oy Y
1 January 2023 N il £ G S
—H—H 20,054 31,030 51,084
Changes from financing cash flows: MBS EES) -
Repayment of lease liabilities ERMEA R - (24,530) (24,530)
Proceeds from other borrowing oA i B P 508 10,000 - 10,000
Repayment of other borrowing R H M & (20,000) - (20,000)
Other changes: HAbsE
New leases entered CR L HHE - 44,775 44,775
Interest expenses FlEB % 1,296 2,813 4,109
Interest paid ERFLE (1,298) (2,813) @,111)
At 31 December 2023 RoE =4
+-A=+—H 10,052 51,275 61,327

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f o B 5 e e i

T (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following transactions with related

(a)

41.

BRezE& e
BRH AN o AR B A AR A B B O

I5H Wi U5 52 5

S5 R

LAy 32 77 e 43¢

parties during the year: ETZZ T -
Transactions with related parties B PR 05 28 5
2023 2022
—E2 0= TR
Related party Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$’000
IH i 5 2o tE BT T T
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul Commission income from (1) 4 -
(Director) securities dealing
SRS GESR) FHEZ e
Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Director) Commission income from (1) 8 1
securities dealing
T e () W2 HE A B A
Mr. Ng Ting Kit Commission income from 1) 7 3
(Shareholder) and his close securities dealing
family members
RIS (R B BFHEZ WA
Companies controlled by Commission income from (1) 2 16
Mr. Ng Ting Kit securities dealing
(Shareholder) and wHEE 2 HERA
his close family member Interest income from (i) - 5
RIS (BOR) R H A securities dealing
PRI Z A H] W2 EHE A B
Mr. Chan Chi Fung (Director) Commission income from 6) 8 87
and his close family securities dealing
members
PR AR 8 5 A GE ) S =l FHEZMERA
Notes: B EE
(i)  The commission income from securities dealing was calculated at i HEHEEHEZMESERAERT

rates ranged from 0.03% to 0.25%.

(i)  The interest income from securities dealing was based on the rates
which substantially in line with those normally received by the

Group from third parties.

0.03%%20.25%2 B RF1E -

Gi) HFEEZAERATIRE K
ST A5 ] ) 565 =05 — Mok
ULE- &S el
B 2 < i B A PR 24 )

SR SRR
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f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

Included in the trade receivables and payables arising from
the ordinary course of business of the financial services
business are amounts due from/(to) certain related parties,
the details of which are as follows:

41.

oA Wi 5 52 % ()

(b)

Related party Nature of account

I# 6k i PO

Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul Cash account
(Director) HerFn

SRS A () Margin account

Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Director)
SR SR ()

Mr. Ng Ting Kit (Shareholder)
and his close family members

SRR A (D) S H

Companies controlled by Mr. Ng
Ting Kit (Shareholder)
and his close family members
SRR () S H
Pl 2 A

Mr. Chan Chi Fung (Director)
and his close family members

BRS S (B ) S

RESF O

Cash account
BEFn
Margin account
ReE&F 0

Cash account
BEFn
Margin account
ReE&F 0

Cash account
BEFn
Margin account
ReE&F 0

Cash account
BEFO
Margin account
ReE&F 0

5L B 0B 5 2 A i 1 4 B

wE AT 4 R 5 S5 Y — i 36
B 7 AR 2 EWSOHR 3R e e
KRR > A HEN (BEAD) % T
BRI T 2 AOH > REIEAR

2023 2022
—2—= —E

HKS$°000 HKS$’000
T T T
(14) (18)

(21) (61)

C)] (45)

37) (37

(550) (255)

@) (N

(52) (131)

@) (N

43) (131)

12) (12)

The outstanding balances of cash accounts above represent
the net balance of trading accounts at the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fo 3 YA 905 it o B i ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 41. BB T2 5 (48)
(¢) Compensation of key management personnel (¢ FEEBFHBALZME
The remuneration of key management during the year was AAETE > A TG 2 H AN
as follows: T

2023 2022

= —ge—=

.

HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T T

Salaries, allowances and benefit e W REYAER

in kind 4,419 4,647

Contributions to retirement benefit 4 PR 1t # {2k 5
schemes 79 59
Equity-settled share-based expense AL RE A5 TR B = - 223
Discretionary bonus Mt AL AL = 247
4,498 5,176

B ol B AT L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f 7 WA 5 H  WE aE (3)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F
42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  42. A% &) B4R It 36 % 5k i 52 Bl
COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

7% 2 W) B 551K Dt e

Statement of financial position of the Company

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
¥ T BT
Non-current asset FERMBE E
Investments in subsidiaries TS A F R E 1,557 1,557
Current assets TENE E
Deposits, prepayments and other Fie gy~ TEATFOHE B H A e
receivables WK IR 549 544
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE Wiz Bf JB 2 ) A 121,806 129,129
Cash and cash equivalents Bl e B S EY) 208 6,409
122,563 136,082
Current liabilities T UK
Amounts due to subsidiaries JREASS BT g 2 ] T 31,566 60,659
Loan from a subsidiary i g 2 7] B 12,000 -
Other payables and accruals JH At B A R I % P 2 1,454 1,582
45,020 62,241
Net current assets i B A 77,543 73,841
Non-current liabilities I B £ 0%
Employee benefit obligations g B A A AT 19 -
19 -
Net assets & EFE 79,081 75,398
Capital and reserves A B fit
Share capital BeA 7,529 7,529
Reserves fit 71,552 67,869
Total equity HE £ 28 75 79,081 75,398

ARAF ZMBEIRRRE R —F 0
FEZH AT AEEE e R

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

22 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

RETUHE - Iy oI EFAREE -

Director Director
0 #HH
Mr. Ng Man Chun Paul Mr. Ng Ting Ho
R REW L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

f o B 5 e e W e (7)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % — 3 — =4 = H =+—HIFF ¥

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42, A W AR O 3% I Gk i 5 ) (4E)
COMPANY AND RESERVE MOVEMENT (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserve A2 ) il 1 52 B)

Share
Share  Contributed Capital options Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total

Refrial  MARE  EARE WRERG RS it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$°000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
#HTr  #WTx  #WTx  #%Tx #%Txn #WTx

Balance at | January 2022 REFZZE-A—HZ
s 199,679 153,551 11317 (359,806) 70,741

Loss and total comprehensive %4 fi 1 [ 2 i 5

expense for the year EE - - - - (16,098) (16,098)
Recognition of equity settled  FERR A A4 8 M 3

share-based payments - - - 550 - 550
Issue of shares upon exercise 17 L HEAZ 317/

of share options 2,310 - - (550) - 1,760
[ssue of placing shares BATR R 11,294 - - - - 11,294
Transaction cost related to ST AR5

issue of shares AR (378) - - - - (378)
Balance at 31 December REFZZHEFZNA

2022 and | January 2023 “t-HRCECE

—H—HZ 212,905 153,551 71,317 - (375904) 67,869

Profit and total comprehensive 44 I A & 2 U 6

income for the year Rk = = = = 3,683 3,683

Balance at 31 December 2023 R -F =44
ERR P W5 1B 7130 oGnuy 715

Contingent liabilities A AR

As of 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has issued a BE_E SR CF T
corporate guarantee in respect of other borrowing made by an A=+—0» XA wH— B85
independent third party to a subsidiary. The fair value of the =77 o) — ] A 2 w45 i Y At £
guarantee has not been provided for in the Company’s financial BB AFWER - HRA LN AHEE
statements as the directors of the Company consider the amount R TV 4 BRI AN E K > I AR
involved to be insignificant. A7 ) Y A S R wH AR R IR Y

NRMEE -

B ol B AT L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

WA

S B ¥t % Wk (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — 2 — =4 = H =+ —H I F

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

326

The fair value of listed equity securities are determined
based on the quoted market closing price available on the
Main Board and GEM of the Stock Exchange at the end of
the reporting period.

As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the realised gain and unrealised losses on
financial assets at FVTPL from changes in fair value on
financial assets at FVTPL held as at 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately HK$44,000 and HK$1,090,000
respectively.

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
Annual Report 2023

43.

ek W12 2R

(a)

A #E I 2  RAEE TS R
o R gk 2 B E AR K
GEM FT B A5 2 v i 1l 355 Wi i
R E

R FZSE AR B I R
Hig > =+ _H=
T— H¥A Z A REEFA
B2 SREE N R EAEE)
BRI A NMEEFARGZ £
Pl A O B A B oA 5 B s
555 Rl 7% %995 44,000 0T 12 #5
#1,090,0007C °



Five-year Financial Summary

e 4F T R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # £ — &~ =4+ H =+ —H ILF#
1.1.2023 to 1.1.2022 to 1.1.2021 to 1.1.2020 to 1.1.2019 to
31.12.2023 31.12.2022 31 12.2021 31 12. 2020 31.12.2019
ik —H—H% *H Hz *H Hi —H—H%
:?::E —-:’—- g __\,___‘,ﬂi ZT*jLﬁ
+ZA=t—A +ZA=+—HF +ZA=t—H +ZA=1—H
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
L S T T T T T T
Results S|
Revenue A
Continuing operations T 156,940 141,903 164,764 127,719 94,597
Discontinued operation DR FREES - - 12,721 10,528 17,547
156,940 141,903 177,485 138,247 112,144
Loss from operations pit-e4 4 ¢
Continuing operations HEREER (39,770) (16,345) (6.818) (9.404) (43.263)
Discontinued operation REIIS -2 - (178) (2469) (319) (12,489)
(39,770) (16,523) (9,287) 9,723) (55,752)
Finance costs BB A
Continuing operations BEREER (@,111) (3,681) (3918) (3,665) (1.977)
Discontinued operation RS E-E3 = - (132) (131) (49)
(4,111) (3,681) (4,050) (3,796) (2,026)
Gain/(loss) on deconsolidation of BRI
subsidiaries WA R 2
g/ (et
Continuing operations R i - - . - -
Discontinued operation E' B - 1,306 - (2,400) -
= 1,306 - (2,400) -
Assets impairments BREBE
Continuing operations TR (2,370) - (7,171) (11,849) (42,735)
Discontinued operation E& LB = - - - (4,868)
(2,370) - (1171) (11,849) (47,603)
(Loss)/profit before tax FrBLa (k) /i
Continuing operations FHERAER (46,251) (20,026) (17.907) (24918) (87.975)
Discontinued operation B4R I 4 = 1,128 (2,601) (2,850) (17,406)
(46,251) (18,898) (20,508) (27,768) (105,381)
B 2 s B B2 )
“e w327



Five-year Financial Summary (Continued)

A A T R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # % & =4 H = —HIFF&

112023 to 112022 to 112021 to 112020 to 1.1.2019to
31122003 31.122022 31 12.2021 31 122020 31.12.2019
—H—HZ *H Hz #H Hﬁi —H—HZ%
B S i S E __;,__\,ﬁi :?gj'hﬁ
+ZA=Z+—H +ZH=+—H +ZA=+—H +ZA=1+—H
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
T T BT T T T
Income tax (credit)/expense BB (%) /B X
Continuing operations FHEREER 2 (69) (485) (757) (132)
Discontinued operation DREREER o - - - -
20 (69) (485) (757) (132)
(Loss)/profit for the year A (ER) /A
Continuing operations FHEREER (46,231) (20,095) (18392) (25,675) (88,107)
Discontinued operation BRI £ S 1,128 (2,601) (2.850) (17,406)
(46,231) (18.967) (20,993) (28,525) (105,513)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T AL HELS
(58 /i -
Owners of the Company LYNGIE ZiDN
Continuing operations FHEREER (45,308) (19.972) (17.957) (25,647) (88,084)
Discontinued operation BRI T - 1,128 (2,601) (2,806) (16,127)
(45,308) (18,844) (20,558) (28453) (104,211)
Non-controlling interests ¥ W’i Hesi
Continuing operations Pigam s LK (923) (123) (435) (28) (23)
Discontinued operation CHEREER - - - (44) (1,279
(923) (123) (435) ) (1302)
31122023 31.122022 31 122021 31 122020 31.12.2019
TZA=+—H +ZA Jr A +ZA Jr H +ZA=1—H
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000
W T T T T T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES B R AR
Total assets BEE 195,563 248,381 256,547 243,024 207,226
Total liabilities Baf (113,136) (119,010) (122,652) (132,875) (68,687)
82427 129371 133,895 110,149 138,539
Equity attributable to TR, G
Owners of the Company RNFIHAN 82,552 128,546 132,947 108,766 136,726
Non-controlling interests e hE s (125) 825 948 1,383 1813
82427 129371 133,895 110,149 138,539

China Demeter Financial Investments Limited
3 2 8 Annual Report 2023



g D@%é\%ﬂi%fa’ﬁ%'ﬁ é]
’ China Demeter Financial Investments Limited



	Contents
	目錄
	Corporate Information
	公司資料
	Chairman’s Statement
	主席報告書
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	管理層討論及分析
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	環境、社會及管治報告
	Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
	董事及高級管理人員簡介
	Corporate Governance Report
	企業管治報告
	Directors’ Report
	董事會報告
	Independent Auditors’ Report
	獨立核數師報告
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	綜合財務狀況表
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	綜合權益變動表
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	綜合現金流量表
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	綜合財務報表附註
	Five-year Financial Summary
	五年財務摘要



